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MEETING OBJECTIVES
To determine if agencies report forward-looking information adequately (as envisioned by
SFFAS 15, par. 3) and, whether, risk and uncertainty are appropriately discussed.
BRIEFING MATERIAL
The briefing material includes this memorandum and the following:
Attachment 1: 2017 MD&A Forward Looking Sections
Appendix A:

Risk Assumed – Phase II: Project History and Milestones

Appendix B: Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales [ICAEW]
Reporting Business Risks: Meeting Expectations, 2011
Appendix C: Task Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosures [TCFD ] Final
Report: Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures,
June 2017
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BACKGROUND
The Risk Reporting project was last presented to the Board at the August 2018 meeting.
To better reflect the objectives, the risk assumed - phase II project was renamed to the
risk reporting project.
The Board reviewed the measurement uncertainty framework it had requested at the
October 2017 meeting. Because measurement uncertainty affects a number of estimates
throughout the financial statements, the Board revisited the status of the risk assumed
project. Members noted that the focus on risk assumed improved decisions in a number of
projects despite the challenge of identifying specific risk measures as implied by the term
“risk assumed.”
Members agreed that the risk assumed project should continue but is not likely to result in
a specific measure of “risk assumed.” To avoid this expectation, the Board decided to
change the project name to “risk reporting.” Members directed staff to work with the project
leads of the reporting model phase I: MD&A and stewardship investments improvements
project and the note disclosures project. Through this collaboration, the risk reporting
project could address the principles needed for reporting financial and non-financial risks
as well as the principles needed to reveal measurement uncertainty.

Overview
This memo will review reporting under the current Statement of Federal Financial
Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 15, Management’s Discussions and Analysis (MD&A)
par. 3. This review will help the Board determine if agencies are reporting forward-looking
MD&A information as envisioned by SFFAS15, par. 3; and whether risk and uncertainty
are being appropriately discussed.
To facilitate this discussion, staff A) presents SFFAS 15, par. 3, B) reviews the 24 CFO
Act agencies’ 2017 forward-looking information (Attachment 1), and C) reviews other risk
reporting models.
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A. SFFAS 15, par. 3 states:
MD&A should include forward-looking information regarding the possible future
effects of the most important existing, currently-known demands, risks,
uncertainties, events, conditions and trends.
MD&A may also include forward-looking information about the possible effects of
anticipated future demands, events, conditions, and trends.Footnote3 Forward- looking
information may comprise a separate section of MD&A or may be incorporated with
the sections listed above.2
Footnote 3

The word “anticipated” is used in a broad, generic sense in this
document. In this context the term may encompass both “probable” losses
arising from events that have occurred, which should be recognized on the
face of the basic or “principal” financial statements, as well as “reasonably
possible” losses arising from events that have occurred, which should be
disclosed in notes to those statements.
“Anticipated” may include the effects of future events that are deemed
probable, for which a financial forecast would be appropriate. The term may
also encompass hypothetical future trends or events that are not necessarily
deemed probable, for which financial projections may be appropriate.
Such information about the possible effects of anticipated future demands,
events, conditions and trends, if presented, should include the term or label
“projected” or “projection,” and the key hypothetical underlying assumptions
should be explained. As with other information presented in MD&A, no
examination of this information by the auditor is now routinely included
within the scope of an audit of a federal entity’s financial statements;
however, preparers and auditors may find useful background information in
the AICPA’s Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements Nos. 1
and 4, codified as section 200, “Financial Forecasts and Projections,” of the
AICPA’s Codification of Statements on Standards for Attestation
Engagements.
STAFF NOTE: the highlighted areas are to point out that SFFAS 15, par. 3 does not
explicitly state financial effects, only “possible future effects.”

2

SFFAS 15, Par. 2 states: MD&A should contain sections that address the entity’s: mission and
organizational structure; performance goals, objectives, and results; financial statements; and systems,
controls, and legal compliance.
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B. REVIEW 24 CFO ACT AGENCIES’ 2017 FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
Staff reviewed the 24 CFO Act agencies’ 2017 MD&As by searching specifically for
forward-looking information.
Because the risk assumed project is now the risk reporting project, staff looked for
forward-looking information about currently known risks and uncertainties and discussions
about possible future effects on operations believing that is what is envisioned for SFFAS
15, par. 3.
Below are examples from four agencies that staff believes most closely aligned
with the intent of SFFAS 15, par. 3. These agencies focused on possible future
effects from known and anticipated risks and uncertainties.
USDA
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EDUCATION
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JUSTICE

NRC

Other agencies presented good discussions that combined requirements from
standards SFFAS 15, par. 3 and SFFAS 15, par. 4.

Below are examples of these discussions.
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HHS

HUD
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LABOR

The 2018 agency financial reports (AFR) became available after staff began research for
this meeting.
While we did not add them to Attachment 1, we have included a comparison for the
Veterans Administration (VA) between 2017 and 2018 to show members how
forward-looking information is evolving.
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VA 2017
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VA 2018
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While agencies are meeting the requirements of the current SFFAS 15, par 3, most
agencies, as illustrated above, only provide a discussion of strategic and operating
performance goals and the short-term actions taken to address them. There is little
discussion of possible future financial effects as they relate to risks and uncertainties.
Staff believes this is because SFFAS 15, par. 3 only implies a discussion on a financial
impact in the footnote 3 about the possible effects of “anticipated” future demands. This
lack of clarity does not provide adequate requirements to prompt agencies to report on
risks and uncertainties that have possible financial effects in the future.
Staff wants to remind the Board that at the April and August 2018 MD&A Board
discussions members emphasized that MD&A should focus more on financial effects and
less on strategic and performance goals. As a result, staff researched other reporting
models to understand how they were reporting the financial effects of financial and nonfinancial risks and uncertainties.

C. REVIEW of OTHER RISK REPORTING MODELS
Risk reporting has been a big concern since the financial crisis of 2007/2008.
As a result, organizations like the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales
(ICAEW) and the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) have
conducted studies and provided reports on risk reporting. [See Appendix A and B]
Appendix 1, Requirements for Risk Disclosures of the ICAEW report reviews risk
reporting requirements for different countries. Page 47 identifies the SEC risk
requirements for the US.
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Staff supports a requirement such as the SEC 10-K Risk Factors section. As noted
in the following two examples, both the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) and Apple
explain specific risk factors that could, directly or indirectly, cause actual financial
condition and operating results to vary materially from the past, or from anticipated future,
financial condition and operating causes.
In addition to the Risk Factor section, SEC also requires the following forward looking
information in MD&A,

The following are excellent risk reporting examples that follow SEC risk
requirements. Staff chose TVA as one example because it is a government entity that
must file SEC reports. We also chose Apple, since most are familiar with their products.
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In addition to the SEC risk reporting requirements, the Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Board (PSAB) just finished collecting comments on their Statement of
Concepts: A Revised Conceptual Framework for the Canadian Public Sector
published in May 2018.

From the above examples, it is clear that SEC is explicit in requirements to present
the financial effect of risks and uncertainties. PSAB is also explicit in expectations
about how risks and uncertainties tie to financial position and results. While there are no
specific financial projections, except for fines already identified for a Nuclear incident,
both TVA and Apple explain what the risk is and whether or how the financial position and
results of operations may be impacted.
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STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS
Staff recommends that specific risk factors and uncertainties be identified that may have
possible future financial effects on financial position and operating results outside of the
relm of historical trends.
This may be achieved 1) by amending SFFAS 15, par 3; or by 2) an interpretation for the
current SFFAS 15, par 3.
Staff prefers amending SFFAS 15 because an interpretation would need to elaborate on
the word “effects” by defining it in relation to financial position and operation results.
Amending the forward-looking MD&A requirements would allow the Board to write explicit
guidance to prompt the preparers to provide appropriate risk reporting.

QUESTIONS FOR THE BOARD
1. How do members interpret the word “effects” as stated in the current
SFFAS 15, par. 3? For example, should effects be non-financial, financial,
or both types?
2. What does “forward-looking” mean to you?
a. Are challenges for the coming year and short-term actions to address
such challenges sufficiently forward-looking? What time horizon
would members expect agencies to consider in preparing MD&A?
b. Are members interested in distinguishing between short and longterm potential future effects? If so, should guidance on selecting an
appropriate time horizon be considered? (For example, a social
insurance program would likely have a longer time horizon than a
regulatory program.)
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NEXT STEPS
1. To be determined by Board decisions on forward-looking information in MD&A.
2. Present measurement uncertainty principles to be incorporated into Notes
Disclosure principles.

MEMBER FEEDBACK
Please provide responses to the above questions to Ms. Gilliam by Wednesday,
December 12, 2018, at gilliamr@fasab.gov with a cc to Ms. Payne at paynew@fasab.gov
If you have any questions, please contact Ms. Gilliam at 202-512-7356 or
gilliamr@fasab.gov
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PROJECT OBJECTIONS
The issuance of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 51,
Insurance Programs, on January 18, 2017, effectively concluded the first phase of risk
assumed. For the history of the risk assumed project and milestones for phase I, please see
http://www.fasab.gov/ra-insurance-programs/.
In phase II, the Board will holistically review significant risk events other than adverse events
covered by SFFAS 51, Insurance Programs, to determine accounting standards that provide
concise, meaningful, and transparent information regarding the potential impact to the fiscal
health of the federal government.
HISTORY OF BOARD DELIBERATIONS
October 19-20, 2016 Board Meeting
At the October 19, 2016, Board meeting, the risk assumed – phase II began.
The Board reviewed staff’s high-level gap analysis presented in table 1: Analysis of Federal
Accounting Standards in Relation to the IMF [International Monetary Fund]
Recommendations for Disclosing Fiscal Risks and table 2 from the Australian Statement 8:
Statement of Risks.
The Board agreed that an extensive gap analysis is necessary to determine the risk
information that the consolidated financial report of the U.S. Government includes and how it
is presented, the extent to which FASAB can align with enterprise risk management (ERM)
as prescribed by The Office of Management and Budget Circular A-123, Management’s
Responsibility for Enterprise Risk Management and Internal Control, and the Board’s
preference for presenting risk assumed information going forward.
For the gap analysis, the Board agreed to determine the following:
•

If federal government reporting is transparent enough for estimates and uncertainty
around significant risks with a focus on broad risk categories, such as an economic
downturn where revenues go down and benefit program costs go up
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•

If there is a significant gap in reporting to be addressed for individual risk items, such
as treaties, commitments by the federal government, and intergovernmental
dependencies with state and local governments

•

How to present summarized risk events at the government-wide level for cross-cutting
agency efforts, such as disaster relief, with access to detail at the agency level

December 19-20, 2016
At the December 20, 2016, Board meeting, the Board approved a framework for the risk
assumed gap analysis. Members agreed that categories should not be a laundry list of
events but instead should be principle-based and broad enough to encompass current and
future significant risk events. The scope will include past and future events and whether
uncertainty is adequately explained. Staff will review past financial reports to understand
what was included before and after recent large events, such as the 2008 financial crisis, at
the agency and government-wide levels.
Staff will utilize roundtable discussions to discover if current disclosures are clear, relevant,
and add value in relation to the available standards. If roundtable participants do not feel that
current disclosures are clear, relevant, or valuable, the group will discuss what is missing and
should be included.
Staff will work on the gap analysis over the next several months and present findings and
recommendations to the Board upon completion.
June 21-22, 2017
Members did not want to include discussions that
•

predict unforeseen catastrophes and their potential financial effect;

•

trends for using emergency funding as an indicator of fiscal exposure to risk shocks;

•

comparisons of estimates to actuals;

•

how past risk events were managed; or

•

a separate risk section [as presented in the USAFacts 10-K Report -risk section—Item
1A Risk Factors] within federal financial reports.

Members did want to
•

include past events that affect the current financial position;
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•

include and define major risk events with a relationship to long-term sustainability that
are not already reported;

•

use the principle-based broad risk categories as a foundation for continuing the gap
analysis; and

•

present meaningful streamlined information as a broad analysis rather than specific
details.

October 25-26, 2017
According to the project objective, the risk assumed project strives … to determine
accounting standards that provide concise, meaningful, and transparent information
regarding the potential impact to the fiscal health of the federal government. However,
understanding what risks affect U.S. financial sustainability and why they do is very
challenging. Therefore, as part of the ongoing gap analysis, staff reviewed SFFAS 2,
Accounting for Direct Loans and Loan Guarantees, to learn how risk is currently disclosed in
the financial statements.
Staff conducted research with the Department of Education, Department of Housing and
Urban Development, Small Business Administration, and the Government Accountability
Office and learned that agencies cannot specifically identify their users. In addition, reporting
is inconsistent, extremely detailed, and burdensome. This not only affects preparers, but also
users.
On October 26, 2017, staff presented these findings at the Board meeting to determine if
members wanted to pilot amendments to SFFAS 2 to develop a framework for how to
address risk assumed holistically.
Members agreed and requested that staff
•

identify user groups to analyze risk factors, beyond those used to calculate
credit subsidy reestimates, to help build a risk profile;

•

develop a framework for how to discuss measurement uncertainty;

•

consider how to discuss the “why” behind the “what” of risk;

•

present sensitivity analysis at a future meeting; and

•

pilot amendments to SFFAS 2 to develop a model/framework for how to
address risk assumed holistically.
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FEBRUARY 21-22, 2018
The Board hosted an ERM risk profiling education session. The panel discussed the
following:
•

Ms. SallyAnne Harper, a founding member and immediate past president of the
Association for Federal Enterprise Risk Management (AFERM), provided a
high-level review of federal ERM.

•

Mr. Tom Brandt, the Chief Risk Officer at the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)
and AFERM President Elect, presented a review of IRS’s risk profiling
processes, including risk identification, categorization, assessment,
quantification, measurement, and modeling.

•

Mr. Mike Wetklow, Deputy Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Division Director
for Financial Management, National Science Foundation (NSF), presented
NSF’s ERM implementation process, including a discussion about risk appetite
as an integral part of risk profiling.

•

Mr. Daniel Fodera, Lead Management Analyst, Program Management
Improvement Team, Directors of Field Services, Federal Highway
Administration (FHWA), explained the tools used in ERM risk profiling, including
the use of a heat map at FHWA.

The Board learned the following main points:
•

Risk assessment is integrated into strategic planning and investment decision
making to determine priorities and objectives.

•

Senior management is responsible for setting risk appetite to determine the
most significant risks that could impact the organization’s strategic mission.

•

Risk appetite includes an analysis of both the likelihood and impact of events.

•

Most agencies are just beginning to develop their ERM processes; a few are
moving into a more mature model.

Directly following the education session, the Board discussed whether to leverage
ERM risk profiling as identified in OMB Circular A-123, Management's Responsibility
for Enterprise Risk Management and Internal Control.
The Board agreed that staff should explore how to incorporate OMB A-123 risk profiling in
the project; however members noted the following concerns:
•

The Board should determine what type of risks to focus on:
performance/programmatic—MD&A and/or financial impact—disclosure notes.
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•

The Board should determine what risks are not currently included in financial
reports through working groups and determine the consequences of not
including certain risks.

•

The Board should consider producing best practices guidance if the standards
are complete and agencies need additional help.

•

The Board should prevent risk identification from turning into a compliance
exercise that might affect the ERM process.

•

The Board should consider how agency internal ERM processes might be
affected by external financial reporting and the related audit.

APRIL 25-26, 2018
During the April 2018 meeting, staff presented the gaps for reporting RA as identified from
the nine round tables conducted over the past year. Many round table participants were
interested in reporting on full program costs, including key risk factors and assumptions.
Some believed a clearer understanding of uncertainties regarding estimates would help
facilitate better management decisions and an understanding of financial performance.
These gaps will help to establish a framework for reporting RA holistically in the financial
reports. This framework may include new or updated note disclosures and improvements to
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A).
For MD&A improvements the RA and MD&A Improvements projects collaborated to present
recommendations to improve MD&A. The projects collaborated because the findings from the
separate round tables were the same—financial statement users want to understand the
financial performance for major programs and not have to sift through dense,
duplicative strategic performance information that can be found in the agency
performance report. As a result, staff recommended a new Statement that would maintain
the current principles but rescind Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts
(SFFAC) 3, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, and Statement of Federal Financial
Accounting Standards (SFFAS 15), Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
The Board directed staff to consider previously discussed concerns regarding MD&A, review
existing MD&A concepts and standards, and determine what changes might be needed. Staff
will also collaborate with the Office of Management and Budget to determine whether form
and content guidance could help guide improvements.
JUNE 27-28, 2018
The RA and MD&A Improvements projects continued to collaborate to request a more
integrated format for MD&A.
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Members agreed to remove the requirement to segment information in the MD&A. SFFAS15
currently requires management to discuss topics in discrete sections of the MD&A. Removing
this requirement would allow flexibility in formatting MD&A and facilitate an integrated
discussion about financial performance. The discussion should include the rationale for
material changes in accounting elements, such as assets, liabilities, and/or net costs.
Staff originally presented a framework that would include a financial performance discussion
for each responsibility segment presented in the statement of net cost. The discussions
would inform users on the financial impact of key risks to the segment. However, the Board
determined that key risk factors may affect entities at different levels and requested staff to
present an alternative framework. The framework should be flexible enough to integrate risks
that had or will have a significant financial impact at the level best defined by management.
Members requested that staff develop principle-based standards to address the different
types of risks that may have a significant financial impact on the government-wide financial
position, condition, or results of operations. To tell the entire financial story, members
believed that management should discuss what actions are being taken to address current
and future risk drivers, as well as forward-looking information.
August 29-30, 2018
To better reflect the objectives, the risk assumed – phase II project was renamed to the risk
reporting project.
The Board reviewed the measurement uncertainty framework it had requested at the October
2017 meeting. Because measurement uncertainty affects a number of estimates throughout
the financial statements, the Board revisited the status of the risk assumed project. Members
noted that the focus on risk assumed improved decisions in a number of projects despite the
challenge of identifying specific risk measures as implied by the term “risk assumed.”
Members agreed that the risk assumed project should continue but is not likely to result in a
specific measure of “risk assumed.” To avoid this expectation, the Board decided to change
the project name to “risk reporting.” Members directed staff to work with the project leads of
the reporting model phase I: MD&A and stewardship investments improvements project and
the note disclosures project. Through this collaboration, the risk reporting project could
address the principles needed for reporting financial and non-financial risks as well as the
principles needed to account for measurement uncertainty.
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Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales [ICEAW]
Reporting Business Risks:
Meeting Expectations, 2011
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Reporting Business Risks: Meeting Expectations forms part of the Information for Better Markets
thought leadership programme of ICAEW’s Financial Reporting Faculty.
Requirements for businesses to report their risks have now been in place in a number of countries
for some years, and there seems to be a common view that their results have been disappointing.
There is widespread agreement that businesses should report better information about the
risks they face, and this determination has been reinforced by the wish to avoid another global
financial crisis.
But before fresh requirements are introduced, we need to understand why good risk reporting
has proved to be so difficult in practice and why risk reporting may prove to be less useful to
investors and other users of corporate reporting than has generally been assumed.
In this report we look at the problems and limitations of risk reporting, but also suggest how
it could be improved.
ICAEW operates under a Royal Charter, working in the public interest. As a world leading
professional accountancy body, ICAEW provides leadership and practical support to over
136,000 members in more than 160 countries, working with governments, regulators and
industry to ensure the highest standards are maintained.
The ICAEW Financial Reporting Faculty provides its members with practical assistance and
support with IFRS, UK GAAP and other aspects of business reporting. It also comments on
business reporting issues on behalf of ICAEW to standard-setters and regulators. Its Information
for Better Markets thought leadership programme subjects key questions in business reporting
to careful and impartial analysis so as to help achieve practical solutions to complex problems.
The programme focuses on three key themes: disclosure, measurement and regulation.
We welcome comments and enquiries on this work and on the other aspects of the Information for
Better Markets programme. To contact us, please email bettermarkets@icaew.com.

© ICAEW 2011
All rights reserved. If you want to reproduce or redistribute any of the material
in this publication, you should first get ICAEW’s permission in writing.
ICAEW will not be liable for any reliance you place on the information in this
material. You should seek independent advice.
October 2011
ISBN 978-0-85760-291-6

REPORTING BUSINESS RISKS:
MEETING EXPECTATIONS
INFORMATION FOR BETTER MARKETS INITIATIVE

Contents

Executive summary

iii

1. The demand for risk reporting	

1

1.1 Objectives of the report

2

1.2 What is risk?

3

1.3 Growing demand

4

1.4 ICAEW’s earlier work

6

1.5 Outline of the report

8

1.6 Chapter summary

9

2. Experience of risk reporting	

11

2.1 The evidence

12

2.2 Performance discussion as risk disclosure

14

2.3	Discussion of the evidence

14

2.4 Risk reporting and the financial crisis

15

2.5 A puzzle

16

2.6 Chapter summary

16

3. Risk reporting challenges	

19

3.1 Five challenges

20

3.2 Inherent unreliability

20

3.3 Costs exceed perceived benefits

22

3.4 Generic risk reporting

24

3.5 Risk management disclosures

25

3.6 Inevitable limitations

27

3.7 Users’ responses to risk information

28

3.8 The cost of capital problem

29

3.9 Realistic expectations

30

3.10 Chapter summary

30

4. The way forward

33

4.1 Better risk reporting

34

4.2 Tell users what they need to know

35

4.3 Focus on quantitative information

36

4.4 Integrate into other disclosures

38

4.5 Think beyond the annual reporting cycle

41

4.6 Keep lists of principal risks short

42

4.7	Highlight current concerns

43

4.8 Report on risk experience

44

4.9 Chapter summary

44

Contents

i

Appendix 1: Requirements for risk disclosures	

47

A1.1 US		

47

A1.2 EU		

48

A1.3 Germany

48

A1.4 UK		

48

A1.5 Basel II Accord

49

A1.6 IFRS		

49

Appendix 2: Calls for improved risk reporting	

53

A2.1 Operating and Financial Review

53

A2.2 Improving Business Reporting – A Customer Focus

54

A2.3 Senior Supervisors Group

54

A2.4 IASB’s management commentary framework

55

A2.5 International Corporate Governance Network guidelines

56

A2.6 Financial Reporting Council

56

Appendix 3: Research evidence on risk reporting	

57

A3.1 US		

57

A3.2 Canada

59

A3.3 Germany

59

A3.4 Italy		

60

A3.5 UK		

61

A3.6 Banks		

62

A3.7 The covariance of profitability

63

A3.8 Accounting and the variability of returns

63

A3.9 Accounting and the probability of default

64

Appendix 4: Risk reporting and the financial crisis	

65

A4.1 The response to the crisis

65

A4.2 Possible explanations

65

A4.3 Research findings

66

A4.4 Other investigations

66

A4.5	Discussion

67

Acknowledgements	

74

Bibliography

75

ii

Contents

Executive summary

Chapter 1: The demand for risk reporting
A growing demand for better reporting of business risks has emerged in recent decades. This is
based on the belief that improved understanding of business risks by investors and other users
of corporate reporting should lead to better stewardship of companies and to a more efficient
allocation of resources.
It is generally accepted that there was a widely-shared underestimation of risk before the financial
crisis of 2007 and beyond. This has reinforced calls for improved risk reporting, by banks in
particular, in the expectation that it should help make future crises less likely. But the crisis has
also led to calls for better risk reporting by companies in all sectors.
The demand for better risk reporting is an entirely legitimate one, and risk reporting can and should
be improved. But careful consideration needs to be given to how it should be improved and to
how far the expectations of all those who now call for change can be met. Risk in business is about
much more than the possibilities of corporate failure. Yet unexpected collapses, especially when
there is a rash of them in a crisis, inevitably focus attention on the quality of risk reporting and
may give rise to unrealistic expectations that better risk reporting could prevent future failures. But
in a competitive economy business failures are inevitable, and it would be unreasonable to expect
risk reporting to provide a reliable early warning of which businesses are most likely to fail – still
less to prevent their failure.
This report is intended as a timely contribution to debate about how risk reporting should evolve.
It reviews both the general experience of risk reporting to date and the risk reporting of financial
institutions before the crisis (Chapter 2), considers why risk reporting is thought to have been
disappointing (Chapter 3), and suggests ways to improve it (Chapter 4).

Chapter 2: Experience of risk reporting
Researchers who have looked at the experience of risk reporting by businesses across different sectors
often express a degree of disappointment with it, sometimes suggest that disclosure requirements
have had limited effect, and tend to make comments along the lines that there is ‘formal disclosure
but substantial non-disclosure’. Actual research findings are mixed. While there is some evidence
that both quantitative and qualitative risk reporting may have been useful, there is also evidence
that qualitative risk reporting is not considered useful by some users of corporate reporting. Indeed,
users appear to have conflicting views on risk reporting – some finding it useful, some not.
As for banks specifically, there is a widespread and understandable view that there must have been
inadequate risk reporting in the run up to the financial crisis. There appears to be little evidence
so far, though, that qualitative risk reporting before or during the crisis failed to reflect banks’
assessments of the risks that they faced. It seems more likely that the misleading impression given
by qualitative risk reporting ahead of the crisis was in most cases attributable to banks’ mistaken
assessments of risk, rather than to a failure to report recognised risks. These misperceptions of
risk were widely shared, and not peculiar to bankers. But with the benefit of hindsight, it seems
reasonable to conclude that the requirements for banks’ quantitative, analytical risk disclosures
before the crisis were inadequate, and there may also have been a degree of non-compliance.

Chapter 3: Risk reporting challenges
We identify five main reasons why the usefulness of risk reporting by businesses across different
sectors sometimes seems to be in doubt:
•	It is impossible to know even after the event whether most qualitative, and some quantitative,
risk reporting is accurate or inaccurate. This must limit the reliance that users can place on it.
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•	There are often competitive costs to informative risk disclosures and they also have potential
costs for managers. These costs may exceed the perceived benefits of risk reporting, leading
to uninformative disclosures. Indeed, risk reporting creates its own risks and so needs to be
undertaken by preparers, and interpreted by users, as an exercise in risk management.
•	It may well be appropriate to comply with requirements for the provision of risk lists by
making generic disclosures, even though they will be seen as boilerplate.
•	The effectiveness of a firm’s risk management depends on the quality of its managers, and
this is something that statements of the company’s attitude to risk and disclosures of internal
structures and procedures are unlikely to reveal.
•	There are some risks that firms will never report and others that they are always liable to
understate.
For many users, therefore, risk lists may provide little if any useful new information. When they
do provide new information, it may be difficult for users to know how to reflect it in their own
decisions.
Because of the problems with risk reporting that we have identified, it is unclear whether
improved risk disclosures actually reduce the cost of capital, as had been hoped. It is possible
that they increase the cost of capital.
In the final chapter of this report, we suggest seven principles for better risk reporting by
businesses. But even if these principles are adopted, people will still be disappointed by risk
reporting if their expectations for it are unrealistic. With the benefit of hindsight, people often
wonder why firms failed to foresee problems ahead and they tend to forget that the future
is always full of unknowns, including ‘unknown unknowns’. Investors need to recognise the
inevitable limitations of risk reporting and so have realistic expectations of how much it can
achieve.

Chapter 4: The way forward
It is important to have practical solutions to the problem of how to improve risk reporting. Risk
reporting requirements vary widely among different jurisdictions, and so it would be impractical
to put forward improvements to them that would have general validity. In any case, and perhaps
more importantly, the evidence suggests that risk reporting requirements often have only limited
effectiveness.
For these reasons, our suggestions – set out in seven principles – do not include any proposals for
new or tougher regulation. The principles are purely points for consideration by those interested
in improving risk reporting and by preparers of corporate reporting information, and are intended
to apply to public companies in all sectors.
The seven principles for better risk reporting are:
•

 ell users what they need to know. Users of corporate reporting want information about a
T
company’s risks so that they can make their own assessment of risk. Companies should focus
on this objective in deciding what to disclose.

•

Focus on quantitative information. Disclosing more detailed analyses of the quantitative
data that firms already provide would give helpful new information. Too much weight has
been placed on the production of descriptive risk lists. This is not a call for quantification of
risks, which usually involves dubious assumptions about the probability of future events. Nor is
it a call for qualitative information to be neglected. What we have in mind is more information
on the breakdown of firms’ activities, geographically and by sector, and on their assets,
liabilities and commitments.

•

As far as possible, integrate information on risk with other disclosures. Financial reporting
provides much information on risks already, and this should be integrated with other risk
disclosures. But information on risk should also be integrated with firms’ descriptions of their
business models, their forward-looking disclosures, their discussion of past performance, and
their financial reporting. A firm’s risks are usually inherent in its business model, so explaining
the business model should involve explaining its risks. Risk is forward-looking and cannot be
fully understood except in the context of broader forward-looking information about a firm’s
performance, plans and prospects.

iv
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•	Think beyond the annual reporting cycle. Many risks stay the same from one year to
the next. Others are highly variable and information on them needs to be updated more
frequently than once a year. The internet, rather than the annual report, would probably
be the right place for information on both sorts of risk.
•

 here possible, keep lists of principal risks short. Users are currently faced with long and
W
indigestible risk lists that are all too easy to ignore. Where it is useful for companies to disclose
other risks as well as those identified as the principal ones, they should still do so.

•

Highlight current concerns. It is likely to be of interest to users to know what risks are
currently most discussed within a firm. These will often be different from the firm’s principal
risks, and disclosing them could give users a valuable insight into the business.

•

 eview risk experience. Companies could usefully review their experience of risk in
R
the reporting period. What went wrong? What lessons have been learnt? How do their
experiences match up with the risks that they had previously reported?

As for banks, their quantitative risk disclosures have already been expanded since the onset of
the crisis through changes in accounting standards, implementation of Pillar 3 of the Basel II
Accord on banking supervision and expansion of its requirements. Further improvements may
be possible. Stress tests organised by banking and insurance supervisors, where they are based
on appropriate assumptions, can also provide valuable information about risk, and it would be
helpful to explore the use of such disclosures as an additional form of risk reporting by banks and
insurers.
One outcome of all the changes that we suggest might well be that there is less of what is
labelled as ‘risk reporting’ in companies’ annual reports. But the proposed changes would mean
that, overall, there is more useful information about risks. This should assist investors and other
users of corporate reporting to form their own judgements on risk and, in this way, should also
contribute to better stewardship of companies, a more efficient allocation of resources, and
greater financial stability.
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1.	The demand for
risk reporting
There has been a risk reporting explosion in recent decades.
This may reflect an increase in risk. It may also reflect
growing demand for risk warnings on all kinds of products
and services.
But what is risk? Why do people want businesses to
report it? And are businesses able to meet expectations
for risk reporting?

1.	The demand for
risk reporting

1.1 Objectives of the report
Every business enterprise involves the risk that it will fail to achieve its objectives. The higher
the risks it faces, the higher the return it will want to justify the risks that it takes. These risks are
specific to its particular business model and its particular circumstances, but other businesses that
have similar models and are in similar circumstances are likely to face similar risks.
Investors face various kinds of risk.1 They face at one remove the risks that the business faces –
so if the business fails, they lose their money. From this point of view, investors need information
about risk so that they can perform their own risk assessments. They take a business’s risks into
account, so far as they are aware of them, in considering whether and on what terms to invest
in it. But they also face additional risks because in some respects they have less information
about the business than its managers do. So market valuations of a company may be unduly
high (or low), and liable to sudden corrections as risks (or opportunities) that are known to
managers become public knowledge.
The greater the uncertainties that investors themselves face because of information asymmetry,
the higher the return they are likely to demand.2 From a business’s point of view, this higher
return means a higher cost of capital. Better disclosure about the risks faced by a business reduces
information asymmetry, and so – it is often argued – should result in a lower cost of capital for
the business. Against this, it has been argued that the disclosure of risks of which investors would
otherwise have been unaware should increase the cost of capital as it increases the perceived level
of risk associated with the business. We discuss this issue further in Chapter 3.
Improved information on risk also allows investors to make better-informed decisions as to how
they will choose to influence the actions of firms’ managers and where they will put their money.
It should therefore result in both more effective stewardship of individual firms and a more efficient
allocation of resources. In addition, external reporting of risks should encourage firms to improve
their management of risks.
There has been growing demand in recent decades for businesses to report more and better
information about the risks they face. The demand for better risk reporting – especially by banks
– has intensified markedly in response to the global financial crisis of 2007 and beyond,3 and
reflects a widespread view that reporting of risks ahead of the crisis failed to provide adequate
information on them. As a result, fresh requirements for risk reporting have already been imposed
(eg, in financial reporting standards) and further requirements may well be imposed, either on
banks specifically, financial institutions more widely, or possibly on businesses in general.
Risk reporting is an issue on which ICAEW did pioneering work between 1997 and 2002 when
it called for risk reporting to be significantly improved. Since then there has been a considerable
expansion of risk reporting. But calls for further progress are entirely legitimate, and risk reporting
can and should be improved. The key questions are how it should be improved, and how far the
expectations of all those who now call for change can be met.
Risk in business is about much more than the possibilities of corporate failure. Yet unexpected
collapses, especially when there is a rash of them in a crisis, inevitably focus attention on the
quality of risk reporting and may give rise to unrealistic expectations that risk reporting can
prevent future failures. It should not be expected, though, that risk reporting could ever provide
a reliable early warning system to tell users of accounts which businesses are most likely to fail.
1

2

3

2

In this report we adopt the conventional approach of considering risk reporting by businesses to be primarily
for the benefit of investors, who we take to include lenders as well as equity investors. But information on
risk should be useful for other stakeholders too.
Reducing information asymmetry also reduces investors’ estimation risk, which is a separate risk in its own
right. For simplicity, we shall refer just to information asymmetry. See Christine A. Botosan, ‘Disclosure and
the cost of capital: what do we know?’, pp33-34. Details of works cited are given in the Bibliography.
For convenience, we will subsequently refer to this as simply ‘the financial crisis’ or ‘the crisis’.
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In a competitive economy, there will always be business failures. Some of them will be predictable
(though probably not on the basis of what is usually referred to as ‘risk reporting’), but for many
of them failure will be unexpected until quite late in the day. Risk reporting, however good it is,
cannot overcome this problem.
This report is intended to contribute to the debate on how risk reporting should now evolve –
work that we started in the ICAEW Financial Services Faculty’s 2010 report, Audit of Banks: Lessons
from the Crisis. In doing so, it will be appropriate to refer back to ICAEW’s earlier publications in
the light of what can be learnt both from previous debates and from subsequent experience of
risk reporting. Most importantly, the report suggests directions for change so as to improve the
reporting of business risks.

1.2 What is risk?
People mean different things when they talk about ‘risk’ in the context of risk reporting. Usually
they mean risk in the negative sense of a possibility of incurring losses or reduced profits or
something else disadvantageous. Sometimes they talk about ‘risks and opportunities’ or ‘risks
and rewards’ together, so it is clear that the negative risks are being coupled with the positive
opportunities or rewards. Most risk reporting in practice is about risk in the negative sense, and
it is this usage that we generally follow in this report.
But there are also other usages of ‘risk’. Sometimes it refers to any uncertain future outcome.
The potential outcome may be either good (an upside risk) or bad (a downside risk). An extension
of this meaning sees risk as variability around an outcome; we discuss this further in a moment.
Some writers, following the economist Frank H. Knight, make a distinction between risk and
uncertainty. Knight distinguishes between risks that can be measured and those that cannot, and
suggests that a measurable risk is a risk ‘proper’, while an unmeasurable one is an uncertainty.4
Perhaps the clearest examples of risks that can be measured arise in games of chance when
someone throws dice, draws a card or spins a roulette wheel. In such games, the odds against any
particular outcome can be stated with mathematical precision. This sort of risk is unusual in
business. But there are other kinds of risk in business that do come close to this degree of certainty.
These are risks that can be calculated from statistical evidence taken from large populations of
items or events. They would include, for example, the number of errors likely to arise in highly
repetitive production processes – a firm may know with a high degree of precision how many
faulty parts per million it is likely to produce. Insurers also rely on risk calculations of this sort.
While such calculable risks may well be relevant to certain elements in financial statements –
especially for insurers – most business risks are, in Knight’s terms, uncertainties.5 This is a point
that has important implications for risk reporting, as it means that the risks concerned are
unmeasurable, at least in an objective sense. So any reporting of them, whether in the financial
statements or elsewhere, may be forced to be qualitative or, to the extent that it is quantified,
be subjective or restricted in its scope (eg, disclosing the effects of specified changes in market
rates on existing positions). Some quantifications of risk, supposedly derived from objective
calculations, are not only subjective, but verge on the bogus. Claims based on a few months’
or a few years’ experience that something is a ‘one in a billion chance’ or a ‘once in a thousand
years event’ usually come into this category. Such risks are usually unmeasurable uncertainties.
Calculations of risk as variability around an outcome are often of this sort. For many items that
are actively traded in markets it is possible to establish a statistical record for changes in the item’s
price, and to derive from this probabilistic distributions that show the frequency of differing
amounts of deviation from an expected outcome. These measurements of historical price volatility
are described as measurements of risk and can be used to produce financially quantified measures
such as ‘value at risk’ (VaR). They are of course only valid as forward-looking measurements of
volatility as long as the future resembles the recent past from which the data are derived. While
some might say that this is like driving a car by looking in the rear-view mirror, the short-term
future usually does show a degree of continuity with the recent past, so such measurements are a
useful tool for risk management. But they are not true measurements of risk as the path of future
price movements is always an unmeasurable uncertainty.
The meaning of risk as variability around an expected outcome is important as it underlies much
risk management, especially in financial institutions, some risk reporting, and also some research
into financial reporting and risk.
4
5

F rank H. Knight, Risk, Uncertainty, and Profit, pp19-20.
Knight suggests that, in competitive markets, it is only in the presence of uncertainty (as he defines it) that
businesses are able to make a profit in excess of the standard rate of return on capital.

The demand for risk reporting

3

Panel 1.1: Risk and subjectivity
‘Risk is inherently subjective… [R]isk does not exist ‘out there’, independent of our minds and
cultures, waiting to be measured. Instead, human beings have invented the concept risk to
help them understand and cope with the dangers and uncertainties of life. Although these
dangers are real, there is no such thing as real risk or objective risk. Even the simplest, most
straightforward risk assessments are based on theoretical models, whose structure is subjective
and assumption-laden and whose inputs are dependent upon judgment.’6

1.3 Growing demand
Calls for more information on risk in corporate reporting may be seen as an instance of demands
for more and better risk warnings on all kinds of products and services – from investments
(which ‘can go down as well as up’) to packaged foods (with their contents analysed and listed)
to coffee machines (that bear the optimistic warning ‘dispenses hot liquids’). While much of
this information is useful and allows investors, consumers and others to make better-informed
decisions, not all of it is intended to meet user needs. Some of it is intended to protect the
information provider from litigation. And some of it is intended to protect regulators from
criticism. The same may well be true of risk information in corporate reporting.
However, firms have more to report about risk than in the past, partly because of the explosion
of new financial instruments over the past 30 years and the huge amounts of money invested in
them, but also because of the pace of change in business, which means that business models are
seen as increasingly risky. The IT sector and enterprises dependent on new developments in IT
perhaps provide the best illustrations of the trend towards novel, and arguably riskier, business
models. But even tried and tested business models may be riskier than they used to be as they
become subject to challenge through rapid changes in markets and technologies.
The growing demand for better risk reporting in recent decades may also be seen as part of a
broader trend of dissatisfaction with the limitations of historical financial reporting information
and, to compensate for these limitations, a move towards more extensive non-financial and
forward-looking disclosures. These broad trends were discussed in two earlier reports in the
Information for Better Markets series: New Reporting Models for Business (2003) and Developments
in New Reporting Models (2009).
Growing demand for risk reporting is also part of a broader interest – or perhaps faith – in
risk management, which has grown dramatically in recent decades.7 This in turn is perhaps a
reflection of the new and increasing risks, particularly in relation to financial instruments, that
we have already noted.
The first important attempt to meet the demand for increased risk disclosures was the 1980
remodelling of the rules of the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for a management
discussion and analysis (MD&A).8 The MD&A rules include a requirement to ‘Describe any known
trends or uncertainties that … the [company] reasonably expects will have a material favourable
or unfavourable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations’, and
similar requirements in relation to capital and liquidity.
As the 1980s developed, further calls for risk disclosures were to some extent professional responses
to criticism of auditors, particularly following unexpected business failures. A significant theme of
these proposals was to emphasise the uncertainty of accounting measurements.
In 1986, at least partly in response to Congressional investigations into the accountancy profession
led by Congressman John Dingell, seven of the largest accounting firms in the US9 issued The
Future Relevance, Reliability, and Credibility of Financial Information. This report, couched in the form
of recommendations to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), called
for, among other things, improved disclosures of risks and uncertainties (including uncertainties
in the accounting statements), and proposed that the disclosures should be audited. The SEC
consulted on the recommendations, but found that ‘virtually all the 196 commentators opposed

6

7

8
9

4

Paul Slovic quoted in Victor Ricciardi, A Risk Perception Primer: A Narrative Research Review of the Risk Perception
Literature in Behavioral Accounting and Behavioral Finance.
On this, see Michael Power, The Risk Management of Everything, who comments that there has been ‘a
literature and conference explosion in the risk management area’ since 1995.
More detail on SEC and other requirements for risk disclosures is given at Appendix 1.
Arthur Andersen & Co, Arthur Young, Coopers & Lybrand, Deloitte Haskins & Sells, Ernst & Whinney, Peat,
Marwick, Mitchell & Co and Touche Ross & Co.
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the proposals initiated by members of the accounting profession’.10 The AICPA also followed up
the accounting firms’ recommendations, appointed a task force, and in 1987 published Report
of the Task Force on Risks and Uncertainties. This proposed a number of disclosures on risks and
uncertainties, including about significant estimates and vulnerability due to concentrations –
eg, of assets, customers or suppliers.11
In Canada, the Report of the Commission to Study the Public’s Expectations of Audits, commissioned
by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) and chaired by W. A. Macdonald, was
published in 1988. Its conclusions included a recommendation to prepare a study on how best to
disclose risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, in 1990 CICA published Approaches to Dealing with
Risk and Uncertainty by J. Efrim Boritz. This made a number of proposals for new risk disclosures,
which it envisaged would be required by new or modified accounting standards. The focus of
many of the recommendations was on uncertainty in accounting measurements.
Calls for improved risk reporting intensified during the 1990s. In the UK, the Accounting
Standards Board’s statement of best practice, Operating and Financial Review, first published
in 1993, recommended that listed companies’ annual reports should include ‘a discussion
identifying the principal risks and uncertainties in the main lines of business, together with a
commentary on the approach to managing these risks’.12
Improving Business Reporting – A Customer Focus, commonly known as ‘the Jenkins Report’, is a
comprehensive set of proposals for the reform of business reporting, published by the AICPA
in 1994. It recommended, among other things, that firms should ‘Provide more information
with a forward-looking perspective, including management’s plans, opportunities, risks,
and measurement uncertainties’ and should ‘Improve disclosures about the uncertainty of
measurements of certain assets and liabilities.’
There has been a significant focus on financial instruments in calls for better risk reporting. In
the US, large unexpected losses on derivatives incurred by a number of firms in the early to mid1990s reinforced demands that had already begun to emerge for better information on firms’
derivative positions and market risks.13 This led to risk disclosure requirements in SFAS 119,
Disclosures about Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments (1994),
and SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (1998), and from the
SEC in Financial Reporting Release (FRR) 48, Disclosure of Accounting Policies for Derivative Financial
Instruments etc (1997). FRR 48 also encourages, but does not require, other risk disclosures.
Standards with similar requirements for risk disclosures relating to financial instruments were later
issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee and its successor, the International
Accounting Standards Board.
Subsequently amended, these US requirements, with those for risk disclosures in MD&As and a
new requirement in 2005 for separate disclosure of risk factors (see below), form the basis of the
current position in the US as regards risk reporting (see Appendix 1, Section A1.1).
Fresh requirements for risk reporting have appeared in a number of jurisdictions since the late
1990s. These include Germany‘s requirement for companies to disclose all material risks (1998),
subsequently supplemented by an accounting standard on risk reporting (2001), and the EU’s
requirement (2003) that a company’s annual report ‘shall include at least a fair review of the
development and performance of the company’s business and of its position, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces’.14 In the US, in 2005 the SEC
introduced a requirement for companies to disclose ‘the most significant factors that make the
company risky or speculative’. This disclosure has to be made not only in the company’s annual
10-K report but updated for any changes in its quarterly 10-Q reports.

S EC Interpretation: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations;
Certain Investment Company Disclosures.
11
A significant outcome of this phase in the development of the US accounting profession was the Report
of the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting (1987) – the Treadway Commission. This did
not recommend new disclosures on risk, but gave birth to what became the enterprise risk management
approach to internal control.
12
More detail on this statement’s and other proposals for improved risk disclosures is given at Appendix 2.
13
Market risks are the risks of loss arising from changes in market prices (eg, of commodities) and market rates
(eg, interest rates). On the background to the US requirements, see Thomas J. Linsmeier and Neil D. Pearson,
‘Quantitative disclosures of market risk in the SEC release’.
14
According to Peter Kajüter, Risk Disclosures of Listed Firms in Germany: A Longitudinal Study, these requirements
were proposed by the German Accounting Standards Board ‘in view of the mandatory risk disclosure
requirement for public limited companies in Germany’. Research on the German requirement suggests that
it has produced unsatisfactory results: see Appendix 3, Section A3.3.
10
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The effectiveness of existing requirements for risk reporting both in Europe and the US has been
questioned, and this is an issue that we consider later in the report. In spite of these doubts – or
because of them – demands for improved risk reporting have intensified since the financial crisis,
as there has been a widely shared view that managers, investors and regulators all underestimated
the risks that key financial services businesses were taking on.
Demands for improved risk reporting as a result of the financial crisis include:
•	The Financial Stability Forum, in Report of the Financial Stability Forum on Enhancing Market
and Institutional Resilience (2008), stated that ‘financial institutions should strengthen their
risk disclosures’.
•	The UK House of Commons Treasury Committee, in Banking Crisis: Reforming Corporate
Governance and Pay in the City (2009), after hearings on the banking crisis, called for all listed
companies to be required to report ‘in clear jargon-free English … what the main future risks
are judged to be’.
•	Also in the UK, Sir David Walker’s report, A Review of Corporate Governance in UK Banks and
Other Financial Industry Entities (2009), called for such institutions to include a board risk
committee report as a separate report within the annual report and accounts.
•	The European Commission, in Corporate Governance in Financial Institutions and Remuneration
Policies (2010), called for shareholders in financial institutions to be given ‘better information
on risk’.
•	The UK Financial Reporting Council, in a paper considering the lessons of the crisis for all listed
companies, Effective Company Stewardship: Enhancing Corporate Reporting and Audit (2011),
called for ‘transparency about the activities of the business and any associated risks’ and
‘transparency in the way that directors report on their activities, including their management
of risk’.
Most of these recent demands for better risk reporting focus on financial institutions, especially
banks, in the hope that it would make both future crises and individual business failures less
likely. In Appendix 4, we look specifically at risk reporting by banks and the financial crisis; we
summarise the key points in Chapter 2. But most risk reporting is done by entities other than
banks, and in this report we talk primarily about risk reporting by businesses in general. For
businesses in all sectors, improved understanding of risks on the part of investors and other users
of corporate reporting should lead to better stewardship of companies and to a more efficient
allocation of resources across companies.

1.4 ICAEW’s earlier work
From 1997 onwards ICAEW issued a series of reports calling for improved risk disclosures:
•

Financial Reporting of Risk: Proposals for a Statement of Business Risk (1997)

•

Inside Out: Reporting on Shareholder Value (1999)

•

Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code (1999)

•

No Surprises: The Case for Better Risk Reporting (‘No Surprises’) (1999)

•

No Surprises: Working for Better Risk Reporting (2002)

•

Prospective Financial Information: Guidance for UK Directors (2003).

As its full title indicates, Financial Reporting of Risk sets out proposals for a statement of business risk
by listed companies. This would identify and prioritise key risks, describe actions taken to manage
each risk, and identify how risk is measured. The report gives examples of risk-related information
already provided in financial reporting as a result of the requirements of UK accounting standards,
and surveys risk reporting by UK companies in their operating and financial reviews. It also refers
to research suggesting that increased disclosure (in general, not of risks specifically) reduces the
cost of capital.15
Inside Out is a call for listed companies to disclose more about their strategies and value
drivers, which would include ’better information about the risks and opportunities faced by the
company’.
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 hristine A. Botosan, ‘Disclosure level and the cost of equity capital’; Mark H. Lang and Russell J. Lundholm,
C
‘Corporate disclosure policy and analyst behavior’. For a later general survey see Christine A. Botosan,
‘Disclosure and the cost of capital: what do we know?’
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Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code (‘the Turnbull Guidance’) provides
guidance for directors of listed companies on the requirements, at that time, of the Combined
Code of the Committee on Corporate Governance for boards of directors to maintain and review
‘a sound system of internal control’, including risk management. The guidance states that
‘A company’s system of internal control has a key role in the management of risks that are
significant to the fulfilment of its business objectives’. It gives advice to directors on, among
other things, assessing the effectiveness of the company’s risk and control processes and on the
disclosures to be made in accordance with the Combined Code. The guidance was subsequently
adopted, and later revised, by the Financial Reporting Council (see Appendix 1, Section A1.4).
No Surprises revisits the proposals in Financial Reporting of Risk in the light of the nearly 60
responses received to them, a survey of the views of FTSE 500 companies, and a study of risk
disclosure practices in prospectuses and annual reports. It points out that there is a good deal
of risk disclosure embedded in annual reports (in addition to what appears in the financial
statements), which is not labelled as risk reporting. Those seeking information relevant to
assessing a firm’s risks may therefore need to review the whole of the annual report to extract
what they are looking for.
The report includes points made by respondents opposed to the idea of a separate statement of
business risk. While arguing that ‘companies should be aiming to provide comprehensive and
consistent information about risk’, No Surprises does not suggest that a separate statement of
business risk is necessary in order to do this. It states that this issue – whether there should be a
separate statement – is purely about form, not substance.
Key points made in the report include:
•	If companies report their risks, the actions they take to manage them, and relevant
measurements, capital will be made available to them at the lowest possible sustainable cost.
Better information on risks reduces investors’ uncertainties, thereby reducing the premium for
uncertainty in the firm’s cost of capital. Company managements should set themselves the
goal of ‘no surprises’ – that is, to avoid surprising the capital markets.
•	Companies make more extensive risk disclosures in prospectuses than they do in subsequent
annual reports. Companies are urged to achieve in annual reports the standard of risk
disclosure found in prospectuses.
•	It does not matter whether or not risk information is reported in a separate statement, as long
as it is reported somewhere in the annual report.
•	Companies should disclose their strategies. This provides the context that allows readers to
understand their risk disclosures.
Some of the objections to a separate risk report that we noted in No Surprises remain relevant to
contemporary calls for better risk reporting. These objections include:
•	The managing director of a bank commented on the proposal: ‘The idea that a subject, as
complex as business risk, can be included in a statement in the annual report and accounts,
when our whole business is about risk management, is laughably absurd.’
•	People feared that a separate statement would result in ‘bland and essentially meaningless
reporting’.
•	Others, in a specifically UK context, thought that the information in such a statement would
be better as part of the operating and financial review.
No Surprises: Working for Better Risk Reporting is a position paper that reiterates the conclusions in
No Surprises: The Case for Better Risk Reporting.
Prospective Financial Information: Guidance for UK Directors provides guidance on the disclosure
of prospective financial information (PFI). PFI is defined as ‘primary financial statements and
elements, extracts and summaries of such statements and financial disclosures drawn up to a
date, or for a period, in the future’. PFI is therefore a specific forecast, rather than a vague forecast
that, eg, ‘profits are expected to be satisfactory’.
The report states that:
‘Published PFI should be accompanied by disclosure of the assumptions on
which it is based. In order for users to be able to evaluate these assumptions, the
related risks, uncertainties and sensitivities will also need to be disclosed in a way
that makes their significance understandable to users.’
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The report proposes a ‘reasonable disclosure principle’, which is that:
‘PFI should contain disclosure that is reasonable, and so … should not be
presented in situations of such uncertainty that the disclosure becomes too
complex or extensive to be understood or used by investors’.
This principle sets a limit to the disclosure of PFI and its related risks and uncertainties, which has
significant effects in practice. As PFI is a specific forecast, it will have greater uncertainties than a
vague forecast, and so require more extensive risk disclosures. The reasonable disclosure principle
means that PFI that might otherwise be disclosed is not, because the risks and uncertainties
that surround it are too complex or extensive to explain. This may sound as though it means
that valuable forward-looking information is being suppressed, but what it really implies is that
the uncertainties surrounding the data are such that it is likely to be highly speculative and that
investors either would ignore it or, if they took it at face value, might easily be misled.
A significant point in this approach to risk disclosure is that, in the case of PFI, it is clear that
‘risk’ means a risk that a specific forecast will not be achieved. This is often the case with risk –
it acquires definition and meaning in a particular context as a risk to a particular objective.
Until we specify an objective we cannot know what risks are relevant to it. But for the purpose
of reporting business risks, the objectives are so widely drawn that, as suggested earlier, the
possibility of anything disadvantageous to the business is a risk.
As noted above, ICAEW has returned to the subject of risk reporting in the light of the financial
crisis. The ICAEW Financial Services Faculty’s 2010 report, Audit of Banks: Lessons from the Crisis,
reported stakeholders’ view that:
‘Risk information is often presented in a piecemeal manner in bank annual
reports, spread between the audited financial statements and the unaudited
front sections. Banks need to focus on clearer presentation which allows users to
understand the big picture, which is currently often obscured by the volume of
detailed information.’
The report comments, ‘Summary risk statements are a potential way of providing this big picture’,
but also states that there are different views on how the objective of better presentation of risk
information can be achieved. It suggests that ‘A degree of experimentation will be necessary to
see which form of disclosure is the most meaningful for investors.’ There is a potential conflict,
which we discuss later (Section 4.4) between the desire for a single, coherent and discrete
narrative on risk and the pervasiveness of risk-relevant information in corporate reporting.
Many of the key points made in ICAEW’s earlier reports are still relevant today. But subsequent
experience has shown how hard it will be to achieve the ambitions that are held for risk reporting.
And since the 1990s requirements for disclosures on risk have changed significantly, as has the
technology of business reporting. So it is useful to reassess, in the light of experience and changes
in the reporting environment, what can realistically be achieved; this report aims to do that.

1.5 Outline of the report
In the remainder of the report we:
•	look briefly at experience of risk reporting by businesses generally to date, and at risk
reporting by banks in the period before the financial crisis (Chapter 2);
•	consider why risk reporting in practice has often been thought to be unsatisfactory (Chapter 3);
and
•

suggest ways to improve the reporting of business risks (Chapter 4).

In the appendices to the report we:
•	summarise some of the more important existing requirements for risk disclosures (Appendix 1);
•

list some of the more significant calls for improved risk reporting (Appendix 2);

•	summarise research on the experience of risk reporting by businesses generally (Appendix 3);
and
•
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analyse in more depth the role of risk reporting in the financial crisis (Appendix 4).
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1.6 Chapter summary
A growing demand for better reporting of business risks has emerged in recent decades. This is
based on the belief that improved understanding of business risks by investors and other users
of corporate reporting should lead to better stewardship of companies and to a more efficient
allocation of resources.
It is generally accepted that there was a widely-shared underestimation of risk before the financial
crisis of 2007 and beyond. This has reinforced calls for improved risk reporting, by banks in
particular, in the expectation that it should help make future crises less likely. But the crisis has also
led to calls for better risk reporting by companies in all sectors.
The demand for better risk reporting is an entirely legitimate one, and risk reporting can and
should be improved. But careful consideration needs to be given to how it should be improved
and to how far the expectations of all those who now call for change can be met. Risk in
business is about much more than the possibilities of corporate failure. Yet unexpected collapses,
especially when there is a rash of them in a crisis, inevitably focus attention on the quality of risk
reporting and may give rise to unrealistic expectations that better risk reporting could prevent
future failures. But in a competitive economy business failures are inevitable, and it would be
unreasonable to expect risk reporting to provide a reliable early warning of which businesses are
most likely to fail – still less to prevent their failure.
This report is intended as a timely contribution to debate about how risk reporting should evolve.
It reviews both the general experience of risk reporting to date and the risk reporting of financial
institutions before the crisis (Chapter 2), considers why risk reporting is thought to have been
disappointing (Chapter 3), and suggests ways to improve it (Chapter 4).
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2.	Experience of
risk reporting
Researchers who have examined risk reporting often seem
to be disappointed with the results. It is far from clear that
it has actually been very useful.
Yet there is general agreement that the global financial
crisis was an effect of underestimating risks. Can better
risk reporting prevent this from happening again?

2. 	Experience of risk reporting

2.1 The evidence
In recent decades, firms have reported a growing volume of information about the risks they face.
The information has appeared in both their financial and non-financial reporting, and much of it
has been in response to new disclosure requirements. Unfortunately the evidence on how useful
this has been is mixed and a note of disappointment among those who have reviewed qualitative
risk reporting in practice is common, though not universal.
Various studies on the quality and usefulness of risk reporting are briefly summarised in Panel 2.1
(fuller summaries are given at Appendix 3, Sections A3.1-A3.6). Firms’ financial reporting as a
whole – although it is not usually regarded as risk reporting – is also relevant to the assessment of
risk in the sense of:
•	variability of returns to investors. As we noted in Chapter 1, people sometimes regard risk as
variability around an outcome; and
•

probability of default.

There is a separate body of research on the relevance of financial reporting in general to these
types of risk. But as financial reporting in general is not usually regarded as risk reporting, we refer
to this literature separately (Appendix 3, Sections A3.7-A3.9).
Panel 2.1: Research on risk reporting
US (A3.1)
A study of oil and gas companies’ commodity price risk disclosures between 1993 and 1996
finds that they are associated with share price sensitivity to changes in oil and gas prices
(Rajgopal, 1999). An earlier study of information in savings and loan institutions’ unpublished
regulatory filings between 1984 and 1988, analogous to information in disclosures introduced
by the SEC and FASB in the 1990s, finds evidence that on- and off-balance-sheet interest
rate exposures are associated with the sensitivity of share prices to interest rates. This implies
that the subsequently required disclosures might also be expected to be associated with the
sensitivity of share prices to interest rates (Schrand, 1997).
Two surveys of initial compliance with risk reporting requirements introduced by the SEC
in 1997 find that it is ‘less than satisfactory’ (Elmy et al, 1998; Roulstone, 1999). However,
a further study finds that the requirements appear to have led to investors’ being better
informed (Linsmeier et al, 2002). A study of value-at-risk disclosures between 1995 and 1999
finds that they helped predict the variability of trading revenues (Jorion, 2002).
An unpublished study of risk disclosures between 2004 and 2008 finds that longer risk factor
disclosures appear to be associated with a raised assessment of a company’s risks by the market
and with lower share prices, but are also associated with reduced information asymmetries
(Campbell et al, 2011). An unpublished study of risk disclosures between 1994 and 2007 also
finds evidence suggesting that increased references to risk are associated with increased market
perceptions of risk and uncertainty (Kravet and Muslu, 2011).
Canada (A3.2)
A survey of Canadian annual reports for 1999 finds that while the disclosure rate ‘appears
relatively high, one might question the degree of relevance and … usefulness of the
information disclosed’ (Lajili and Zéghal, 2005).
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Panel 2.1: Research on risk reporting (continued)
Germany (A3.3)
An unpublished German survey of annual reports between 1999 and 2003 finds that ‘most
risk reports are … deficient as regards depth and precision’ (Kajüter, 2004). A second study,
reviewing the evidence in earlier papers, finds that mandatory risk reporting requirements
‘just slightly improved’ actual reporting. It argues that ‘the value of risk reporting is generally
overestimated’ (Dobler, 2005). A third study surveys annual reports between 2000 and 2005.
It finds improvements in risk disclosures, but comments that risk reporting is still ‘far from
being good’ (Berger and Gleissner, 2006).
Italy (A3.4)
An Italian survey based on annual reports for 2001 concludes that firms tend to adopt a policy
of ‘formal disclosure but substantial non-disclosure’ (Beretta and Bozzolan, 2004).
UK (A3.5)
A 1999 survey finds that institutional investors tend to agree with the proposition that
‘I believe that the current state of risk disclosure … is inadequate’ (Solomon et al, 2000).
A study based on annual reports for 2000 finds that firms make more ‘good risk’16 than ‘bad
risk’ disclosures (Linsley and Shrives, 2006). A study based on annual reports for 2004 to
2006 finds that companies report about half the information available to management on
the companies’ objectives, policies and processes for managing interest rate risk and foreign
exchange risk, but comments that it is not known whether this is too much, too little, or the
right amount of disclosure (Marshall and Weetman, 2008). A study based on the 2008 and
2009 annual reports of listed companies finds most of them technically compliant but failing
to meet the spirit of the requirement to disclose principal risks (ASB, 2009).17
A study based on discussions with representatives of over 40 major listed companies and a
selection of investors and advisers finds that the majority of investors think there is scope for
considerable improvement in risk reporting. Some investors place more reliance on meetings
with management than on what is in the annual report (FRC, 2011).
A forthcoming report based on a survey of investment analysts in 2009-10 finds that on
average they regard annual report risk factor disclosures as useful, but a number of them think
that annual reports provide no significant new information on risks. The same study looks at
2009 risk disclosures by listed food and drink companies and finds that their ‘risk information
[is] general in nature’ but that ‘on rare occasions, a very company-specific risk is disclosed’
(Abraham et al, 2011).
Banks (A3.6)
A survey of risk disclosures in the 2001 annual reports of 18 UK and Canadian banks finds that
they are dominated by ‘general statements of risk management policy’ (Linsley et al, 2006).
A survey of value-at-risk reporting by large international banks concludes that ‘very little can
be gleaned from published VaR figures … A cynic might suggest that we have the appearance
of disclosure, combined with careful attempts to avoid disclosing anything of real significance’
(Woods et al, 2008a). A survey of market risk disclosures by 25 large international banks
from 2000 to 2006 finds ‘a mildly increasing trend’ of disclosures on average, but marked
reductions in disclosure by some banks (Woods et al, 2008b).
This is a very mixed group of studies. There is some indirect evidence that quantified disclosures
on matters such as market risk may be useful (Schrand, 1997; Rajgopal, 1999; Linsmeier et al,
2002; Jorion, 2002), and some evidence – direct (Abraham et al, 2011) and indirect (Campbell
et al, 2011; Kravet and Muslu, 2011) – that qualitative risk reporting as it has developed since the
1990s may be useful. The indirect evidence is based on statistical correlations between disclosures
(or surprisingly in the case of Schrand, 1997, non-disclosures) on the one hand and changes in
share prices, trading volumes, bid-ask spreads, or analysts’ forecasts on the other.

16
17

 hat we refer to in Chapter 1 as an ‘upside risk’ – also known as a ‘positive risk’.
W
The evidence from this study, by the Accounting Standards Board, is also cited in the Financial Reporting
Council discussion paper, Effective Company Stewardship: Enhancing Corporate Reporting and Audit.
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There is also much criticism of the quality of disclosures (Elmy et al, 1998; Roulstone, 1999; Lajili
and Zéghal, 2005; Kajüter, 2004; Dobler, 2005; Berger and Gleissner, 2006; Beretta and Bozzolan,
2004; Solomon et al, 2000; ASB, 2009; FRC, 2011; Linsley et al, 2006; Woods et al, 2008a; Woods
et al, 2008b) and some of these studies show a degree of scepticism as to the value of much
risk reporting. One study indicates that in a key respect it is impossible to interpret its findings
(Marshall and Weetman, 2008). We discuss below (2.3) what conclusions, if any, can be drawn
from this body of work.

2.2 Performance discussion as risk disclosure
ICAEW’s No Surprises argued that discussion of past performance gives information about future
risks and opportunities, and it identified and listed the implicit risk disclosures in five companies’
annual reports. On this view, every identified cause of good or bad past performance is potentially
a risk disclosure. Whatever factor has caused the good or bad performance in the past may or not
be present in the future, and it therefore constitutes a risk that may affect future performance. On
this view, much disclosure on risk is likely to appear outside what is labelled as risk reporting.
Different researchers define ‘risk’ disclosures in different ways. Some of them take the same view
as No Surprises. One paper that defines risk disclosures in this way18 gives the following two
examples (among others), both from FTSE 100 companies, of what it regards as risk disclosures:
•	‘With over half our profits generated in the US, the dollar exchange rate is important – the 4%
average strengthening of the dollar gave a £5m benefit on translation.’
•	‘A combination of customer delays on existing programmes such as the C130J and C27J and
the start-up of a number of new programmes such as the AS900 business/regional propulsion
system led to manufacturing inefficiencies particularly at the Cowes site on the Isle of Wight.’
The first of these disclosures is a risk disclosure because it indicates that future results could be
affected, either positively or negatively, by changes in the dollar exchange rate. The second is a
risk disclosure because it indicates that future results could be affected, apparently only negatively
judging from the information given, by future customer delays and by future start-ups of new
programmes.
Research on the usefulness of the MD&A and similar forms of reporting therefore needs to be
added to our review of risk reporting studies. Two papers on MD&A reporting in the US and one
on MD&A reporting in Canada find evidence that it may be useful.19 One of these papers does
not attempt to analyse which components of MD&A disclosures are useful. The evidence reported
in the other two seems to suggest that it is forward-looking disclosures on matters such as capital
expenditure plans rather than information on risks that is useful. But these studies at least support
the possibility that there may be implicit or explicit risk disclosures in the MD&A (and presumably
in similar reports) that are useful to readers.

2.3 Discussion of the evidence
The limited number of research studies that we have referred to do not provide a basis on which
to arrive at any firm conclusions. Some of them rely on fairly small samples. Some of them are
academic papers that have not been published in peer-reviewed journals and so have not gone
through the quality controls associated with that process. And a number of them are based on
work done some years ago; this is partly because the most interesting time at which to study the
effects of risk disclosures is often when they are first introduced. In the US significant risk reporting
requirements were introduced in 1997 (see Section 1.3 above) and there was a concentration
of research work in the US around that time (Schrand, 1997; Elmy et al, 1998; Rajgopal, 1999;
Roulstone, 1999; Linsmeier et al, 2002; Jorion, 2002). European work is generally more recent,
but has focused mainly on qualitative risk reporting. However, the studies listed also include a
few current ones – which suggests a revival of interest in the topic.

 hilip M. Linsley and Philip J. Shrives, ‘Risk reporting: a study of risk disclosures in the annual reports of UK
P
companies’.
19
Stephen H. Bryan, ‘Incremental information content of required disclosures contained in management
discussion and analysis’; Orie E. Barron, Charles O. Kile and Terrence B. O’Keefe, ‘MD&A quality as
measured by the SEC and analysts’ earnings forecasts’; and Peter M. Clarkson, Jennifer L. Kao and Gordon D.
Richardson, ‘Evidence that management discussion and analysis (MD&A) is a part of a firm’s overall disclosure
package’. There may be other relevant research of which we are not aware.
18
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The surveys differ in the disclosures that come within their scope. Some consider only separately
identified risk reporting (eg, Campbell et al, 2011). Others include disclosures made outside what
is labelled as risk reporting (eg, Linsley and Shrives, 2006). Many of them exclude what is in the
financial statements. These and other differences in subject-matter and methodology make it
impossible to compare the surveys.
While counting the number of risks disclosed is a feature of many of the studies, it is not clear that
reporting more risks is an improvement. Indeed, in some of the studies this is explicitly denied
(eg, Beretta and Bozzolan, 2004) and in at least one of them firms are criticised for reporting too
many risks (ASB, 2009). Where qualitative assessments are made of firms’ risk reporting, there is
inevitably an element of subjectivity in the judgements. While there is no reason to dissent from
the dissatisfaction with the quality of risk reporting expressed in a number of the surveys, this
dissatisfaction is – in most cases – an expression of the researchers’ opinion. It is conceivable that,
though unsatisfactory, the reporting is none the less useful.
Recent research provides evidence suggesting that risk reporting may be useful (Campbell et al,
2011; Kravet and Muslu, 2011; Abraham et al, 2011), but it is in papers that are unpublished
at the time of writing this report, so it is uncertain how much weight should be placed on it.
Two of these papers tackle the methodological challenges of showing that qualitative disclosures
have quantitative effects on, eg, share prices, bid-ask spreads, or share price volatility. They get
around these problems by turning qualitative disclosures into quantitative ones. And they do this
by counting words (Campbell et al, 2011) or sentences (Kravet and Muslu, 2011), and searching
for statistical correlations with other quantities – changes in share prices, etc. The correlations
appear to be statistically significant, so they no doubt show something.
As noted above, a number of other studies (Rajgopal, 1999; Linsmeier et al, 2002; Jorion, 2002;
Campbell et al, 2011; Kravet and Muslu, 2011) are also based on statistical correlations between
disclosures and changes in share prices, trading volumes, bid-ask spreads, or analysts’ forecasts.
As the authors of such papers often point out, it is difficult to know whether these correlations
show that the disclosures are being used by investors or whether there is some alternative
explanation for the findings.
There is not yet any empirical confirmation that risk reporting reduces the cost of capital. This may
reflect problems with demonstrating that any disclosure affects the cost of capital, rather than
provide evidence that risk reporting is in this respect less useful than other forms of disclosure.
On the other hand, two current studies (Campbell et al, 2011; Kravet and Muslu, 2011) imply
that increased risk disclosures may tend to raise the cost of capital by raising investors’ perceptions
of risk (see 3.8 below).
Recent research on investment analysts’ views on risk reporting (Abraham et al, 2011) perhaps
helps to explain some of the apparent contradictions in the research findings of other studies.
It seems that users of corporate reporting information are divided in their views on qualitative risk
reporting. Some consider it useful. Some consider it useless. So when some researchers query the
value of risk disclosures, while others find evidence that it may affect share prices, it is conceivable
that both are right. It is possible that the quality of risk disclosures is indeed not very good, and
that they are ignored by some users, but that they are none the less used by others, and do have
some effects, though it is difficult to know exactly what these are.

2.4 Risk reporting and the financial crisis
There is a widespread and understandable view that there must have been inadequate risk
reporting by banks and other financial institutions in the period leading up to the financial crisis.
We examine the evidence on this question in Appendix 4. While there is some relevant academic
research, most of the information available to date comes from the investigations of banking
regulators, finance ministries, legislative inquiries and similar sources.
Although some institutions appear to have misled investors, and many more had internal
disagreements about the level of risk that they faced, there appears to be little evidence so far
to support the view that qualitative risk reporting before or during the crisis failed to reflect
banks’ own assessments of their risks. It seems more likely that the misleading impression given
by qualitative risk reporting ahead of the crisis was generally attributable to banks’ mistaken
assessments of risk, rather than to a failure to report recognised risks. These misperceptions of
risk were widely shared, and not peculiar to bankers. Perhaps the most authoritative report
on this issue is a 2008 report from the Financial Stability Forum (now the Financial Stability
Board), Report of the Financial Stability Forum on Enhancing Market and Institutional Resilience.
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The Board is an international grouping of finance ministries, central banks and banking regulators.
It therefore seems likely to be as well informed as anybody on the causes of the crisis. Its report
identifies a number of major failures of risk assessment as contributing to the crisis. The problems
listed in the report include:
•	Before the crisis, there was a ‘global trend of low risk premia and low expectations of future
volatility’.
•	Banks ‘misjudged the liquidity and concentration risks that a deterioration in general
economic conditions would pose’.
•	Banks ‘misjudged the risks that were created by their explicit and implicit commitments to
[off-balance sheet funding and investment vehicles], including the reputational risks arising
from the sponsorship of the vehicles’.
•	Banks ‘misjudged the level of risks [on loans to households and businesses, including loans
for buy-outs by private equity firms], particularly these instruments’ common exposure to
broad factors such as a weakening housing market or a fall in the market liquidity of high-yield
corporate debt’.
Other investigations by governments and regulators around the world have arrived at similar
findings. As banks significantly underestimated the risks that they faced, it was impossible for
them to report those risks accurately. Financial crises are always a surprise, and between crises
individual institutions will always give the impression that everything is under control – mainly
because they will genuinely believe that it is.
Separately from these issues of qualitative risk assessment, however, it seems reasonable to
conclude with the benefit of hindsight that banks’ quantitative, analytical disclosures relevant
to risk before the crisis were inadequate. In particular, inadequate information appears to have
been given about off balance sheet risk, especially in the US. Banks generally appear to have
complied with most of the applicable disclosure requirements, but there were weaknesses in the
requirements themselves, and there appear to have been one or two US requirements for which
compliance has been poor. Weaknesses in requirements have subsequently been addressed by
changes in accounting standards and implementation and expansion of the requirements of
Pillar 3 of the Basel II Accord on banking supervision. Further improvements may well be possible.

2.5 A puzzle
As we have seen, subjective assessments by researchers and regulators of the quality of risk
reporting tend to express disappointment, and some users say that they ignore it. In one respect,
the lack of progress by businesses generally in realising the ambitions of risk reporting’s advocates
is puzzling, as there are reasons to believe that high quality risk reporting should be in firms’ own
interests.
•	First, it is commonly assumed that improved risk disclosures should reduce a firm’s cost of
capital.
•	Second, it has been argued that risk reporting encourages more effective risk management.
If these arguments are correct, calling for better risk reporting should be like pushing on an open
door. Managers should be keen to do it in their own interests.
How can we explain why risk reporting has not been a greater success? Those who have
investigated the problem have suggested a number of possible reasons, which we discuss in the
next chapter.

2.6 Chapter summary
Researchers who have looked at the experience of risk reporting by businesses across different
sectors often express a degree of disappointment with it, sometimes suggest that disclosure
requirements have had limited effect, and tend to make comments along the lines that there is
‘formal disclosure but substantial non-disclosure’. Actual research findings are mixed. While there
is some evidence that both quantitative and qualitative risk reporting may have been useful, there
is also evidence that qualitative risk reporting is not considered useful by some users of corporate
reporting. Indeed, users appear to have conflicting views on risk reporting – some finding it
useful, some not.
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As for banks specifically, there is a widespread and understandable view that there must have
been inadequate risk reporting in the run up to the financial crisis. There appears to be little
evidence so far, though, that qualitative risk reporting before or during the crisis failed to
reflect banks’ assessments of the risks that they faced. It seems more likely that the misleading
impression given by qualitative risk reporting ahead of the crisis was in most cases attributable
to banks’ mistaken assessments of risk, rather than to a failure to report recognised risks. These
misperceptions of risk were widely shared, and not peculiar to bankers. But with the benefit
of hindsight, it seems reasonable to conclude that the requirements for banks’ quantitative,
analytical risk disclosures before the crisis were inadequate, and there may also have been a
degree of non-compliance.
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3.	Risk reporting
challenges
The benefits of business risk reporting – to both users and
preparers – are unclear. Its costs are more obvious.
This contrast presents difficult challenges if risk reporting is
to be improved. And if our expectations for risk reporting
are unrealistic, we will always be disappointed by it.

3. 	Risk reporting challenges

3.1 Five challenges
We have suggested that it is puzzling that, while there appear to be good reasons why firms
should ensure that they produce high quality risk reporting, the actual experience of risk reporting
seems to have been disappointing. We identify five key challenges for risk reporting that help to
explain the anomaly:
•

inherent unreliability (Section 3.2);

•

costs exceed perceived benefits (Section 3.3);

•

generic disclosures (Section 3.4);

•

risk management reporting difficulties (Section 3.5); and

•

risks that will never be reported (Section 3.6).

3.2 Inherent unreliability
Judgements on risk are unavoidably subjective. Ten people involved in running a firm would
probably give ten different – though overlapping – lists of its most significant risks. Some of these
views may show better judgement, or be better informed, than others, but it is quite likely that
none of them can be said to be right or wrong, even in the light of subsequent events. A 1997
discussion between researchers and standard-setters in the US noted that with risk reporting
‘there is no ex post settling up so there is no basis for assessing completeness or accuracy of risk
disclosures’.20 Nor is a comprehensive ex post settling up possible – and any partial settling up
could be misleading.
Subjectivity seems to be a problem that is inherent to risk reporting. It may pose difficulties for
preparers in assessing the quality of their own risk reporting, and will certainly make it more
difficult for users to know whether they are being provided with useful information.
With the benefit of hindsight, risk reporting will sometimes appear to have been incomplete
or wrong in the sense that a firm may be hit by a risk that it had not mentioned or that it had
stated to be under control. So firms will get blamed for allegedly poor risk reporting when things
go wrong (see Panel 3.1 for an illustration). But they will not get credit where credit is due for
identifying relevant risks. For if a firm is not adversely affected by a risk that it mentions, this
may appear to mean that it was wrong to have mentioned it. The risk may have been real, even
though it was not realised; indeed, it may not have been realised because the firm managed it
well. But all that readers of the report will know is that managers pointed to a danger that did
not materialise. Managers therefore appear to have got things wrong, even though they may
have got things right.
Panel 3.1: Questioning the usefulness of risk reporting – BP
When something goes badly wrong at a firm, it is easy to be critical of its risk reporting, which
– for any firm – is unlikely to indicate that anything is actually expected to go badly wrong.
Banks’ risk reporting before the financial crisis may be seen as one example of this. Another
example is BP. An article in the Financial Times21 quotes these remarks by an authority on
corporate social responsibility reporting: ‘Nothing in BP’s reporting would have given the
vaguest signs that the Deepwater Horizon disaster was an issue and would have the impacts
that it did’.

 atherine M. Schrand and John A. Elliott, ‘Risk and financial reporting: a summary of the discussion at the
C
AAA/FASB conference’.
21
Mike Scott, ‘Putting people, planet and profit into the annual report’.
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Panel 3.1: Questioning the usefulness of risk reporting – BP (continued)
The 2009 BP annual report, which was published shortly before the disaster, lists 25 risk factors
and states that ‘If any of these risks occur … [o]ur business, financial condition and results of
operations could suffer and the trading price and liquidity of our securities could decline.’
One of the operational risks identified is process safety. On this the report states:
‘Inherent in our operations are hazards that require continuous oversight and
control. There are risks of technical integrity failure and loss of containment
of hydrocarbons and other hazardous material at operating sites or
pipelines. Failure to manage these risks could result in injury or loss of life,
environmental damage, or loss of production and could result in regulatory
action, legal liability and damage to our reputation.’
In the light of what happened subsequently, this seems to be a reasonable statement of the
risks involved. It is true that, as the quotation in the article points out, there is no quantification
of possible losses, but this is presumably because it would be impossible to provide a sensible
quantification in advance of the event. The loss depends on how bad the spill is, where exactly
it takes place, and what its effects are.
BP’s report also states that ‘We continue to show our ability to take on and manage risk, doing
the difficult things that others either can’t do or choose not to do.’ No doubt this statement
was true across the great majority of the firm’s operations, despite the events of 2010 at one
of them. But a firm that takes on risks that other firms won’t is, on the face of it, a riskier firm.
An alternative angle on the problem is that ‘the results of how well [companies] manage …
risks [are] evident from the financial results’.22 In other words, the ex post settling up is in the
accounts. This is an interesting point of view and, in the long run, has something to be said for
it. The problem is that, in risk management even more than in other matters, past performance
is not a reliable guide to the future. And unfortunately, as it is often a matter of chance whether a
particular risk materialises, good risk management and bad risk management may look identical
in terms of short-term financial performance. Indeed, as good risk management is likely to be
more expensive, in the short term it will often produce worse financial results than poor risk
management. If the risk in question eventually materialises, the good risk managers will be
vindicated, but if it does not, they will simply appear to have misjudged matters.
The subjectivity of risk reporting also places constraints on its auditability and on the enforceability
of risk reporting requirements (but see Panel 3.2 below). As one academic paper puts it, risk
reporting may be mandatory, but ‘the quality of risk disclosures remains largely voluntary’.23
These constraints must also reduce the reliance that can be placed on risk reporting.
Overall, the fact that there is no ex post settling up, only limited auditability and enforceability,
and therefore no way of distinguishing good risk reporting from bad risk reporting, must limit
its usefulness.
Panel 3.2: The UK approach to risk reporting enforcement
Regulatory authorities in the UK have recently adopted a tougher approach to enforcing
qualitative risk disclosure requirements. This is of broader interest, partly because the statutory
requirements in the UK derive from EU legislation and are therefore similar to those in the rest
of the EU, but also because the approach adopted raises important issues about the potential
effectiveness of risk disclosure requirements in all jurisdictions. Hitherto, it has been widely
thought that the quality of descriptive risk disclosures is to a large extent inevitably voluntary.
In the US the SEC has tried to improve the quality of risk reporting by cracking down on
generic disclosures (see Section 3.4), but it does not yet appear to have been successful.
The UK requirement for risk disclosure is that a firm’s business review in the directors’ report
‘must contain … a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company’
(s417(3), Companies Act 2006). This is virtually identical to the wording in the relevant EU
Directive (see Appendix 1, Section A1.2).

Philip Linsley and Philip Shrives, ‘Risk management and reporting risk in the UK’. This perspective is put
forward as one that managers may well take, rather than the authors’ own view.
23
Todd Kravet and Volkan Muslu, Informativeness of Risk Disclosures in Corporate Annual Reports.
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Panel 3.2: The UK approach to risk reporting enforcement (continued)
On 1 February 2011 the UK’s Financial Reporting Review Panel issued a press release,
‘The Financial Reporting Review Panel highlights challenges in the reporting of principal risks
and uncertainties’, listing risk reporting issues on which the Panel has ‘challenged a number
of companies’. While in several respects the issues listed in the 1 February 2011 press release
might appear to go beyond the way in which the Companies Act’s requirements have hitherto
been understood, this is because the Panel’s approach is not based solely on the requirement
to report principal risks and uncertainties. It also relies on the broader business review
requirement ‘to inform the members of the company and help them assess how the directors
have performed their duty ... to promote the success of the company’ (s417(2)).
The points on which the Panel has challenged companies include:
•	‘The directors’ report does not clearly identify which risks and uncertainties the directors
believe to be the principal ones facing the business.’
•	‘A long list of principal risks and uncertainties is given and the list raises a question as to
whether all the risks and uncertainties on the list are actually principal ones.’ The Panel
adds that in considering whether a risk is a principal one, a relevant question would be
‘have the risks and uncertainties listed as principal been the subject of recent discussions
at board or audit committee meetings?’
•	‘The description given of a risk or uncertainty is in generic terms and it is not clear how
that risk or uncertainty applies to the company’s circumstances.’ A relevant question
here would be ‘Is the description of each principal risk and uncertainty sufficient for
shareholders to understand … how it might affect the company?’
•	‘The principal risks and uncertainties disclosed are not consistent with other information
given in the report and accounts.’ A relevant question here would be ‘are there significant
risks and uncertainties discussed elsewhere [in the report and accounts] which do not
appear on the list?’
•	‘The directors’ report does not state how the company manages its principal risks and
uncertainties.’

3.3 Costs exceed perceived benefits
3.3.1 Competitive costs
There are also positive disincentives to full disclosure of risks. Indeed, risk reporting creates its own
risks and so needs to be undertaken by preparers, and interpreted by users, as an exercise in risk
management.
One disincentive identified by researchers is the competitive costs of disclosure – usually referred
to as ‘proprietary costs’. A proprietary cost is any loss to the company, whether through increased
costs or reduced income, attributable to competitors’ actions. And in a competitive economy
there is often a trade-off between transparency and profitability.
Risk management techniques and perceptions of risk are both sources of competitive advantage
to firms. Imagine two firms that have different perceptions of the risk involved in a particular
project. One sees it as relatively high risk while the other sees it as relatively low risk. Each firm’s
perception of the risks associated with the project is potentially valuable information to the other
firm, especially if one of the firms is regarded as better at assessing risks. If the firm that is better
at assessing risks discloses that it rates the risks relatively highly, this may put the other firm off
risks that it would otherwise take (thereby saving the second firm, a competitor, from self-inflicted
damage). If the firm that is better at assessing risks discloses that it rates the risks relatively lowly,
this may encourage the other firm to take risks that it would otherwise avoid (thereby inflicting
competitive damage on the first firm). So it may make sense for firms’ risk disclosures to be vague
and uninformative.
Firms compete on their ability to assess risks, but they also compete on their ability to manage
risks. Again, informative risk management disclosures by a firm that is good at risk management
are a free gift to its competitors. An obvious solution is for the firm to make uninformative
disclosures.
One theoretical study on risk disclosures argues that firms that would benefit from making them
will do so under a voluntary regime. But ‘mandating risk disclosure forces firms that would not
disclose in a voluntary regime to incur disclosure costs’, so ‘firm value falls’.24 Though this point is
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not made in the study, the evidence perhaps suggests that firms minimise involuntary disclosure
costs by making ineffective disclosures.

3.3.2 Costs to managers
Another disincentive to informative risk reporting is the potential cost to managers. This can arise
in two ways. One possibility is that risk disclosures will indicate expectations that fail to be realised,
which creates a risk that managers will be sued for giving misleading forecasts or that their
position in the firm will be weakened (eg, they will be dismissed or their bonuses cut). The other
possibility is that the firm will subsequently be hit by problems that had not been identified as
risks in its external reporting, which again creates a risk that managers’ position will be weakened.
The litigation threat can in principle be met by appropriate safe harbour legislation, as exists in
the US – though this may in turn create fresh difficulties as to the reliability of the information
reported. The problem that risk reporting/non-reporting will threaten managers’ position within
the firm is most likely to be met in practice by disclosures that are carefully worded so as to arouse
no expectations and/or to leave no possible outcome uncovered. Neither approach is conducive
to helpful reporting for users.

3.3.3 No evidence of benefits
A further problem identified at the US discussion of 1997 is that ‘preparers have no evidence
that risk disclosures affect the cost of capital’. We return to this question below (Section 3.8).
If preparers do not see that they have anything to gain from effective risk reporting, this will tend
to encourage a minimal-compliance mindset.
It is also possible that managers are not convinced that reporting risks externally leads to
improvements in their own risk management. Common sense suggests that firms have strong
incentives to manage risks effectively, as poor risk management can cause reduced profits, losses,
or even insolvency. But the proposition has often been advanced that these incentives can be
reinforced by requirements for risk reporting.25 Indeed, it may be thought that common sense
also suggests that disclosure should encourage firms to improve their risk management because:
•	they will not want to disclose that their risk management practices are worse than their
competitors’;
•	on the principle that people manage what they report (an analogous idea to the principle
that they ‘manage what they measure’), reporting risks should focus managers’ attention
on them;26 and
•

it will allow shareholders to oversee risk management practices.

But if, because actual disclosures are vague or not pertinent (Section 3.5), firms with good risk
management and firms with poor risk management practices look much the same, then the
argument would fail as there would be no reliable way of telling from a firm’s risk disclosures how
effective its risk management is.
There does not appear to have been any research to date to show whether external risk reporting
requirements have improved risk management practices, so it would be useful to explore how far
risk reporting does indeed help risk management. Does the need to report externally encourage
managers to devote more attention to risk management? Does it encourage them to limit the
risks that they take?
If the benefits to firms of making informative disclosures do not exceed the costs, this must limit
the likelihood that risk reporting will ever become particularly informative. The paradigm for business
reporting requirements is financial reporting, and people have grown used in this context to being
able to require firms to disclose information that is on the face of it against their interests – eg, losses.
But financial reporting information is relatively objective and verifiable; qualitative risk disclosures
are not. So there may be little scope for tightening up risk reporting requirements so as to compel
firms to make disclosures that damage their own (or their managers’) interests.

 jorn N. Jorgensen and Michael T. Kirschenheiter, ‘Discretionary risk disclosures’.
B
This issue is explored in Laura F. Spira and Michael Page, ‘Regulation by disclosure: the case of internal
control’.
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Philip Linsley, in the specific context of banks, suggests that ‘the crafting of the risk narrative should be
deemed a part of the risk management process – preparation of the risk narrative presents a significant
opportunity for managers to reflect upon and question the perception of risk that permeates the bank’:
UK Bank Risk Disclosures in the Period Through to the Onset of the Global Financial Crisis. And the same
argument would apply, though perhaps less strongly, to other types of business.
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3.4 Generic risk reporting
Generic risk reporting discloses risks common to a number of businesses, which are, eg, in the
same geographical location, the same economy, or the same industry. To the extent that the
reporting simply identifies the existence of such generic risks it is usually regarded as unhelpful
boilerplate. For example, one airline reports that ‘Failure to prevent or respond to a major safety
or security incident could adversely impact our operations and financial performance’ (British
Airways 2009-10 annual report). This is a real and significant risk. But as anyone who is an investor
in airlines is presumably aware of the risk, reporting it will not tell them anything they don’t know
already. So it might be concluded that reporting generic risks only provides useful information
where there is also information specific to the reporting entity, eg, quantification of potential
effects on the firm or specification of measures taken to combat the risk.
But there is also a view that boilerplate disclosures are useful because they show that management
is aware of, and presumably doing something about, the risks listed. If a firm decides not to list
a particular risk because it assumes that everybody already knows about it and that ‘disclosing’ it
would therefore be superfluous boilerplate, readers may draw a different conclusion. They may
think that the risk’s absence from the list indicates that managers are unaware of it or think it
relatively unimportant. Two possible inferences from this are that:
•	It may show that boilerplate risk lists are useful because they allow investors to draw conclusions
about managers’ perceptions and priorities.
•	But it may also show that boilerplate risk lists are potentially dangerous, as they could prompt
investors to draw the wrong conclusions (eg, that managers ignore what they do not report).
Managers concerned by this possibility are likely to disclose all potential risks, even though
this adds to the volume of boilerplate.
Panel 3.3: Negative views on risk reporting
‘Risk factors are looked upon as boilerplate… [They] are almost meant not to be read,
or relied upon’ – Tom Paulli, US IPO analyst, 2005.
Risk factor disclosures are a way of telling investors, ‘Seriously anything can happen…
By investing in our business, you are agreeing that we owe you no duty of care other than
not being crooks. We can promise you nothing else’ – a US corporate counsel, 2006.27
It is tempting to suggest that boilerplate could be avoided by firm-specific quantifications of the
possible effects of particular risks. Unfortunately, the potential effects of most of the risks that
firms disclose in their risk reports are not quantifiable. For example, the pharmaceuticals company
GlaxoSmithKline discloses that ‘when drugs and vaccines are introduced into the marketplace,
unanticipated side effects may become evident’. This may give rise to product liability litigation.
What would be the point in trying to quantify the potential losses from this risk? What would
have been the point in BP’s trying to quantify the potential losses from the Deepwater Horizon
incident before it happened (Panel 3.1)? The potential losses in such cases depend on exactly
what happens and where, and cannot be forecast.
In fact it is likely that the most important risks facing a business will often be the generic ones.
Most of the risks that a business has to deal with derive from the nature of its activities and from
the location of its operations. Firms with similar activities and based in similar locations will face
much the same risks. Generic risk reporting may be boilerplate, but it may also provide the best
description of the key risks the business faces.
If anything, it is perhaps unfortunate that risk reporting is not more generic. Firms with similar
business models sometimes report different principal risks and different mitigating factors because
the identification of which risks and which mitigating factors are worth reporting is a subjective
process. It is therefore possible – even likely – that identical firms will report different lists of
risks and different mitigating factors. The challenge for users is to try to work out whether the
reporting differences indicate significant differences in risks and risk management or are merely
random.

27

 oth quotations appear in John L. Campbell, Hsinchun Chen, Dan S. Dhaliwal, Hsin-min Lu and Logan B.
B
Steele, The Information Content of Mandatory Risk Factor Disclosures in Corporate Filings.
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Panel 3.4: Research on boilerplate
Laura Spira and Michael Page, in ‘Regulation by disclosure: the case of internal control’, note
that ‘while the use of “boilerplate” has generally been deplored, there has been little analysis
of why it occurs’. They suggest a number of reasons why companies adopt boilerplate forms
of wording, and they distinguish ‘boilerplate’ from ‘statements of the obvious’. The latter are
no more (or less) informative than boilerplate, but use original wording rather than copying
somebody else’s. Using original wording, they suggest, can be a mistake as it might arouse
readers’ suspicions.
Tougher enforcement seems unlikely to make a difference. In the US, the SEC has complained that
risk disclosures are ‘too broad and generic’ and told preparers that they should provide disclosures
that are ‘unique to you and your business’. But the outcome of such interventions may well be
longer and fuller generic disclosures.28
Nor are more specific requirements likely to provide a solution to the problem. Another comment
from the 1997 discussion in the US was that ‘the current requirements … are subjective, openended and ambiguous, which allows firms to report almost anything (or nothing) without
violating the requirements.’ This position does not seem to have changed as regards qualitative
disclosures. Indeed, a related conclusion at the same discussion was: ‘Participants agreed that it
is impossible to have a framework for risk selection that is specific about the types of risks that
should be disclosed and at the same time, inclusive of all risks that firms face.’ This suggests that
effective framing of risk reporting requirements will always be problematic.
An alternative view at the same discussion was that ‘allowing managers discretion to choose
which risks to report based on which they believe are significant is, in itself, informative. Risk
selection by managers provides information about firm strategy and, in particular, about the
risks on which managers focus their attention.’ So vague reporting requirements can also be
a benefit.

3.5 Risk management disclosures
Risks are logically distinct from their management, and so reporting risks is different from
reporting how they are managed. But it could be argued that the significance of a firm’s risks
cannot be properly assessed by users of its reporting without knowing how they are managed,
and in practice many companies include risk management information with their risk disclosures.
Measures to deal with risks are also often generic (if not, they will probably be proprietary29)
and, though quantification is frequently impossible, it is often omitted even where it is possible.
One research study30 gives the following examples of risk management disclosures from FTSE 100
companies:
•	‘There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
affecting the business and the policies and procedures by which these risks are managed’.
•	‘The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates and interest rates’.
There is a problem here in that, as far as the managements of these companies are concerned,
their disclosures may well seem to be relevant and useful. But it is difficult to see what users will
get out of the first one, and while the second one may be more useful, it might be still more
useful with some quantification. Does it mean, for example, that the firm’s results are unaffected
by changes in exchange rates and interest rates? If not, how far might future results be affected
by changes in such rates? It is also – to reiterate our earlier point – difficult for users to know how
reliable such statements are. Another research study comments:
‘Nearly all companies explain that they use derivatives to “hedge”. Few admit
to outright speculation, even though the losses some corporations incurred are
prima facie evidence to the contrary.’31

See the example in Sarah Johnson, ‘SEC pushes companies for more risk information’.
 obert S. Kaplan, in ‘Accounting scholarship that advances professional knowledge and practice’, notes that
R
‘Risk management in organizations is highly complex and context-specific’.
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Disclosures on risk management are often a mixture of:
•

position statements, indicating that management takes risk seriously;

•

descriptions of structure, often listing committees and reporting lines; and

•

descriptions of process, explaining what the committees do.

But the effectiveness of a firm’s risk management depends on the quality of its managers, and
this is something that position statements and disclosure of internal structures and procedures
are unlikely to reveal. Reporting on the quality of management is notoriously difficult – because
it is inherently subjective and extremely complex, because managers cannot sensibly be asked
to report on themselves, and because there would be awkward practical consequences if the
reports were negative.
Reporting on the quality of risk management is not exempt from these difficulties. So there is a
danger that requirements for disclosures on the adequacy of risk management will tend to result
in the development of:
•

accepted procedures that can be evidenced; and

•	an implicit convention that such procedures should be regarded as sufficient evidence of the
adequacy of risk management.
Whether risks have in fact been properly managed is something that would in most cases become
clear only after the event, in the results shown by the firm’s financial reporting.
The conclusion (Section 2.4) that banks’ risk reporting before the crisis was misleading because
it reflected their own assessments of risk and these assessments were themselves significantly
mistaken has important implications for risk reporting by firms generally. In particular, it seems
unduly optimistic to have high hopes for better descriptive risk reporting as long as such reporting
is merely a reflection of management’s view of risk. Risk reporting of this sort can be no better
than management’s assessment of risk, and if management gets it wrong, investors will be none
the wiser. Some risk reporting, of course, is not merely a reflection of management’s view of risk
(eg, risk disclosures in financial reporting).
The growth in the demand for risk reporting reflects, among other things, the expansion of
risk management as a discrete activity and growing faith in the efficacy of risk management
techniques. Some consider this faith is misplaced or at least that we know much less about how
to manage risks than is commonly assumed (see Panel 3.5).
Panel 3.5: Doubts about risk management
The economist John Kay, in an article in the Financial Times, ‘Don’t blame luck when your
models misfire’, writes that:
‘[T]he search for objective means of controlling risks that can reliably be
monitored externally is as fruitless as the quest to turn base metal into
gold. Like the alchemists and the quacks, the risk modellers have created
an industry whose intense technical debates with each other lead gullible
outsiders to believe that this is a profession with genuine expertise.’
In ‘The risk management of nothing’, Michael Power suggests that:
‘[T]he growth of risk management from the mid-1990s onwards … was less
about managing risk as it is formally understood and more about creating
organizational rhythms of accountability, and auditable representations of
due process’.
Power focuses on the ‘near theological belief’ in enterprise risk management (ERM), especially
the template for ERM provided by COSO – the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. He notes that this ERM model ‘is strongly, if not exclusively, influenced
by accounting and auditing norms of control, with an emphasis on process description and
evidence’.
The motivation for Power’s paper is the evident failure of risk management in the run up to
the financial crisis. He suggests that ERM led to a ‘rule-based compliance’ approach to risk
management, with ‘regulations to be met, and … extensive evidence, audit trails and box
“checking”’. This approach can be seen as ‘a defence against anxiety’ that allows organizations
to assure themselves and others that their risks are being effectively managed.
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Panel 3.5: Doubts about risk management (continued)
Robert S. Kaplan, in ‘Accounting scholarship that advances professional knowledge and
practice’, notes that much work is currently being done by COSO and others ‘to promulgate
rules and standards on companies’ risk management practices’. He then poses the presumably
rhetorical questions:
‘Is the practice of risk management sufficiently stable, mature, and
understood that now is a good time to develop risk standards and
regulations? Or is it better for companies to innovate and experiment with
different risk management approaches before regulators standardize and
codify practices?’
An alternative approach to risk management disclosures involves distinguishing between
manageable risks and unmanageable risks. For unmanageable risks, what is required is some
measure of financial or operational strength or a disaster recovery procedure – features that we
may describe as ‘resilience’. In some ways, disclosures on how well a firm would be able to cope
with unmanageable risks are more interesting than information about its procedures for dealing
with manageable risks. For example, long explanations by a bank about how it manages risk
might be less informative than information about its financial resilience, as this shows its ability to
cope with both theoretically manageable risks and the unmanageable ones (which may turn out
to include the supposedly manageable ones).
Resilience is not typically related to specific risks and their management. Indeed, the fact that it
does not require specific risks to be identified in advance is an advantage. It allows firms to cope
with losses or cash calls or physical disasters regardless of their precise origin. Before the financial
crisis, growing faith in banks’ ability to manage risks was accompanied by a deliberate reduction
in their financial resilience – as shown in their capital ratios. As the crisis has dented confidence in
the effectiveness of risk management techniques, there has been a renewed interest in resilience.

3.6 Inevitable limitations
Investors need to be aware that there are key risks that will never be disclosed by the firms in
which they invest, but which may well prove to be the most important of all. For example, a
major risk in most businesses is poor management decisions. It seems probable, to give a topical
illustration, that some leading banks had to be rescued in the financial crisis because they made
important acquisitions either before or during the crisis without performing full due diligence
on the targets. Others did not have to be rescued because, while they tried to make the same
mistakes, they were lucky enough to be outbid. No firm’s disclosures are likely to include warnings
of this sort of risk – though in the US firms do warn that ‘acquisitions may have an adverse effect
on our business’.
An investor’s list of key risks that will never be reported might well include:
•

 oor management decisions. Past success is no guarantee against making poor decisions.
P
Indeed, the more successful managers have been, the greater the risk of hubris.

•

‘It never occurred to us this could happen.’ Businesses are often sunk by the risks they
are unaware of or consider insignificant. Risk reporting will not capture these – though some
firms point out that, eg, ‘Additional risks not presently known to us, or that we currently
deem immaterial, may also impact our business’ (Vodafone 2009-10 annual report).

•

 egime risks. A firm that has made a major investment in a country with a corrupt or
R
unstable regime is unlikely to provide, in its public reporting, a frank assessment of the
risks involved.

There are other risks that firms may well recognise, but are liable to underestimate. Prominent
among these are:
•

Competition. Every firm is confident in public that it can cope with the competition.

•

Technical change. This can make firms’ business models unexpectedly obsolete.

•

Changes in demand. Changes in consumer tastes and fashions are difficult to predict.

•

Legal risks. Future changes in the law can be difficult to predict and incidents that give rise to
major litigation are often unexpected.
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•	Forces of nature. Every year there are earthquakes, hurricanes, floods or droughts that are, in
the affected areas, ‘the worst since records began’. Why would people expect something that
they have never experienced?
•	Unprecedented events. It’s not just natural events that are unprecedented. The financial
crisis – or elements of it – also seemed to be unprecedented. For example, those who invested
in subprime mortgages comforted themselves with the reflection that – across the US as a
whole, as opposed to in specific parts of it – for at least 60 years there had never been a fall
in domestic property values.32
•

 are events. In some business activities there seems to be an inbuilt tendency to underestimate
R
the likelihood of rare events, which can have disastrous consequences. This may be particularly
so in finance where probabilities are sometimes calculated on the basis of relatively short
(often unusually stable or benign) periods of experience.33

•

 ystemic risks. While managers may be able to forecast and manage risks that are specific
S
to their business, it is much more difficult for them either to forecast or to manage systemic
risks. These can only be understood, provided for, and reported on by those who have a good
overview of the system as a whole.

•	Connected risks. It is difficult for managers to understand in advance how risks are
connected. Systemic risks are a specific and potentially extreme case of such connectedness.
•

 eputational risk. Before the E.coli outbreak of May 2011, Spanish growers can hardly
R
have taken into account the risks to their business from inaccurate statements by the
German government. Equally, trivial events, if they are picked up by the media, can have a
disproportionate effect on a firm’s reputation. Firms underestimate the risks precisely because
the effects can be so disproportionate that they are unpredictable.34

•

 olitical risks. People tend to assume that the world, or at any rate the more prosperous parts
P
of it, will remain stable and peaceful. History shows that wars and political instability are not
unusual, but are often a surprise.

The business reporting of risks cannot be expected to cope successfully with these very significant
issues. The real world of business is always likely to be riskier than risk reporting will convey. In
general, this bias towards optimism may be no bad thing as a completely realistic appraisal of risks
might have an unduly dampening effect on entrepreneurial activity.35
There are also other risks for which individual firms are unlikely to be the best sources of information.
For example, the fortunes of every firm are dependent to a greater or lesser degree on the
business cycle, but forecasts of the level of business activity are best obtained from professional
forecasters rather than from firms’ business reporting. Similarly, as noted above, no individual
firm’s risk reporting is likely to provide a good view of systemic risks. This information needs to
be provided by a body that can take an overview of the system – presumably a financial stability
regulator or similar organisation.

3.7 Users’ responses to risk information
It seems likely that professional investors will often understand the business models of the firms
that they invest in, including the risks that they involve. So it should not in general be expected
that lists of principal risks would provide investors with new information, unless the investor had
not previously understood the firm’s business model. Investors’ understanding of risk will draw
on information from a number of sources and will not depend purely on the disclosures made
by the managers of the firm in which they invest or are considering as an investment. Managers
have inevitable limitations in their knowledge, biases in their expectations and incentives that

Michael Lewis, The Big Short, p89.
 assim Nicholas Taleb draws attention to this tendency in Fooled by Randomness and, at greater length, in
N
The Black Swan. In a diagram representing a probability distribution, the parts of the distribution showing
the probabilities of extreme positive and negative outcomes are the ‘tails’. Risk from rare events is therefore
sometimes referred to as ‘tail risk’. Where the probabilities of extreme positive or negative outcomes are
higher than in a normal distribution, the distribution is said to have ‘fat tails’. Fat tails seem to be common
in probability distributions of changes in market prices.
34
The best known example in the UK is Gerald Ratner’s jokey, disparaging remarks in 1991 about some of his
jewellery company’s products. This severely damaged the business and led it to change its name from Ratners
Group to Signet Group, as well as to Mr Ratner’s departure.
35
Frank Knight suggests that a measure of optimism is essential to entrepreneurial activity. An entrepreneur
always believes that ‘he can make productive services yield more than the price fixed upon them by what
other persons think they can make them yield’: Risk, Uncertainty, and Profit, p281.
32
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affect their disclosures. Sensible investors make allowances for this, diversify their sources of
information and look for checks on the information provided by managers (a form of risk
management by the investor).
Firms’ risk disclosures are therefore made to an audience that already has expectations as to what
they will contain. The question for investors is always: does this information confirm what I thought
or does it contain a surprise? As different investors will have different degrees of knowledge and
different objectives in using risk information, their reactions to risk disclosures are also likely to be
highly varied.
Where investors do encounter information about a risk that they had not previously considered,
it will probably be difficult for them to know how to reflect it in their own decisions. Possible
reactions are:
•	concluding that the new information is insignificant – ie, ignoring it;
•	reflecting it in their valuation of the firm – which will be a subjective matter, as the risk will
almost certainly be unquantifiable; or
•	deciding that the new information significantly changes their view of the firm, such that they
no longer wish to invest in it.
This last category is worth a further look. What sort of information might have such consequences?
One type of information that might have this effect would be something leading the investor to
the conclusion that the firm’s management is untrustworthy. Another might be the emergence of
a significant and previously unsuspected litigation risk (eg, to take historical examples, asbestosis
for the asbestos industry or the discovery that smoking can cause lung cancer). Another might
be the unexpected emergence of significant political risks or of major technological changes that
would make a firm’s products redundant. These are all major risks that could well have significant
effects on an investor’s decisions. However, they are not the sort of risks about which investors
would expect to be informed, in the first place, by the firm itself.
On the other hand, investors who would not otherwise understand a firm’s business model
may well learn a good deal about it from the firm’s descriptive risk reporting. An investor may
understand a firm’s business model up to a point, but find that risk disclosures usefully deepen his
understanding. And different investors will no doubt have very different levels of understanding
of such things. Investors are not born with the knowledge that oil firms face losses if they are
responsible for oil spills or that pharmaceuticals companies face litigation if their products harm
people. No doubt for such investors the risk reports that they read are, when they first read them,
useful and informative. Even the best-informed investors start off uninformed and have to get
their education from somewhere.

3.8 The cost of capital problem
The research evidence available to date does not show conclusively that risk reporting in general
either reduces or raises the cost of capital. This problem is not unique to risk disclosures. It is
difficult to demonstrate a link between any particular disclosure and the cost of capital. However,
it is at least worth considering the possibility that increased risk disclosures might not reduce
firms’ cost of capital.
The theoretical case in favour of the proposition that risk reporting reduces the cost of capital is,
as we stated earlier (Section 1.1), that it reduces information asymmetries,36 therefore reduces
investors’ uncertainties, and therefore reduces the return that investors will demand to compensate
them for uncertainty. A lower return to investors translates into a lower cost of capital for business.
What are the arguments on the other side, in favour of the proposition that risk disclosures do not
reduce the cost of capital? There seem to be four possible reasons why this might be the case:
•	The disclosure is not news. Investors have an understanding of the business they invest in
– its model and its risks – even in the absence of specific risk disclosures by the business. It is
quite possible that lists of risks in the company’s annual report add nothing useful to what
investors know already. Indeed, it could be argued that if the first time investors learn of a
significant risk is when they read the annual report, there has been a significant failure in
communication.

36

As we noted in Chapter 1, this also involves reducing investors’ estimation risks.
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•	The disclosure is irrelevant. Typical disclosures on risk management – position statements,
descriptions of structure and process – do not seem relevant to helping investors decide how
well the risks are managed.
•	The disclosure is not credible. Management disclosures can achieve credibility either
through independent verification or through the managers’ establishing a track record for
reliability. Lists of principal risks are not independently verifiable at the time (because they
are too subjective) and not verifiable by subsequent experience (because there is no ex post
settling up), so managers cannot establish a reputation for credible risk disclosures.
 he disclosure is bad news. If, contrary to the point made above, a risk disclosure is genuine
T
news to investors (and relevant and credible), it may be bad news in the sense that it leads
investors to conclude that the business is riskier than they had realised. This would tend to
increase the cost of capital. Relevant and credible risk disclosures may not always be bad news,
of course, but managerial incentives tend to encourage them towards getting good news
into the market, while hoping that bad news will go away. So if risk disclosure requirements
compel managers to disclose risks that they would not otherwise have reported, these risks
are more likely to be bad news than good news. Some of the research evidence points to risk
disclosures being taken as bad news by the market, and so increasing the cost of capital.

•

This analysis does not apply to all disclosures that are relevant to an assessment of risk. For example,
analyses of income or assets (eg, showing concentrations on particular sectors or customers) or
segmental analyses of results probably provide users with new, credible and relevant information
for the assessment of risk. It may therefore have the desired effects of reducing investors’
uncertainties (though it may also increase their assessment of the firm’s risks) and allowing them
to make a more confident assessment of the risks of a particular investment. However, such
information is not what people usually have in mind when they talk about risk reporting, which
is descriptive risk lists.

3.9 Realistic expectations
Perhaps the most important challenge for risk reporting comes from the high expectations that
surround it. These have been building up for decades, but have been intensified by the financial
crisis. They are legitimate, but may well be disappointed.
One academic writer on risk reporting concludes:
‘In a voluntary disclosure regime, risk reports will be of poor value for the
investors first of all because the forward-looking information disclosed is nonverifiable at an ex ante stage. This allows for discretion and manipulation, and
cannot be overcome, but [may be] slightly limited by regulation. Mandatory
risk disclosure does not necessarily change the results obtained under voluntary
disclosure. In consequence, consistent with empirical findings the value of
risk reporting for its users must not be overestimated.’ He adds that his paper
implies that ‘the value of risk reporting is generally overestimated’.37
To some extent this perhaps reflects a broader problem. This is the usefulness (or lack of it) of
many qualitative forward-looking disclosures, whether about risk specifically, or about the firm’s
plans and prospects in a more general sense. Again, great faith has been placed in the efficacy of
such disclosures in recent decades and they have grown enormously in volume, but it remains to
be shown how useful they are. The evidence suggests that, for forward-looking disclosures generally,
the quantified and verifiable tend to be more useful than the qualitative and unverifiable.38
Because none of us has perfect foresight, all forward-looking information is liable to be falsified by
subsequent events. Even the best risk reporting will not save investors and others from unpleasant
surprises. Donald Rumsfeld’s famous comments on uncertainty are a succinct summary of the
position:
‘There are known knowns; there are things we know we know. We also know
there are known unknowns; that is to say we know there are some things we do
not know. But there are also unknown unknowns – the ones we don’t know we
don’t know’ (press conference, 12 February 2002).
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 ichael Dobler, How Informative Is Risk Reporting? A Review of Disclosure Models.
M
See Saverio Bozzolan, Marco Trombetta and Sergio Beretta, ‘Forward-looking disclosures, financial verifiability
and analysts’ forecasts: a study of cross-listed European firms’.
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Users of risk reporting need to recognise its limitations. Sensible investors will use other sources
of information to make their own assessments of, for example, political risks. They will not expect
a realistic public estimate of the risks of doing business in Country X from the managers of a
business that is heavily invested there. But they have a right to expect full disclosure of how much
of the firm’s business is done there, how much capital it has there, and how much of its profits are
made there. All this information should appear in the firm’s quantitative disclosures. Investors can
then make their own assessments of the firm’s risks and make their own decisions as to whether –
or at what price – they are willing to invest their own money in such a firm or whether, if they are
already investors in the firm, a stewardship intervention would be appropriate.
If expectations of risk reporting are unrealistic then, even if the reporting of business risks
improves along the lines that we suggest in the next chapter, people will still be disappointed
by it. So before any recommendations for change are put into effect, there is a need to consider
what can be learnt from the experience of risk reporting to date and to reflect these lessons in
realistic expectations of what it can achieve in the future.

3.10 Chapter summary
We identify five main reasons why the usefulness of risk reporting by businesses across different
sectors sometimes seems to be in doubt:
•	It is impossible to know even after the event whether most qualitative, and some quantitative,
risk reporting is accurate or inaccurate. This must limit the reliance that users can place on it.
•	There are often competitive costs to informative risk disclosures and they also have potential
costs for managers. These costs may exceed the perceived benefits of risk reporting, leading
to uninformative disclosures. Indeed, risk reporting creates its own risks and so needs to be
undertaken by preparers, and interpreted by users, as an exercise in risk management.
•	It may well be appropriate to comply with requirements for the provision of risk lists by
making generic disclosures, even though they will be seen as boilerplate.
•	The effectiveness of a firm’s risk management depends on the quality of its managers, and
this is something that statements of the company’s attitude to risk and disclosures of internal
structures and procedures are unlikely to reveal.
•	There are some risks that firms will never report and others that they are always liable to
understate.
For many users, therefore, risk lists may provide little if any useful new information. When they
do provide new information, it may be difficult for users to know how to reflect it in their own
decisions.
Because of the problems with risk reporting that we have identified, it is unclear whether
improved risk disclosures actually reduce the cost of capital, as had been hoped. It is possible that
they increase the cost of capital.
In the final chapter of this report, we suggest seven principles for better risk reporting by businesses.
But even if these principles are adopted, people will still be disappointed by risk reporting if their
expectations for it are unrealistic. With the benefit of hindsight, people often wonder why firms
failed to foresee problems ahead and they tend to forget that the future is always full of unknowns,
including ‘unknown unknowns’. Investors need to recognise the inevitable limitations of risk
reporting and so have realistic expectations of how much it can achieve.
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4.	The way forward
How can risk reporting be improved? We need to know
more about what users want from it and how they use it.
We need to recognise the strengths of financial reporting
as a source of information about risk. And we can improve
how risk information is presented and delivered.
Perhaps less ‘risk reporting’ would mean better
information about risks?

4. 	The way forward

4.1 Better risk reporting
While perfection in risk reporting will never be achieved, it should be possible to improve it, and
in this chapter we suggest how it could be improved. Risk reporting is, after all, still a relatively
new phenomenon as a deliberate activity, and we should not be too dismayed that it has proved
to be difficult. The way forward that we suggest may result in less in annual reports that is labelled
as ‘risk reporting’. But annual reports should not be viewed as the sole source of reporting on risks
and in some respects they are far from ideal for this purpose. As we noted in an earlier publication
in the Information for Better Markets series39, the annual report forms only a fraction of a firm’s
total reporting, and is perhaps more useful as a work of reference than as a way of transmitting
important new information.
To a large extent, where information about risk continues to appear in the annual report, it should
be integrated with other disclosures. And perhaps the most useful information will appear in the
financial statements. The result of our proposals, therefore, might well be less ‘risk reporting’, but
the communication of better information about risk – which should be the real objective.
In recent years firms have made efforts to think more carefully about how to improve their risk
reporting and this has resulted, at least in some cases, in new approaches to disclosure. For
example:
‘In 2010, Barclays stood back to consider how our principal risk disclosure
could be more informative. Ideally, this disclosure should summarise the key
risk exposures and link to other parts of the annual report that provide further
analysis. In the interests of clarity and conciseness, we used a tabular format to
present information on the following areas:
•

the nature of the risk including the events or circumstances that led to it;

•

the process in place to manage the risk; and

•	how the risk currently affects Barclays, making specific reference to the
most significant risk areas and how they are mitigated.’40
We believe that it would be helpful to put forward some ideas of potentially general application,
and we therefore suggest seven principles for better risk reporting:
•

tell users what they need to know (Section 4.2);

•

focus on quantitative information (Section 4.3);

•

integrate into other disclosures (Section 4.4);

•

think beyond the annual reporting cycle (Section 4.5);

•

keep lists of principal risks short (Section 4.6);

•

highlight current concerns (Section 4.7); and

•

report on risk experience (Section 4.8).

It is important to have practical solutions to the problem of how to improve risk reporting. Risk
reporting requirements vary widely among different jurisdictions, and so it would be impractical
to put forward improvements to them that would have general validity. In any case, and perhaps
more importantly, the evidence suggests that risk reporting requirements often have only limited
effectiveness.
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 evelopments in New Reporting Models, Chapter 1.
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For these reasons, we do not propose new or tougher regulation of risk reporting. The seven
principles are purely points for consideration by those interested in improving risk reporting and
by preparers of corporate reporting information. They are intended to apply to public companies
in all sectors. (We use the term ‘public companies’ to refer internationally to what are commonly
known in the UK as ‘listed companies’.)

4.2 Tell users what they need to know
Users of corporate reporting want information about a company’s risks so that they can make their
own assessment of risk. Companies should focus on this objective in deciding what to disclose.
Companies should know what is of interest to their users. As the Financial Reporting Council
points out:
‘The company is best placed to know what users of annual reports and
financial statements are interested in – because it is the board of directors and
management that have direct contact with investors, analysts and other users of
the annual report and the financial statements.’41
Across the market as a whole, though, relatively little is known about what information users
find helpful in making their own risk assessments, so it would also be useful to investigate this.
The investigation should look at how risk disclosures are integrated into users’ analyses of firms’
prospects rather than be a sort of beauty contest where users are asked to judge risk reports – an
exercise that can end up focusing on characteristics other than usefulness. The research should
also show how risk reporting is reflected in users’ outputs or decisions. Better risk reporting
should, for example, be reflected in better identification of risks in analysts’ reports on companies.
It would be useful to see how far analysts’ risks match those identified by the companies
themselves and to understand how analysts form their views on risk.42
Different users have different information needs and different views on which sources are most
useful in meeting these needs, so understanding users’ needs may give unclear or conflicting
pointers as to what needs to be done. But the exercise should be helpful none the less, even
though decisions would then have to be taken as to which specific needs it would be easiest and
most useful to meet, and how best to do it.
It may also be useful to pay special attention to the information that credit-rating agencies and
regulators find most helpful, as their job is to assess risk. They are interested in a special type of
risk, though: the probability of default. And both groups have access to private information. Other
users, reliant on public information, may be interested in risk more broadly understood; however,
they will also be interested in the probability of default.
One interesting question to pursue as part of this inquiry might well be: how do some firms
avoid being criticised for boilerplate? Are they omitting risks that they assume readers of their
reports will already be aware of? Are there special features of their business model that give rise
to idiosyncratic risks? Are they able to make useful, firm-specific disclosures about risk without
incurring proprietary costs?
Panel 4.1: Potentially useful disclosures
We set out below a number of potential risk disclosures by firms. It would be useful to know
how far they would help to meet investors’ needs, and companies might experiment with
disclosures such as these and see whether users find them helpful:
•

Insurance cover. This would indicate in one respect the extent to which potential risks
have been mitigated by management action, and might also provide useful information as
to which risks management considers most serious.

•

 hether particular risks are growing or diminishing. While it may be impossible to
W
measure most risks, managers probably have a view on whether they are getting better
or worse.43

F inancial Reporting Council, Effective Company Stewardship: Next Steps.
Another source of information for the inquiry could be submissions to regulators and standard-setters
from representative groups of users, although it may not always be clear from these submissions how the
information requested would be used.
43
This disclosure is advocated in PricewaterhouseCoopers, Guide to Forward-Looking Information.
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Panel 4.1: Potentially useful disclosures (continued)
•

 hether the firm’s risk appetite is growing or diminishing. Calls for firms to disclose
W
their risk appetite are common at present, but it is not clear how a firm can usefully
describe to outsiders what its risk appetite is. Every firm wishes to convey the message that
is both eager to seize opportunities and appropriately cautious in doing so. However, while
it may be impossible to measure risk appetite, managers should know whether the firm is
becoming more risk averse or more risk seeking.

•	The firm’s internal discount rate or required rate of return. This could give a measure
of the firm’s risk appetite. The argument is that, as higher returns usually mean higher risks,
the higher a firm’s required rate of return, the higher its implied risk appetite. On the other
hand, sharply discounting future income could be a sign of risk aversion.
•	Key risk indicators (KRIs). A recent publication from COSO44 gives examples of KRIs for
use by management, but similar – though probably less detailed – KRIs might also be used
for corporate reporting purposes. Examples include:
•	For a ‘buffet-style restaurant chain [that] monitors gas prices to identify sales and
profitability trends that may signal the need for modifications to sales strategies’ useful
KRIs might be: ‘Trends in per-gallon gasoline prices in the chain’s geographic markets’
and ‘Trends in oil futures prices’.
•	For a ‘regional grocery store chain [that] seeks to grow earnings by adding new stores
in Northern Virginia and Washington, DC area’ useful KRIs might include: ‘Employment
outlook for federal government agencies and government supportive businesses’ and
‘Consumer spending trends in Washington, DC area’.
•

 tress testing. Going concern disclosures could be made more useful by stating how
S
the going concern assumption was tested.

There is a view that users are really interested not in the identification of risks, but in knowing that
risks are being properly managed. If correct, this should give a different slant to risk reporting,
although it would also raise problems because of the difficulties in providing credible and relevant
information on risk management (see 3.5 above).
Another view is that users do not in fact pay any attention to what is labelled as risk reporting as
they know that it is of no value. It would be interesting to investigate this claim and see whether
this is indeed the view of some users.45 To the extent that it is true, it might fit with a hypothesis
that demands for better risk reporting come more from regulators and other authorities rather
than from users. However, if some users do regard risk reporting as unhelpful, it may also be
because of the way in which risk lists are often presented, without appropriate contextual
information.
An outcome of the proposed research may well be best practice examples that companies can
look to when they prepare their own reports. In the UK, the ASB’s operating and financial review
guidance already includes useful hypothetical examples, but illustrations of instances that have
actually been shown to be useful would be even better.46
What can firms do now? Firms that want to improve their risk reporting now could ask the users
of their own corporate reporting how their risk disclosures could be improved.

4.3 Focus on quantitative information
There is a perception that risk reporting is primarily something that belongs outside the financial
statements. This is because the explicit risk reporting in annual reports typically appears in
qualitative lists of risks. But as we pointed out in No Surprises, there is a good deal of risk reporting
within financial statements, even if it is not labelled as risk reporting.
•	Geographical analyses of activities imply different risks for each location in terms of, eg,
varying growth prospects, political risks, and currency risks.

Mark S. Beasley, Bruce C. Branson and Bonnie V. Hancock, Developing Key Risk Indicators to Strengthen
Enterprise Risk Management.
45
Santhosh Abraham, Claire Marston and Phil Darby, Risk Reporting: Clarity, Relevance and Location, suggests
that it is.
46
The publications at PricewaterhouseCoopers’ corporatereporting.com website include useful examples of
best practice risk reporting.
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•	Sectoral analyses of activities imply different risks in terms of, eg, market growth, competition,
and technological change.
•

In general, any disaggregation of information within the accounts assists in risk assessment.47

•	Every asset on the balance sheet has implicit risks as regards the recoverability of the amount
at which it is stated. The nature of these risks varies from asset to asset. The reported amount
of an asset could also be seen as setting a limit to the possible loss on it, and therefore as a
measurement of risk.48
•	Every liability on the balance sheet and every commitment not on the balance sheet carries
implicit risks as to whether the firm will be able to settle it and, in the case of liabilities that
are provisions, whether it will prove to be more expensive than currently expected. Unlike
measurements of assets, the reported amount of a provision does not mark an upper limit
to the potential loss that it represents. The measurements of provisions that appear in the
balance sheet depend on probabilistic assessments of future events, as is also the case for the
recoverable amounts of many assets.
•	Financial reporting is full of information that equity investors and lenders use in considering
risk: for example, the profit or loss and trends in profit or loss; net assets and trends in net
assets; dividend cover and trends in dividend cover; interest cover and trends in interest
cover; the gearing ratio and trends in the ratio; the current asset ratio and trends in the ratio;
cash flows, the composition of cash flows, and trends in cash flows; and so on. As there is a
presumed link between risk and return, if a firm’s financial reporting shows that it is earning
higher returns, this may in itself be evidence of higher risks.
Financial reporting therefore carries a great deal of information about risk even in the absence
of explicit risk reporting (see the research referred to at Appendix 3, Sections A3.7-A3.9). There
may also be extensive disclosures within financial reporting that are more clearly about risk – for
example, disclosures under IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, information on contingent
liabilities and contingent assets, or disclosures about going concern uncertainties.
From the point of view of investors, the great merit of quantitative disclosures in financial
reporting, and to a lesser extent (because the disclosures may not be audited) elsewhere in
a firm’s reporting, is that most of them do not set out to provide management’s view of risk.
Instead, they provide the raw materials for investors to make their own assessments of risk.
They also have other advantages: they are more likely to be checkable and capable of being
standardised.
We suggest that, in future, more emphasis should be given to the role that the financial
statements already play in risk reporting, and to identifying where incremental risk information
can be brought within their scope. However, there may well be proprietary costs involved in
disclosures of this sort.
The production of quantitative data is typically easier for financial instruments than for other
assets and liabilities, and therefore for financial than for non-financial companies. And even
though banks already provide large amounts of financial disclosures related to risk, there may
still be scope for improvement. For example, with the benefit of hindsight, what more detailed
quantitative information on banks’ assets, liabilities and commitments would have been helpful
ahead of the financial crisis? And have these changes subsequently been picked up through
compliance with Basel II Pillar 3 requirements or by changes in these requirements or in
accounting standards?
The stress tests organised by banking and insurance supervisors also provide valuable information
about risk, and it would be helpful to explore the use of such disclosures as an additional form
of risk reporting by banks and insurers. This idea has already been implemented to some extent
in the US, where the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010
mandates stress tests for banks and requires summary results of the tests to be published; the
market would no doubt find detailed results more helpful. If stress tests are to provide useful
information, they must be based on appropriate assumptions. Regulators sometimes require
politically convenient assumptions, eg, regarding the value of sovereign debt.

 tephen G. Ryan, ‘A survey of research relating accounting numbers to systematic equity risk, with
S
implications for risk disclosure policy and future research’, notes that banking and insurance regulators
receive significant disaggregated information to assist their assessments of risk, and calls for more
disaggregated information to be publicly disclosed.
48
An alternative view is that the maximum loss on the asset would be measured by its deprival value – a
basis of measurement not currently used in financial reporting. For more on deprival value (or ‘value to the
business’), see the Information for Better Markets report, Measurement in Financial Reporting, Chapter 3.
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In calling for more emphasis on quantified information in risk reporting, we are not calling for
more quantification of the probability that specific risks will be realised or of the potential losses
from operational risks. In general, we do not think that attempts to quantify the probability of
one-off future events or to forecast the potential losses that might result from them are likely to
provide useful information.
What can firms do now? Firms can refer in their descriptive risk reporting to the valuable
information on risk provided by their financial reporting and to any quantitative information
elsewhere in their reporting, including on their website. They can consider whether there is any
additional quantitative analysis that they can usefully provide.

4.4 Integrate into other disclosures
4.4.1 Disadvantages of separate risk reporting
Those who debate the structure of business reporting often assume two key principles:
•	Users should be able to find everything that they need to know about a particular subject in
one place. This, which we will call the all-in-one-place principle, lies behind proposals that
risk reports should be a separate and self-sufficient feature within annual reports.49
•	Reports should not repeat information in different places. This seems to be an obviously
sensible point – repeating information suggests that it is badly organised. We will call this
the no-repetition principle.
Unfortunately, except in special circumstances, the two principles are incompatible. They are
only compatible where the various subjects of business reporting do not overlap. Where they
do overlap, there is a choice between satisfying the all-in-one-place principle and satisfying the
no-repetition principle. They cannot both be satisfied at the same time.
In practice, the subjects covered by business reporting have expanded so significantly in recent
decades that, for a public company, they inevitably overlap. Risk reporting provides an excellent
example. It overlaps with, most conspicuously:
•

disclosure of the business model (4.4.2);

•

discussion of future plans and prospects (4.4.3);

•

discussion of past performance (4.4.4); and

•

financial reporting information on past performance and current position (4.4.5).

So while it may or may not be desirable to have separate reports on business risks, it will never be
possible for them to include all relevant information without repeating what appears elsewhere
in the corporate report. And although the trend in risk reporting has been to separate it from
other disclosures, in one respect this is a psychologically unattractive approach. It means that risk
reporting tends to become just a long list of risks, a recital of gloom and negativity, which will
either put readers off or give them the implicit message that ‘You can ignore all this stuff, but they
force us to put it in here.’
Risks are integral to business, and anyone who wants to understand a business needs to understand
its risks. ‘Risk is part of every decision a company makes.’50 But because risks are integral to a business,
it will not usually make sense to report on them separately as though they could be detached
from its business model or its performance or its future plans and prospects or even its financial
reporting. The question is: what is the most effective way to communicate information about risk?
This does not mean that there is no place for a separate statement of business risks in corporate
reporting, and indeed statutory and other requirements may mean that in practice such statements
are currently unavoidable. Separate risk reports may well be useful for some firms – most obviously
banks – where information about risks and their management is perceived to be especially important.
For these institutions a ‘risk narrative’ (see Appendix 4, Section A4.3) may be an important feature
of their reporting. But for many, perhaps most, firms a separate and self-contained statement of
business risks will probably not be ideal. All of this reinforces the conclusion of No Surprises that
what matters is providing the relevant information, not necessarily providing it in a separate
report labelled ‘Risks’.
 udit of Banks: Lessons from the Crisis notes stakeholders’ concern that information on risk is often presented
A
in a piecemeal way. The Financial Reporting Council, in Effective Company Stewardship: Next Steps, concludes
that ‘any description of the risks a company faces should not be … scattered about the annual report’.
50
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Whether our proposal that risk reporting should be integrated with other disclosures is indeed the
best approach is an empirical question. It would therefore be helpful for researchers to investigate
what form of presentation of risk disclosures is most useful for investors. Any research on this issue
would need to bear in mind that it is not investors’ understanding of risk alone that matters, but
their overall understanding of the firm and its prospects. There is no point in improving users’
understanding of one aspect of a business if it is at the expense of their understanding of other
equally important aspects.

4.4.2 Business model disclosures
In the UK, listed companies are now required by The UK Corporate Governance Code to disclose their
business models. While terms such as ‘business model’ and ‘strategy’ have no generally accepted
meaning, it seems reasonable to regard the two terms as equivalent for the purposes of disclosure.
In which case, the new requirement matches the call in No Surprises for companies to disclose
their strategies, though this did not envisage a mandatory requirement. Other jurisdictions have
similar requirements, though we are not aware of any others that use the words ‘business model’.
Panel 4.2: Business model disclosures in practice
In April 2011 the Black Sun consultancy conducted a review of practice shortly after the
introduction of the business model requirement in the UK, The Business Model – Is It the Missing
Link? They write:
‘For many businesses, having to consider disclosing the business model has
acted as a catalyst for internal debate over what it actually is. Indeed, in some
cases, several different descriptions of the business model can be proposed
by individuals from the same company. This is often quite a helpful and
productive debate to have as it helps management consolidate views and
ensure that there is cohesion internally in terms of what the business is trying
to do and what its purpose is.’
Views may differ on how useful this process is. As we noted in the Information for Better
Markets report Business Models in Accounting, there is ‘a risk that the disclosed business model
will be – without any dishonesty – “what we agree to tell people when they ask us what our
business model is” rather than the possibly changeable and uncertain set of ideas that actually
drives the business.’
As a firm’s key risks will typically be inherent in its business model, it would be appropriate to
explain them in explaining the business model, rather than to explain the model in one report
and then point out the risks that it involves in another one. So the UK requirement further
diminishes the case for a separate report on business risks. Where there are similar requirements
in other jurisdictions, the same argument would apply.
Sometimes risk reporting is uninformative because there is inadequate contextual information.
Users may not understand what exactly a disclosed risk means or how it might affect the firm.
Understanding risks often requires a sophisticated understanding of the business and its context,
which preparers of risk reports are able to take for granted because they work in the business.
But they need to think about what external users will or will not understand without further
explanation. Integrating risk reporting into business model disclosures may help users understand
its significance.

4.4.3 Performance discussion
A key motive for users’ interest in information about risk is that they want to know how far past
performance is a reliable guide to the future. So the discussion of past performance could be seen
as primarily a risk disclosure. The forward-looking purpose of such discussions is, helpfully, explicit
in North American requirements for management discussion and analysis, but not in Europe.
As such material is company-specific, it should be able to avoid the accusation of boilerplate.
The relevant reporting requirements have changed in recent years, at least in the UK and in the
EU as a whole. In the UK, the Companies Act requirements for a business review mandate ‘a
balanced and comprehensive analysis of the development and performance of the company’s
business during the financial year’. We would expect the disclosures in this review to contain
useful information about the risks the company faces as they will highlight special factors that
affected the company’s performance during the year.
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It may be helpful for preparers to consider the factors they have identified in discussing past
performance and the factors that were not worth mentioning in relation to past performance but
which may well affect future results, and to highlight these in the firm’s discussion of its plans and
prospects.

4.4.4 Plans and prospects
It seems natural to incorporate a discussion of risks into any disclosure of the firm’s plans and
prospects. This would also give an opportunity to discuss opportunities as well as risks. In this
report we have focused on risk as it is conventionally understood, which is about what might
go wrong. But even if risk is understood in this one-sided way, it is important that forwardlooking reporting should cover uncertainties that have potentially positive outcomes as well as
uncertainties that have potentially negative outcomes.
Again, the relevant reporting requirements have changed in recent years, in the UK, in the EU
as a whole and no doubt in other countries. In the UK, the Companies Act requirements for a
business review mandate disclosures on ‘the main trends and factors likely to affect the future
development, performance and position of the company’s business’. These disclosures should
contain useful information about the risks the company will face in the future.
For many risks, potential upsides are already assumed in managers’ expectations of the firm’s
prospects. Managerial assumptions about the future inevitably tend towards the optimistic, as
the only projects undertaken are those that are expected to succeed, whereas in practice many
of them will fail. Projects that are not expected to succeed, even though some of them might
succeed if they were undertaken, are usually not undertaken in the first place.51 It would therefore
be reasonable to take the view that upside ‘risks’ are often already incorporated in managerial
expectations. What is of interest to investors is therefore what might cause these expectations
to be disappointed.
No doubt some firms do better than they expect, but this is less common than the opposite
experience. Negative ‘profit warnings’ are more frequent than positive ‘estimated results
improvements’. When results are better than expected, expectations tend to be adjusted upwards
relatively quickly. When results are worse than expected, managers are reluctant to adjust
expectations downwards and instead seek ways to remedy the problem or, in some cases,
reasons to explain it away.
While this analysis might indicate that separate identification of possible positive risks will be
even more difficult than separate identification of negative risks, there will be many risks where a
positive outcome is in principle as likely as a negative one. This will often be the case for example
with market risks arising from possible changes in prices and rates (eg, interest rates or exchange
rates). Disclosure of both positives and negatives is perhaps especially important in such cases
as derivative positions may well skew the firm’s position so as to limit losses. A US study gives
an example of a firm that discloses the effect of both a 10% appreciation in exchange rates
(a $9 million increase in the fair value of options and forwards) and a 10% depreciation (a
$6 million decrease in the fair value of options and forwards).52 We would envisage that such
disclosures would be included in a firm’s financial statements.

4.4.5 The financial statements
At 4.4.2 to 4.4.4 we have discussed the integration of risk reporting with business model
disclosures, the discussion of past performance, and information on plans and prospects. But risk
reporting also needs to be integrated with the firm’s financial reporting. As we have emphasised,
the financial statements contain much valuable information on risk. It will be important to crossrefer to this in any discussion of risk elsewhere in the firm’s reports in order to give an accurate
picture of its risks.

4.4.6 Existing reporting requirements
Existing reporting requirements sometimes require separate reports on risk, so the approach that
we advocate would not be compatible with such requirements unless they allow compliance by
reference to other disclosures.
 possible exception would be firms that take a portfolio approach to projects. They expect some of them to
A
fail, but do not know in advance which will do so. However, they expect the portfolio as a whole to succeed.
Firms that engage in, eg, exploration for minerals, new product development, and funding for start-up
investments may take this approach.
52
Leslie Hodder, Lisa Koonce and Mary Lea McAnally, ‘SEC market risk disclosures: implications for judgment
and decision making’.
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In the UK, the Companies Act business review requirement to provide ‘a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the company’ is most obviously complied with by a
separate report. Indeed, the Accounting Standards Board regards the absence of a separate report
as non-compliance with the Act’s requirements.53 The wording of the Act does not appear to be
incompatible with integration of the disclosures in parts of the business review dealing with,
eg, ‘the development and performance of the company’s business during the financial year’ and
‘the main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance and position
of the company’s business’. But preparers are unlikely to wish to adopt this interpretation of the
Act as long as regulators are known to take a different view.
At Panel 3.2 we noted the Financial Reporting Review Panel’s interpretation of the UK’s statutory
requirements, which suggests that generic risk disclosures would be insufficient to meet these
requirements.
What can firms do now? Firms can review how well their disclosures on such matters as the
business model, future plans and prospects, etc, make clear what the related risks are. Where they
are implicit, do they need to be spelt out?

4.5 Think beyond the annual reporting cycle
Companies have an annual reporting cycle. Public companies in most jurisdictions usually also report
more often than this – every six months or every quarter, but on a less comprehensive basis than
in the annual report. This periodic approach to reporting is appropriate where the core of the report
is financial statements, which necessarily cover a defined period of time. A periodic approach
is also useful in terms of fitting in with the provision of information for corporate governance
purposes, in particular for the annual meeting, and as a matter of practical convenience.
But companies also report much information as the need arises – for example, when they secure
an important new contract, or make an acquisition or a divestment, or make changes in top
management, or face an unexpected alteration in the trading outlook.
Risks don’t change once a year. The risks that firms face are often determined by their business
model and location, and are much the same from one year to the next. But some risks are highly
fluid and variable. Either way, an annual report does not seem to provide the most appropriate
frequency for discussing business risks. What is needed is a form of reporting that in some respects
constitutes a permanent record of the risks that are inherent to the business and in other respects
changes as the need arises to reflect the way that risks change in the real world. The internet, which
was still in its early days as a corporate reporting medium when No Surprises was published, seems
to be the ideal way to provide both types of information. There may also be other items that
currently appear in annual reports that would be better dealt with on firms’ websites.54
One of the key points made in No Surprises was that firms disclose more about risks in prospectuses
than they do in their annual reports (and do so without excessive boilerplate). Extensive disclosures
about risk are now frowned on by some regulators and commentators, but to the extent that it is
still thought useful to have more, rather than less, information about risks, a move to disclosing it
in a ‘shelf’ document on the internet would help keep disclosures up to prospectus standards.55
We therefore recommend that consideration be given to how risk reporting, and perhaps other
forms of reporting too (including disclosure of the business model), might be taken out of
the annual reporting cycle and instead updated as the need arises on firms’ websites. Putting
information on the website also allows users to ‘drill down’ to further, supporting data where they
wish to. This approach would imply changes in statutory or regulatory requirements in many
jurisdictions, including the EU and the US. It would also raise important issues as to, eg, how far
the information would be audited and how far ‘safe harbour’ provisions applicable to information
in the annual report would extend to reporting on the internet.

 ccounting Standards Board, A Review of Narrative Reporting by UK Listed Companies in 2008/2009.
A
A point also made in the ASB report, Cutting Clutter: Combating Clutter in Annual Reports and in the
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills’ consultation paper, The Future of Narrative Reporting.
In the US, any changes in the most significant risk factors have to be reported quarterly.
55
There is also a view that prospectus disclosures are rightly more extensive than those in an annual report,
so it should not be expected that the annual report would keep up the disclosure standards found in the
prospectus. On this view, a prospectus is an attempt to raise money from people who are deemed to be
in a state of ignorance about the business. An annual report addresses those who have already decided to
become investors in the business, and who can therefore be reasonably assumed at least in some respects
not to be in a state of ignorance about it.
53
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Panel 4.3: What is the best place for risk reporting?
In ‘Risk disclosure: an exploratory study of UK and Canadian banks’ Philip M. Linsley,
Philip J. Shrives and Mandy Crumpton ask:
‘[I]s the annual report the most appropriate place for the disclosure of risk
information? Although it is an important public document it is only published
once a year and its primary focus is upon what has happened in the past…
Risks alter, sometimes dramatically, and sometimes over very brief periods
of time. Therefore, useful risk information may need disseminating by some
other method.’
This is an appropriate question for research, so as to establish the best place for risk reporting.
The answer may well differ for different users and for different types of risk reporting.
We do not envisage that risk-relevant information within financial reporting would be transferred
to the website in this way. Nor do we envisage that a new continuous reporting obligation would
be created specifically in relation to risks. It is already usual for jurisdictions with modern capital
markets to impose generalised continuous reporting obligations on public companies. In the UK,
for example, the requirement is to disclose information that would, ‘if generally available, be likely
to have a significant effect on the [share] price’.56 Where such an obligation exists, any additional
continuous reporting requirement relating specifically to risks would probably be superfluous
and confusing.
What can firms do now? Firms can consider what permanent information on risk they can
usefully put on their websites and, as risks change, what more ephemeral information it would be
useful to provide there.

4.6 Keep lists of principal risks short
Those preparing risk reports sometimes produce long lists of what might go wrong rather than
focusing on a few key risks. Long lists of risks are inevitably a deterrent to readers and they may
offend against the principle set out in Prospective Financial Information (see Section 1.4 above)
that disclosure should not become ‘too complex or extensive to be understood or used by
investors’.
Risk reporting might have more impact if firms focused on a small number of risks. This probably
reflects many firms’ actual practice in their internal reporting, where limits on management and
non-executive time often make it essential to focus attention on limited numbers of risks. Firms
should also disclose other risks if they consider it appropriate, but identifying a small number
of key risks would give readers the opportunity to focus on something of reasonable length. In
recent years firms have made efforts to think more carefully about which risks should be disclosed
and this has indeed resulted, at least in some cases, in shorter lists.
Producing shorter lists of principal risks will only work if users of corporate reporting are prepared
to accept that it will become more likely that, when things go wrong, they will not have been
warned in the prioritised listing of key risks. So focusing users’ attention on some risks to the
exclusion of others would create its own risks for managers if users are unhappy with the results
of this process. There may of course be more extensive listings of risks elsewhere in the company’s
reporting, and it would be wrong to discourage firms from reporting risks that they consider
significant. There is also evidence that some users find long lists of risks helpful, and some
statistical correlations suggesting that the stock market may view the length and number of risk
disclosures as indicators of risk. This is another question on which more research is needed.
What can firms do now? Firms can highlight the small number of risks that they consider to be
the principal ones facing the business. But they should not be discouraged from reporting any
risks that they consider significant.

56

F inancial Services and Markets Act 2000, s118C, and the Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure and
Transparency Rules, DTR 2.2. These could be seen as requirements that the annual report should not contain
any significant new information, if significance is interpreted in terms of potential effects on the share price,
as any significant new information should have been disclosed earlier, when management became aware
of it.
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4.7 Highlight current concerns
Users sometimes say that it would be helpful to know which risks managers are currently talking
about. This tells them something about the business and – as users will second-guess which risks
managers ought to be focusing on – something about the managers. Investors may also view this
sort of disclosure as ‘the start of a conversation’57 with management, rather than as something
complete in itself. It also has the advantage that it is relatively objective, in that it is a factual
question whether a risk currently is or is not a matter that appears on the agenda for board and
management meetings. It may therefore be useful for firms to disclose this information. ‘Current
concerns’ should be interpreted broadly. It would be helpful to regard management discussions
on resilience (see 3.5) as falling within its scope.
We do not envisage that this would be a requirement. It is just something that firms can do if they
want to provide more useful information on risk.
At any one time, different groups within the firm will be talking about different risks for different
reasons, so it may be difficult to know what it would be most useful to disclose. For example, firms
might disclose risks that are currently being discussed by the board or by the audit committee
(neither of which will necessarily reflect managers’ concerns as opposed to those of broader
groups within the firm, including non-executives) or by the risk management committee (but
many firms may not have such a committee).
Three other practical issues that would arise with this proposal are that: it may be difficult to
determine the point at which concerns should be disclosed; it may be difficult to distinguish
between reporting risks and reporting problems; and it may involve proprietary costs.
When should risks be disclosed? When a new risk emerges or becomes more significant, it may
occupy managers’ attention, but their focus initially will probably be on taking action to prevent
it from becoming a significant risk. At a later stage, the risk may pass quickly from being a risk to
being a loss, ie, a realised risk. For example, if managers become aware of a possible disruption to
their supply chain, they will first of all seek ways to address the problem, eg, by using alternative
suppliers. There may be a period of uncertainty when it is not clear how successful managers’
efforts will be, though they are optimistic that they will be successful. But perhaps there comes a
point when they suddenly find that they have not succeeded and that the business is faced with
significant disruption. During the period in which management is doing its best to prevent the
risk from being realised, should its concerns be disclosed? Frequent disclosures of risks that then
turn out not to be a major problem are an unattractive prospect and, by increasing share price
volatility, could increase the cost of capital.58
Distinguishing between risks and problems. As the previous paragraph implies, it may be
difficult to distinguish between which risks currently most concern managers and which problems
most concern them. Even when a risk is realised and has become a loss, arguably it continues to
be a risk as management action will be aimed at containing the loss – the risk is that it will not be
contained. An oil spill would be an example of this kind of problem. It is a risk before it happens.
Once it happens the risk is realised (to some extent), but arguably it is still appropriate to classify
it as a risk as long as there remains uncertainty about how bad it will be. There may then be
consequential risks as to litigation, loss of reputation, and possible regulatory action.
Proprietary costs. Managers go to considerable lengths not to cause unnecessary alarm about
the problems they face. To do otherwise would damage morale and motivation within the firm,
reduce external stakeholders’ confidence in it, and assist competitors. Problems in firms often
relate to the competence of management at some level of the organization – not necessarily the
most senior level. The issue is not normally evident to outsiders, as managers no doubt succeed
in resolving most of the problems they face. But it becomes clear that problems have existed or
have been bigger than the company was prepared to admit when management – often new
management – accepts defeat and announces that a product or service will be discontinued, or
a plant closed, or a subsidiary sold, or senior managers have been replaced. Companies are not
completely transparent about such things in the period before the decision is taken because there
would be real costs involved in full disclosure. It may therefore be thought unlikely that managers
will be fully open about what currently concerns them. If you ask people, ‘What keeps you awake
at night?’, it would be naïve to expect an honest answer.
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L aura Spira and Michael Page, ‘Regulation by disclosure: the case of internal control’.
See Christine A. Botosan and Marlene A. Plumlee, ‘A re-examination of disclosure level and the expected cost
of equity capital’, for evidence that increasing frequency of disclosure might increase the cost of capital.
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The proposal to highlight current concerns is not intended to replace longer lists of significant
risks; and the risks that occupy managers’ attention at any specific time are not necessarily its
principal risks, so – if disclosed separately – it would be an additional disclosure. We envisage,
though, that the most effective way of highlighting current concerns would be to do so in the
course of other disclosures – about current plans and prospects, for example.
Against this, it could be argued that such disclosures are by their nature ephemeral. For example,
following the March 2011 earthquake and tsunami in Japan, many firms around the world
encountered supply chain risks, which would probably not have featured on their lists of current
concerns in February 2011. Over time, such issues are resolved – how quickly will vary from one
firm to another – and at some point they cease to be current concerns. So, given the ephemeral
nature of such lists, their disclosure may be more appropriate for firms’ websites rather than their
annual reports. But that would imply separate disclosure rather than integration with other disclosures.
What can firms do now? Firms can highlight which risks currently cause them most concern.

4.8 Report on risk experience
Companies could usefully review their experience of risk in the reporting period. What went
wrong? What lessons have been learnt? It would have been interesting, for example, after the
onset of the financial crisis, to read what lessons about risk the surviving banks considered they
had learnt.
The review could also look at how the firm’s experiences during the period match up with the
risks that it had previously reported. This would provide at least a partial ex post settling up,
though unless it is recognised as merely partial it could be misleading.
Such a review might overlap with disclosures of principal risks and current concerns, as the firm’s
risk experience for the period might well shape its perception of risks for the future or feature
prominently in the matters that currently command managers’ attention.
What can firms do now? Firms can report on their risk experience over the past year, discuss
how far it matches their previous risk reporting, and explain what lessons they have learnt.

4.9 Chapter summary
It is important to have practical solutions to the problem of how to improve risk reporting. Risk
reporting requirements vary widely among different jurisdictions, and so it would be impractical
to put forward improvements to them that would have general validity. In any case, and perhaps
more importantly, the evidence suggests that risk reporting requirements often have only limited
effectiveness.
For these reasons, our suggestions – set out in seven principles – do not include any proposals for
new or tougher regulation. The principles are purely points for consideration by those interested
in improving risk reporting and by preparers of corporate reporting information, and are intended
to apply to public companies in all sectors. The seven principles for better risk reporting are:
•	Tell users what they need to know. Users of corporate reporting want information about a
company’s risks so that they can make their own assessment of risk. Companies should focus
on this objective in deciding what to disclose.
•

 ocus on quantitative information. Disclosing more detailed analyses of the quantitative
F
data that firms already provide would give helpful new information. Too much weight has
been placed on the production of descriptive risk lists. This is not a call for quantification of
risks, which usually involves dubious assumptions about the probability of future events.
Nor is it a call for qualitative information to be neglected. What we have in mind is more
information on the breakdown of firms’ activities, geographically and by sector, and on their
assets, liabilities and commitments.

•

 s far as possible, integrate information on risk with other disclosures. Financial reporting
A
provides much information on risks already, and this should be integrated with other risk
disclosures. But information on risk should also be integrated with firms’ descriptions of their
business models, their forward-looking disclosures, their discussion of past performance, and
their financial reporting. A firm’s risks are usually inherent in its business model, so explaining
the business model should involve explaining its risks. Risk is forward-looking and cannot be
fully understood except in the context of broader forward-looking information about a firm’s
performance, plans and prospects.
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•

 hink beyond the annual reporting cycle. Many risks stay the same from one year to
T
the next. Others are highly variable and information on them needs to be updated more
frequently than once a year. The internet, rather than the annual report, would probably be
the right place for information on both sorts of risk.

•	Where possible, keep lists of principal risks short. Users are currently faced with long and
indigestible risk lists that are all too easy to ignore. Where it is useful for companies to disclose
other risks as well as those identified as the principal ones, they should still do so.
•	Highlight current concerns. It is likely to be of interest to users to know what risks are
currently most discussed within a firm. These will often be different from the firm’s principal
risks, and disclosing them could give users a valuable insight into the business.
•	Review risk experience. Companies could usefully review their experience of risk in
the reporting period. What went wrong? What lessons have been learnt? How do their
experiences match up with the risks that they had previously reported?
As for banks, their quantitative risk disclosures have already been expanded since the onset of the
crisis through changes in accounting standards, implementation of Pillar 3 of the Basel II Accord
on banking supervision and expansion of its requirements. Further improvements may be possible.
Stress tests organised by banking and insurance supervisors, where they are based on appropriate
assumptions, can also provide valuable information about risk, and it would be helpful to explore
the use of such disclosures as an additional form of risk reporting by banks and insurers.
One outcome of all the changes that we suggest might well be that there is less of what is labelled
as ‘risk reporting’ in companies’ annual reports. But the proposed changes would mean that,
overall, there is more useful information about risks. This should assist investors and other users of
corporate reporting to form their own judgements on risk and, in this way, should also contribute
to better stewardship of companies, a more efficient allocation of resources, and greater financial
stability.
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Appendix 1: Requirements for
risk disclosures

Requirements for risk disclosures around the world, particularly including those in accounting
standards, are now voluminous. What follows is merely a selection of some of the more important
requirements.

A1.1 US
A1.1.1 Risk factors
The US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requires publicly traded companies to disclose
‘risk factors’ in their annual (Form 10-K) reports and to update them in their quarterly 10-Q reports
if they change. The factors to be disclosed, defined in the SEC’s prospectus requirements
(Regulation S-K, Item 503, paragraph (c)), are ‘the most significant factors that make the offering
speculative or risky’.
SEC guidance suggests that firms should ‘generally avoid mitigating language’ in their risk disclosures
– eg, ‘clauses that begin with “while,” “although” or “however”.’ In practice, companies disclose
how they manage risks in their MD&A disclosures (see below).

A1.1.2 Management discussion and analysis
The US SEC’s requirements for publicly traded companies include an annual management discussion
and analysis (MD&A). The requirements in their current form go back to 1980, although they
have been amended on a number of occasions since then. The MD&A is to some extent about
risks that the company faces. For example, there are requirements to:
‘Identify any known trends or any known demands, commitments, events
or uncertainties that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in the
registrant’s liquidity increasing or decreasing in any material way’ (Regulation
S-K, Item 303, paragraph (a) (1))
‘Describe any known material trends, favorable or unfavorable, in the registrant’s
capital resources. Indicate any material changes in the mix and relative cost of
such resources’ (paragraph (a) (2) (ii)).
‘Describe any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant
reasonably expects will have a material favourable or unfavourable impact on
net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations’ (paragraph (a)
(3) (ii)).
The motivation for the requirements is the risk that users of the company’s financial statements
will draw unwarranted conclusions about the future from the historical information in these
statements. The SEC’s instructions to preparers state:
‘The discussion and analysis shall focus specifically on material events and
uncertainties known to management that would cause reported financial
information not to be necessarily indicative of future operating results or of
future financial condition... This would include descriptions and amounts of
(A) matters that would have an impact on future operations and have not had
an impact in the past, and (B) matters that have had an impact on reported
operations and are not expected to have an impact upon future operations’
(Instruction 3 to Paragraph 303(a)).
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The SEC’s guidance on the MD&A recognises that its requirements are for information that
cannot be standardised:
‘The MD&A requirements are intentionally flexible and general. Because no
two registrants are identical, good MD&A disclosure for one registrant is not
necessarily good MD&A disclosure for another. The same is true for MD&A
disclosure of the same registrant in different years.’59
Canada has requirements for an MD&A similar to those in the US.

A1.1.3 Sarbanes-Oxley Act
The US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 contains a requirement at s404 for the SEC to prescribe
rules requiring publicly quoted companies to include in their annual reports ‘an assessment …
of the effectiveness of [their] internal control structure and procedures … for financial reporting’.
As the controls and procedures that underlie a firm’s financial reporting system are important
components of its overall controls, these disclosures are potentially useful for assessing a firm’s
risks and/or its risk mitigation procedures.

A1.2 EU
The EU’s Accounts Modernisation Directive of 2003 (Directive 2003/51/EC) includes a
requirement that:
‘The annual report shall include at least a fair review of the development and
performance of the company’s business and of its position, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces’ (Article 1 (14)).
This provision applies to the reports of individual companies. A similar provision in the same
directive applies to the reports of groups (Article 2 (10)). The requirements apply to all companies
and groups regardless of size, but the directive allows EU member states when they implement it
to exempt small companies and groups. Another directive sets maxima for what can be defined
as small for this purpose.
The EU’s Transparency Directive of 2004 (Directive 2004/109/EC) includes a requirement that
‘The interim management report shall include … a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
for the remaining six months of the financial year’ (Article 5 (4)). This directive applies only to
public companies.

A1.3 Germany
Germany has risk reporting requirements additional to those imposed by the EU. In 1998 a legal
requirement was introduced for German companies to disclose information on material risks in
the management report section of the annual report. This requirement was amplified in 2001 by
the German Accounting Standards Board’s GAS 5, Risk Reporting. This specifies the content and
format of risk disclosures. Risk is interpreted as ‘the possibility of a future negative impact on the
economic position’.60 GAS 5-10 and GAS 5-20 deal respectively with risk reporting by banks and
by insurers.

A1.4 UK
The UK also has risk reporting requirements additional to those imposed by the EU.
The UK Corporate Governance Code, which is issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and
applies to listed companies, states:
C.2 ‘The board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the
significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. The board
should maintain sound risk management and internal control systems.’
C.2.1 ‘The board should, at least annually, conduct a review of the effectiveness
of the company’s risk management and internal control systems and should
report to shareholders that they have done so.’
 EC, SEC Interpretation: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations;
S
Certain Investment Company Disclosures.
60
Michael Dobler, ‘National and international developments in risk reporting: may the German Accounting
Standard 5 lead the way internationally?’
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These requirements are supported by guidance from the FRC, Internal Control: Revised Guidance
for Directors on the Combined Code (‘the Turnbull Guidance’). The Combined Code has now been
superseded by The UK Corporate Governance Code, and the guidance is therefore slightly out of
date. However, it states:
‘33 The annual report and accounts should include such meaningful, highlevel information as the board considers necessary to assist shareholders’
understanding of the main features of the company’s risk management
processes and system of internal control, and should not give a misleading
impression.
‘34 In its narrative statement of how the company has applied Code Principle
C.2, the board should, as a minimum, disclose that there is an ongoing process
for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
company, that it has been in place for the year under review and up to the date
of approval of the annual report and accounts, that it is regularly reviewed by
the board and accords with the guidance in this document.
‘35 The disclosures relating to the application of Principle C.2 should include an
acknowledgement by the board that it is responsible for the company’s system
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. It should also explain that
such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
‘36 In relation to Code Provision C.2.1, the board should summarise the process
it (where applicable, through its committees) has applied in reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control and confirm that necessary actions
have been or are being taken to remedy any significant failings or weaknesses
identified from that review. It should also disclose the process it has applied to
deal with material internal control aspects of any significant problems disclosed
in the annual report and accounts.’
The Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules for listed companies require
the directors’ report to include a corporate governance statement. This statement ‘must contain
a description of the main features of the [company’s] internal control and risk management
systems in relation to the financial reporting process’ (DTR 7.2.5). The UK Corporate Governance
Code comments that ‘While this requirement differs from the requirement in the UK Corporate
Governance Code, it is envisaged that both could be met by a single internal control statement.’

A1.5 Basel II Accord
The 2004 Basel II Accord establishes minimum standards for the international regulation of banks.
It has three pillars. Pillar 1 sets minimum capital requirements, which are designed to reflect risks.
Pillar 2 – ‘supervisory review’ – concerns the regulatory processes for dealing with the minimum
capital requirements. Pillar 3 is ‘market discipline’. This sets disclosure requirements for banks,
with a focus on risks, to allow the market to exert its own discipline on these institutions. These
requirements had not come into effect before the financial crisis. Most European banks, for
example, did not have to comply with them until 2008.
Basel II disclosures do not necessarily form part of the financial statements and some banks publish
them as a separate statement (which may overlap to some extent with financial reporting disclosures).
HSBC Holdings, for example, publishes a separate report, Capital and Risk Management Pillar 3
Disclosures, which for 2010 runs to 66 pages.

A1.6 IFRS
There are some requirements in IFRS that require risk disclosures without necessarily mentioning
the word ‘risk’. In some cases they refer to ‘uncertainties’ rather than ‘risks’. For example, IAS 37,
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, requires that:
•	for each class of provision ‘an indication of the uncertainties about the amount or timing’
of expected outflows should be disclosed (paragraph 85); and
•	for each class of contingent liabilities, unless the possibility of any outflow is remote, ‘where
practicable … an indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any
outflow’ should be disclosed (paragraph 86).
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For some reason, there are no comparable requirements for uncertainties about contingent assets.
It seems reasonable to regard any disclosures on the subject of contingencies – whether they are
classified as contingent assets or contingent liabilities – as risk disclosures.
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, requires firms to disclose information on the
assumptions it makes about the future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty.
In relation to going concern uncertainties, it requires that:
‘When preparing financial statements, management shall make an assessment of
an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern…
‘When management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, the entity shall disclose those
uncertainties. When an entity does not prepare financial statements on a going
concern basis, it shall disclose that fact, together with the basis on which it
prepared the financial statements and the reason why the entity is not regarded
as a going concern.
‘In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate,
management takes into account all available information about the future, which
is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.’
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, has extensive risk disclosure requirements. These are
reproduced in Panel A1.1 below:
Panel A1.1: IFRS 7 risk disclosures
Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
31 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to
evaluate the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the
entity is exposed at the end of the reporting period.
32 The disclosures required by paragraphs 33–42 focus on the risks that arise from financial
instruments and how they have been managed. These risks typically include, but are not
limited to, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
Qualitative disclosures
33 For each type of risk arising from financial instruments, an entity shall disclose:
(a) the exposures to risk and how they arise;
(b)	its objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk and the methods used to
measure the risk; and
(c) any changes in (a) or (b) from the previous period.
Quantitative disclosures
34 For each type of risk arising from financial instruments, an entity shall disclose:
(a)	summary quantitative data about its exposure to that risk at the end of the reporting
period. This disclosure shall be based on the information provided internally to key
management personnel of the entity (as defined in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures), for
example the entity’s board of directors or chief executive officer.
(b)	the disclosures required by paragraphs 36–42, to the extent not provided in (a), unless
the risk is not material (see paragraphs 29–31 of IAS 1 for a discussion of materiality).
(c)	concentrations of risk if not apparent from (a) and (b).
35 If the quantitative data disclosed as at the end of the reporting period are unrepresentative
of an entity’s exposure to risk during the period, an entity shall provide further information that
is representative.
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Panel A1.1: IFRS 7 risk disclosures (continued)
Credit risk
36 An entity shall disclose by class of financial instrument:
(a)	the amount that best represents its maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements (eg netting agreements that do not qualify for offset in accordance with
IAS 32);
(b)	in respect of the amount disclosed in (a), a description of collateral held as security and
other credit enhancements;
(c)	information about the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor
impaired; and
(d)	the carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired
whose terms have been renegotiated.
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
37 An entity shall disclose by class of financial asset:
(a)	an analysis of the age of financial assets that are past due as at the end of the reporting
period but not impaired;
(b)	an analysis of financial assets that are individually determined to be impaired as at the end
of the reporting period, including the factors the entity considered in determining that
they are impaired; and
(c)	for the amounts disclosed in (a) and (b), a description of collateral held by the entity as
security and other credit enhancements and, unless impracticable, an estimate of their fair
value.
Collateral and other credit enhancements obtained
38 When an entity obtains financial or non-financial assets during the period by taking
possession of collateral it holds as security or calling on other credit enhancements (eg
guarantees), and such assets meet the recognition criteria in other IFRSs, an entity shall
disclose:
(a) the nature and carrying amount of the assets obtained; and
(b)	when the assets are not readily convertible into cash, its policies for disposing of such assets
or for using them in its operations.
Liquidity risk
39 An entity shall disclose:
(a)	a maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities (including issued financial
guarantee contracts) that shows the remaining contractual maturities.
(b)	a maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities. The maturity analysis shall include
the remaining contractual maturities for those derivative financial liabilities for which
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows
(see paragraph B11B).
(c) a description of how it manages the liquidity risk inherent in (a) and (b).
Market risk
Sensitivity analysis
40 Unless an entity complies with paragraph 41, it shall disclose:
(a)	a sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk to which the entity is exposed at the end
of the reporting period, showing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected
by changes in the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible at that date;
(b)	the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis; and
(c)	changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used, and the reasons
for such changes.
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Panel A1.1: IFRS 7 risk disclosures (continued)
41 If an entity prepares a sensitivity analysis, such as value-at-risk, that reflects
interdependencies between risk variables (eg interest rates and exchange rates) and uses it to
manage financial risks, it may use that sensitivity analysis in place of the analysis specified in
paragraph 40. The entity shall also disclose:
(a)	an explanation of the method used in preparing such a sensitivity analysis, and of the main
parameters and assumptions underlying the data provided; and
(b)	an explanation of the objective of the method used and of limitations that may result in
the information not fully reflecting the fair value of the assets and liabilities involved.
Other market risk disclosures
42 When the sensitivity analyses disclosed in accordance with paragraph 40 or 41 are
unrepresentative of a risk inherent in a financial instrument (for example because the year-end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year), the entity shall disclose that fact and
the reason it believes the sensitivity analyses are unrepresentative.
IFRS 7 also has extensive disclosure requirements for hedges (paragraphs 22-24), which should
provide useful information for assessing how far certain risks have or have not been mitigated.
In one respect, IFRS requirements for reporting risk-relevant information have diminished in
recent years. IAS 14, Segment Reporting, used to define both business segments and geographical
segments in terms of their risks and returns. In 2006, IAS 14 was superseded by IFRS 8, Operating
Segments, which no longer defines reporting segments in terms of risk and returns. However,
segmental information on the new basis remains relevant to the assessment of risk.
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Appendix 2: Calls for
improved risk reporting

As with requirements for risk disclosures, calls for improved risk reporting have become frequent
in recent decades. What follows is a selection of some of the more significant ones from the past
20 years.

A2.1 Operating and Financial Review
Operating and Financial Review is a non-mandatory statement of best practice first issued by the
UK’s Accounting Standards Board (ASB) in 1993; it has subsequently been rewritten extensively.
The 1993 statement recommends that UK listed companies should include in their annual reports
an operating and financial review (OFR) ‘to discuss and analyse the business’s performance and
the factors underlying its results and financial position’. The OFR could be seen as primarily
backward-looking, in the sense that it is a discussion of last year’s reported performance. But as
with the MD&A in the US, its central purpose is to allow users of the accounts to judge how far
they can use last year’s results as a basis for predicting future performance. So it could equally be
seen as primarily forward-looking.
It states that one of the ‘essential features’ of an OFR should be a discussion of ‘known events,
trends and uncertainties that are expected to have an impact on the business in the future’.
This point is enlarged on in the statement’s detailed guidance:
‘The OFR should … discuss the main factors and influences that may have a
major effect on future results, whether or not they were significant in the period
under review. This would include a discussion identifying the principal risks and
uncertainties in the main lines of business, together with a commentary on the
approach to managing these risks and, in qualitative terms, the nature of the
potential impact on results.’
The statement gives examples of matters that may be relevant:
•

‘scarcity of raw materials;

•

skill shortages and expertise of uncertain supply;

•

patents, licences or franchises;

•

dependence on major suppliers or customers;

•

product liability;

•

health and safety;

•

environmental protection costs and potential environmental liabilities;

•

self insurance;

•

exchange rate fluctuations;

•

rates of inflation differing between costs and revenues, or between different markets.’

The ASB issued a revised guidance statement, Operating and Financial Review, in 2003, but the
changes as regards the disclosure of risks and uncertainties were not significant.
A much-expanded Reporting Statement, Operating and Financial Review, was issued by the ASB
in 2006. It recommends that ‘The OFR should include a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the entity, together with a commentary on the directors’ approach to them.’
The statement includes 20 pages of guidance, including examples, on how to comply with this
recommendation. The statement was originally prepared to provide requirements implementing
the EU’s ‘business review’ requirements, but, in a change of plan by the UK government,
subsequently appeared in a non-mandatory form. However, it continues to reflect the EU
requirements.
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A2.2 Improving Business Reporting – A Customer Focus
Improving Business Reporting – A Customer Focus (1994), known as ‘the Jenkins Report’, notes that
in spite of MD&A requirements ‘users believe disclosures about opportunities and risks should
be improved’. It accordingly calls for business reporting to ‘Provide more information with a
forwardlooking perspective, including management’s plans, opportunities, risks, and measurement
uncertainties.’ It also calls for more segmental information to be disclosed. ‘The goal of segment
reporting,’ it says, ‘is to provide additional insight into the opportunities and risks a company
faces’ and ‘industry [rather than geographic] segment information most frequently provides
the greatest insight into the opportunities and risks a company faces’. But it also proposes
that geographic segment information should be required ‘when it provides insights into the
opportunities and risks a company faces’. The report recommends that firms should provide a
‘Comparison of actual business performance to previously disclosed opportunities, risks, and
management’s plans’.
The report also proposes ‘Improved disclosures about the identity, opportunities and risks of
offbalancesheet financing arrangements’.
A further recommendation in the report is that companies should ‘Improve disclosures about
the uncertainty of measurements of certain assets and liabilities.’ While it might be thought that
measurement uncertainty and business risk are distinct issues, the report explains why disclosures
on one are likely to cast light on the other. Essentially, this is because accounting measurements
make assumptions about future events:
‘Information about uncertainties in the measurement of assets and liabilities is
directly relevant to assessing opportunities and risks related to those specific
assets and liabilities… Information about measurement uncertainties also can be
helpful in judging opportunities and risks affecting the business. For example,
increasing uncertainty in measuring bad debts related to trade receivables may
indicate problems with a company’s customer base, which, in turn, may indicate
increased risk of sustaining an upward trend in revenues, margin, and earnings.’

A2.3 Senior Supervisors Group
In April 2008 the Senior Supervisors Group (SSG) issued Leading-Practice Disclosures for Selected
Exposures. This report, as its title suggests, identifies what are regarded as best practice disclosures
for certain exposures. Its context is reporting by banks rather than risk reporting by firms generally.
While the disclosures are not labelled ‘risk reporting’, that is in substance what they are. The SSG’s
summary of the recommended disclosures is given at Panel A2.1.
Panel A2.1: SSG – leading-practice disclosures
Special Purpose Entities (SPEs)—General
Size of SPE versus firm’s total exposure
Activities of SPE
Reason for consolidation (if applicable)
Nature of exposure (sponsor, liquidity and/or credit enhancement provider)
Collateral type
Geographic distribution of collateral
Average maturity of collateral
Credit ratings of underlying collateral
Collateralized Debt Obligations
Size of CDOs versus firm’s total exposure
Breakdown of CDOs—type, tranche, rating, etc.
Breakdown of collateral by type
Breakdown of subprime mortgage exposure by vintage
Hedges, including exposures to monolines61, other counterparties
Creditworthiness of hedge counterparties
Credit valuation adjustments for specific counterparties
Sensitivity of valuation to changes in key assumptions and inputs

61

Monoline insurers guarantee repayments on bonds.
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Panel A2.1: SSG – leading-practice disclosures (continued)
Other Subprime and Alt-A Exposures62
Whole loans, RMBS63, derivatives, other
Detail on credit quality (such as credit rating, loan-to-value ratios, performance measures)
Breakdown of subprime mortgage exposure by vintage
Sensitivity of valuation to changes in key assumptions and inputs
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities
Breakdown of collateral by industry
Breakdown of collateral by geography
Change in exposure from the prior period, including sales and write-downs
Leveraged Finance
Funded exposure and unfunded commitments
Change in exposure from prior period(s), including sales and write-downs
Distribution of exposure by industry
Distribution of exposure by geography

A2.4 IASB’s management commentary framework
The IASB Practice Statement Management Commentary: A Framework for Presentation includes
guidance on risk disclosures. The principal points are:
‘31 Management should disclose an entity’s principal risk exposures and changes
in those risks, together with its plans and strategies for bearing or mitigating
those risks, as well as disclosure of the effectiveness of its risk management
strategies. This disclosure helps users to evaluate the entity’s risks as well as
its expected outcomes. Management should distinguish the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the entity, rather than listing all possible risks and
uncertainties.
‘32 Management should disclose its principal strategic, commercial, operational
and financial risks, which are those that may significantly affect the entity’s
strategies and progress of the entity’s value. The description of the principal risks
facing the entity should cover both exposures to negative consequences and
potential opportunities. Management commentary provides useful information
when it discusses the principal risks and uncertainties necessary to understand
management’s objectives and strategies for the entity. The principal risks and
uncertainties can constitute either a significant external or internal risk to the
entity.’
But paragraphs 33 (on relationships) and 36 (on prospects) are also relevant:
‘33 Management should identify the significant relationships that the entity has
with stakeholders, how those relationships are likely to affect the performance
and value of the entity, and how those relationships are managed. This type
of disclosure helps users of the financial reports to understand how an entity’s
relationships influence the nature of its business and whether an entity’s
relationships expose the business to substantial risk.’
‘36 Management should provide an analysis of the prospects of the entity, which
may include targets for financial and non-financial measures. This information
can help users of the financial reports to understand how management intends
to implement its strategies for the entity over the long term. When targets are
quantified, management should explain the risks and assumptions necessary for
users to assess the likelihood of achieving those targets.’

62
63

 lt-A loans fail to meet traditional underwriting guidelines.
A
Residential mortgage-backed securities.
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A2.5 International Corporate Governance Network guidelines
In December 2010 the International Corporate Governance Network issued ICGN Corporate
Risk Oversight Guidelines. The object of the guidelines is ‘to help investors assess how well a …
company’s board … is effectively overseeing risk management’. It recommends a number of
disclosures by companies and its key principle in this respect is that ‘The board should concisely
disclose information sufficient for investors to make judgments on the quality of the board’s
oversight of the risk management process.’ The guidelines include a number of more specific
disclosure proposals in support of this central objective.

A2.6 Financial Reporting Council
In the UK, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) issued Effective Company Stewardship: Next Steps
in September 2011. This states that:
‘the FRC has concluded that in future narrative reports, companies should:
•	focus primarily on strategic risks – rather than those risks that arise naturally
and without action by the company (such as volcanic interruptions of air
travel or earthquake damage); and
•	disclose these risks and the major operational risks inherent in their business
model and their strategy for implementing that business model, explaining
how they will address those risks and any obstacles that may be encountered
as a result of changes in the business environment.
… The FRC believes that any description of the risks a company faces should
not be made difficult to assess by being scattered about the annual report.
Consequently, if a company considers that the risks it faces are best understood
if discussed in the context of the company’s strategy, those risks should also be
included in the company’s description of principal risks in the Business Review
…’

56

Appendix 2

Appendix 3: Research evidence
on risk reporting

This appendix summarises at A3.1-A3.6 the major research of which we are aware on the quality
and usefulness of risk reporting. At A3.7-A3.9 we refer briefly to research on the covariance of
firms’ profitability, which is relevant to the assessment of risk, and on the usefulness of financial
reporting in general for assessing risks in the sense of variability of returns and for predicting default.

A3.1 US
Schrand, 1997
In ‘The association between stock-price interest rate sensitivity and disclosures about derivative
instruments’ Catherine M. Schrand looks at information on derivatives in unpublished regulatory
returns of 57 public savings and loan associations from 1984 to 1988. The author finds ‘evidence
that off-balance-sheet derivatives activities are positively associated with lower stock-price interest
rate sensitivity’ and that ‘on-balance-sheet exposures to interest rate changes ... are also valuerelevant’ (ie, show a correlation with changes in share prices).
The significance of this is that the information in the regulatory filings is analogous to disclosures
proposed by FASB and the SEC in the 1990s, in SFAS 119, Disclosures about Fair Values of Derivative
Financial Instruments and Fair Values of Financial Instruments, and the proposals that preceded FRR
48, Disclosure of Accounting Policies for Derivative Financial Instruments etc. ‘Therefore, the results
suggest that the proposed disclosures will provide value-relevant information about interest rate
risk for S&Ls.’

Rajgopal, 1999
In ‘Early evidence on the informativeness of the SEC’s market risk disclosures: the case of
commodity price risk exposure of oil and gas producers’ Shivaram Rajgopal looks at commodity
price risk disclosures made by 52 US public oil and gas companies between 1993 and 1996.
These disclosures were made in accordance with SFAS 69, Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing
Activities, and SFAS 119, Disclosures about Fair Values of Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair
Values of Financial Instruments. He finds that the disclosures are associated with the stock market’s
sensitivity to changes in oil and gas prices.
The author cautions that:
‘Such association, by itself, does not demonstrate the incremental utility of these
risk measures to investors. For example, equivalent information may be available
to the market from sources other than the footnote disclosures used in the
paper.’
On the basis of his findings, the author suggests that disclosures under FRR 48 are also likely to be
‘significantly associated with O&G firms’ stock return sensitivities to oil and gas price movements’,
but his study data precede actual disclosures under FRR 48.

Elmy et al, 1998
In ‘A review of initial filings under the SEC’s new market risk disclosure rules’ Frederick J. Elmy,
Louis P. LeGuyader and Thomas J. Linsmeier examine the first filings under the SEC’s Financial
Reporting Release (FRR) 48. They conclude that ‘Overall, … the quality of the quantitative and
qualitative disclosures by registrants that were the first to comply with FRR 48 was less than
satisfactory.’ But they attribute this to ‘the newness and complexity of the requirements’.
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Roulstone, 1999
In ‘Effect of SEC Financial Reporting Release No. 48 on derivative and market risk disclosures’
Darren T. Roulstone compares the derivative and market risk disclosures made by 25 SEC
registrants before (1996) and after (1997) FRR 48. He finds that the 1997 filings ‘contained more
comprehensive and specific accounting policy and market risk disclosures’. But ‘the increased
disclosures were not presented in accordance with SEC guidelines’. While ‘the quantitative
disclosures provided information on the magnitude of market risk exposures … this magnitude
was often difficult to understand due to the lack of contextual information.’ Also, ‘too many
disclosures leave readers unsure of how changes in specific rates and prices will affect the
registrant.’
Roulstone finds that, in their qualitative disclosures, some firms ‘used vague, apparently
“boilerplate” language to state that derivatives were used to hedge some risks, without providing
details such as amounts, positions and instruments. This made it difficult to understand the
registrant’s risk-management goals and its ability to achieve those goals.’
Overall, Roulstone endorses Elmy, LeGuyader and Linsmeier’s verdict that the quality of the
disclosures under FRR 48 is ‘less than satisfactory’.

Linsmeier et al, 2002
‘The effect of mandated market risk disclosures on trading volume sensitivity to interest rate,
exchange rate, and commodity price movements’ is a paper by Thomas J. Linsmeier, Daniel
B. Thornton, Mohan Venkatachalam and Michael Welker. It is based on the theory that when
investors generally are better informed about the likely effects of an event on a firm’s prospects,
they will tend to trade its shares less than when they are poorly informed. The rationale behind
this is that trading is more likely where there is uncertainty and diversity of opinion. Improved
information should reduce uncertainty and diversity of opinion, and therefore reduce the volume
of trading.
The authors compare trading levels at the time of changes in interest rates, exchange rates and
commodity prices before and after FRR 48. They find that trading volume sensitivity to changes in
interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices declines after FRR 48 information becomes
available. This is consistent with investors’ being better informed on the likely effects of such
changes.
The authors caution that ‘Because the theoretical and empirical determinants of trading volume
are not completely understood, our interpretation of the results may be vulnerable to the
omission of as-yet-unidentified determinants of trading volume.’

Jorion, 2002
In ‘How informative are value-at-risk disclosures?’ Philippe Jorion looks at the value-at-risk (VAR)
disclosures of eight major US commercial banks between 1995 and 1999 to see whether they
help predict the variability of trading revenues. He finds that they do: ‘Banks with large VAR
measures experience much greater fluctuations in unexpected trading revenues.’

Campbell et al, 2011
In an unpublished paper, The Information Content of Mandatory Risk Factor Disclosures in Corporate
Filings, John L. Campbell, Hsinchun Chen, Dan S. Dhaliwal, Hsin-min Lu and Logan B. Steele
examine the words used in US-quoted companies’ ‘risk factor’ disclosures in their 10-K reports
between 2005 and 2008. The sample is 10,174 firm-year observations. They quantify firms’ risk
disclosures by counting the number of words. So, 10,000 words is regarded as twice as much
disclosure as 5,000 words. They also identify key words that relate to different categories of risk
(ie, financial, idiosyncratic, litigation, systematic, and tax). They take stock-price volatility as a
measure of the firms’ actual risks but use other proxies for some of the specific categories of risk
(eg, size for litigation risk and financial leverage for financial risk).
The authors find that:
•	Firms that face greater risks have longer risk disclosures. The length of these disclosures by
category reflects the different types of risks that firms face. ‘In other words, managers provide
informative risk disclosures.’
•	There is a positive association between the length of risk disclosures and post-disclosure
market assessments of firm risk. This may suggest that longer risk disclosures lead investors to
revise upwards their assessments of firm risk.
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•	However, longer risk disclosures are also associated with a lower subsequent bid-ask spread for
the share price, which the authors take as a measure of information asymmetry. That is, longer
disclosure may decrease information asymmetry.
•	There is a negative association between the length of risk disclosures and the subsequent
stock price. That is, longer risk disclosures may lead to lower stock prices.

Kravet and Muslu, 2011
In an unpublished paper, Informativeness of Risk Disclosures in Corporate Annual Reports, Todd
Kravet and Volkan Muslu examine textual risk disclosures in US-quoted companies’ 10-K reports
– not just their ‘risk factor’ disclosures – between 1994 and 2007. The sample is 28,110 firmyear observations. They quantify firms’ risk disclosures by counting the number of sentences
that contain key words (such as ‘risk, ‘uncertain’, ‘may’, ‘might’, etc), and compare year-on-year
changes in the level of disclosure.
The authors find that:
Increased risk disclosures ‘are associated with increased stock return volatility
and trading volume around and after the [10-K] filings. The increases in risk
disclosures are also associated with more dispersed earnings forecasts and
forecast revisions after the filings.’ These findings ‘suggest that risk disclosures
reveal unknown unknowns and increase the market’s perception of risk and
uncertainties’.

A3.2 Canada
Lajili and Zéghal, 2005
In ‘A content analysis of risk management disclosures in Canadian annual reports’ Kaouthar
Lajili and Daniel Zéghal review the risk management disclosures in the 1999 annual reports of
the constituent companies of the TSE (Toronto Stock Exchange) 300. The review covers the
firms’ MD&A disclosures and the notes to the accounts. The authors conclude that ‘While [the]
disclosure rate appears relatively high, one might question the degree of relevance and potential
analytical usefulness of the information disclosed.’ Risk disclosure, they state, ‘persists in being
general, scattered, and sometimes ambiguous’.
Lajili and Zéghal note ‘the clear emphasis by Canadian companies on the down-side aspect of risk
and the absence of the up-side risk potential or opportunity-seeking strategies in risk management
to create economic value’. They also comment that ‘it is not clear … whether derivatives are used
to reduce or increase risk exposure’.
The authors suggest that the limited value of the disclosures ‘is probably intentional since the
competitive pressures and proprietary information costs associated with [more useful] disclosure
could be substantial’.

A3.3 Germany
Kajüter, 2004
In an unpublished paper, Risk Disclosures of Listed Firms in Germany: A Longitudinal Study, Peter
Kajüter reviews the risk disclosures by non-financial firms in the DAX 100 index as at 31 December
2001, looking at their annual reports for the years 1999 to 2003. Risk disclosures were required
for German companies throughout this period, but the initial requirement was supplemented
from 2001 by an accounting standard. The disclosures are required in the management report,
however, not in the accounts.
Kajüter finds that:
•	the volume of risk reports more than doubled in the period under review, as did the number
of risks disclosed;
•	the disclosures are almost entirely focused on downside risk;
•	more ‘external’ risks, which are common to firms in the same industry, are reported than
‘internal’ risks;
•	‘in most cases risks are described insufficiently’, with little information on potential negative
impacts; and
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•	‘it is usually impossible to distinguish the … most important risks from those with less
relevance’.
Overall Kajüter concludes that ‘the findings of this study … reveal that most risk reports are …
deficient as regards depth and precision’ and describes his findings as ‘rather disappointing’.

Dobler, 2005
In How Informative Is Risk Reporting? A Review of Disclosure Models, Michael Dobler briefly
summarises earlier research on risk reporting in Germany, comprising Kajüter’s paper referred to
above and two German-language papers. He states: ‘Empirical evidence from Germany implies
that risk disclosures just slightly improved after explicitly obliging firms to report on their risks’.
Dobler comments that (as quoted at Section 3.9 above):
‘In a voluntary disclosure regime, risk reports will be of poor value for the
investors first of all because the forward-looking information disclosed is nonverifiable at an ex ante stage. This allows for discretion and manipulation, and
cannot be overcome, but [may be] slightly limited by regulation. Mandatory
risk disclosure does not necessarily change the results obtained under voluntary
disclosure. In consequence, consistent with empirical findings the value of
risk reporting for its users must not be overestimated.’ He adds that his paper
implies that ‘the value of risk reporting is generally overestimated’.

Berger and Gleissner, 2006
In Risk Reporting and Risks Reported Thomas Berger and Werner Gleissner of the RMCE RiskCon
consultancy review the risks reported in the 2000 to 2005 annual reports of 92 German public
companies. They use a scoring system to rate the reports’ information content with a potential
maximum score of 15. They find that the information content improves over time, from an
average score of 5.2 in 2000 to 8.3 in 2005, but comment that ‘this is far from being good’ and
that risk reporting quality is still ‘at a low level’. They note that companies seem more likely to
disclose risks that are outside managers’ control and that they ‘do not provide much quantitative
information’. For 2005 the authors find an average of 10.6 risks disclosed per company.

A3.4 Italy
Beretta and Bozzolan, 2004
In ‘A framework for the analysis of firm risk communication’ Sergio Beretta and Saverio Bozzolan
analyse risk disclosures by 85 non-financial firms quoted on the Italian Stock Exchange at the
end of 2001. The authors argue that ‘the quantity of disclosure is not a satisfactory proxy for
the quality of disclosure’. They therefore develop measures of risk disclosure quality that reflect
different dimensions of the information disclosed. There were limited requirements for risk
disclosures at the time, and so the disclosures were ‘almost totally voluntary’.
The authors’ preliminary conclusions from the sample are:
‘First, analyzed firms voluntarily disclose some information concerning their
future strategies but avoid communicating about their expected impact, not
only in quantitative terms, but even in economic direction (expected profit
or loss). Second, voluntary disclosure appears systematically biased towards
management’s self-justification of expected negative impacts: the rich disclosure
of the expected limitations to business coming from new regulations is a clear
symptom. Third, analyzed firms prefer to disclose management’s thoughts
and expectations on the future rather than to communicate the decisions
and actions taken in the realm of risk management.’ In short, ‘analyzed firms
are clearly oriented towards a policy of “formal disclosure but substantial
nondisclosure” of the expected impact of risk factors on future performance’.
In their discussion, the authors point out that ‘the types of risks a company faces are strictly
related to both the unique critical-success factors and to the typical business models of an
industry’. This has implications for what types of risk disclosure are likely to be useful.
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A3.5 UK
Solomon et al, 2000
In ‘A conceptual framework for corporate risk disclosure emerging from the agenda for corporate
governance reform’ Jill Solomon, Aris Solomon, Simon Norton and Nathan Joseph report the
results of a survey of 97 UK institutional investors undertaken in 1999, some years after the UK’s
voluntary operating and financial review guidance was introduced. The survey found that on
average respondents tended to agree with the proposition ‘I believe that the current state of risk
disclosure by our UK investee companies in inadequate’. However, the strength of agreement
with the proposition was low. Responses were on a scale of 1 to 7, with 1 indicating strong
disagreement, 4 indicating a neutral response, and 7 indicating strong agreement. The mean
for responses to this question was 4.5.
There was stronger agreement with the proposition ‘I believe that increased corporate risk
disclosure would help institutional investors in their portfolio investment decisions’. The mean
for responses to this proposition, agreement with which might seem to imply a view that current
risk reporting is inadequate, was 5.0.

Linsley and Shrives, 2006
In ‘Risk reporting: a study of risk disclosures in the annual reports of UK companies’ Philip Linsley
and Philip Shrives analyse the risk reporting content of 79 non-financial firms in the FTSE 100,
using the reports with a year-end date nearest to 1 January 2001. Their definition of risk includes
‘good risk’ as well as ‘bad risk’ and they find, amongst other things, that firms make a significantly
greater number of good risk disclosures. They also find that there is statistically significant
disclosure of forward-looking risk information – a result they describe as ‘unexpected’ in the light
of previous research.

Marshall and Weetman, 2008
In Managing Interest Rate Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk: Disclosure of Objectives, Policies and
Processes, Andrew Marshall and Pauline Weetman investigate the risk management practices and
disclosures of 30 UK companies, using questionnaires and the companies’ annual reports for 2004
to 2006. They find that the companies surveyed disclose about half the information available
to management on their objectives, policies and processes for managing interest rate risk and
foreign exchange risk. They comment that:
‘we do not know whether having companies report 50% of what they know
provides too much, too little, or just the right amount of information that is
needed for informed decision making’.

ASB, 2009
In A Review of Narrative Reporting by UK Listed Companies in 2008/2009 the Accounting Standards
Board (ASB) analyses the non-financial reporting of 50 UK listed companies in their 2008 or
2009 annual reports.64 It finds that ‘66% of the sample were technically compliant [with the UK’s
Business Review requirements] because they listed some risks, but in our view needed to make
improvements to meet the spirit of the requirements.’ It finds that ‘One company had 33 risks
and eight companies [ie, 16%] had 20 or more.’ As the requirement is to list principal risks, the
ASB considers such lists excessive. The ASB notes the tendency to report ‘Generic risks that could
easily be cut and pasted into any report – for example, “influenza outbreak” or “terrorism”’ and
to provide ‘Too little detail to understand the risk’.

FRC, 2011
In Boards and Risk: A Summary of Discussions with Companies, Investors and Advisers, the Financial
Reporting Council (FRC) summarises discussions with senior people from over 40 major listed
companies and a selection of investors and advisers. The FRC reports that:
‘The majority of investors who participated in the meetings felt there was scope
for considerable improvement in reporting on risk and internal control. Most
participants from companies acknowledged shortcomings in reporting, but
many of them felt there were obstacles to more meaningful disclosure.
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Key findings from this report also appear in the Accounting Standards Board’s Rising to the Challenge.
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‘Some institutional investors said that they placed more importance on the
assurance they received from discussions with boards and management than
on the words in the annual report. This was particularly the case when it came
to assessing the quality of risk management and internal control, for which
their main source of assurance was the quality of the board… Participants from
companies said that in their experience most investors rarely asked questions
about risk or internal control…’

Abraham et al, 2011
Risk Reporting: Clarity, Relevance and Location is a forthcoming report by Santhosh Abraham,
Claire Marston and Phil Darby, presented as a paper at the 2011 Financial Reporting and Business
Communications Conference.65 The report is based on interviews with 32 investment analysts in
2009-10 and analysis of the 2009 annual reports of 18 listed companies in the food and drink
sector.
The authors find that on average the investment analysts regard both ‘financial risk factors’ and
‘business risk factor statements’ in annual reports as useful. However, there are wide differences
of view within the sample group. Seven of the analysts think that ‘annual-report risk disclosure is
very general and therefore provides no additional relevant information.’ But nine of them ‘view
the annual report as being of primary importance in understanding overall investment risk’ (the
annual report includes the financial statements). And four of them ‘point out that a large list of
risk factors is helpful’.
The survey of annual report risk disclosures finds that the sample companies disclose 12 risks on
average. The authors comment that the ‘risk information [is] general in nature’, but that ‘on rare
occasions, a very company-specific risk is declared’.

A3.6 Banks
Linsley et al, 2006
In ‘Risk disclosure: an exploratory study of UK and Canadian banks’, Philip M. Linsley, Philip J.
Shrives and Mandy Crumpton examine the risk disclosures in the annual reports of nine Canadian
and nine UK banks for the year end closest to 31 December 2001. They find that:
‘Overall, general statements of risk management policy dominate the risk
disclosures although these are not as useful to the reader as specific risk or risk
management information. It is also the case that the other characteristics noted
as being more useful in relation to risk information, namely quantitative and
future risk information, are disclosed much less often than qualitative and past
information.’

Woods et al, 2008a
In ‘The value of risk reporting: a critical analysis of value-at-risk disclosures in the banking
sector’ Margaret Woods, Kevin Dowd and Christopher Humphrey review the value-at-risk (VaR)
disclosures of six of the world’s largest banks for 2001 and 2002. They also draw on evidence
of VaR disclosures produced by the Basel Committee. They describe the rise of VaR as a basis
for external reporting and analyse its problems and limitations. For example, VaR measurements
with a 95% confidence level may be informative as to what is at stake 95% of the time, but give
no indication of how much might be lost on the other 5% of occasions.
The authors conclude:
‘In summary, our discussion suggests that very little can be gleaned from
published VaR figures, especially when taken on their own... Major international
banks seem willing to offer generic, non-sensitive VaR information to signal that
their risk management practices are up to date, but they also seem increasingly
reluctant to give away information that could be used to draw sensitive
conclusions about their risk management and other practices. A cynic might
suggest that we have the appearance of disclosure, combined with careful
attempts to avoid disclosing anything of real significance.’
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On risk reporting more generally, they comment: ‘The key to risk disclosure is to appear to be “on
the ball” and give out the same vacuous information as competitors and … vacuous information
has the extra advantage of being difficult to disprove.’

Woods et al, 2008b
In ‘Market risk reporting by the world’s top banks: evidence on the diversity of reporting practice
and the implications for international accounting harmonisation’ the same three authors review
market risk disclosures by 25 large international banks in their annual reports for 2000, 2003
and 2006. They use a scoring system to mark the banks’ reporting against a list of 41 potential
market risk disclosures. On average, they find ‘a mildly increasing trend’ of disclosures, but there
are significant reductions in disclosure by some banks. The authors note that the four banks that
show the greatest reduction all switched from local GAAP to IFRS during the survey period.
They also draw attention to:
‘the case of Société Générale, which achieved a “perfect” score of 41 in 2006.
This score is especially revealing in the light of the recent events at the bank,
where the activities of a “rogue trader” generated direct losses of around €5
billion. This result … emphasizes the dangers of assuming that high levels of
disclosure go hand-in-hand with the existence of effective risk management
systems.’

A3.7 The covariance of profitability
A firm’s earnings are likely to vary during the different phases of the business cycle (and for other
reasons) and the extent of their variability is one indicator of risk. Variability of earnings itself varies
from industry to industry. Some industries are more variable than others, and the business cycle
for a particular industry may not coincide with that for the economy as a whole. It is therefore of
interest to know how far a particular business’s earnings vary with changes across the economy as
a whole, how far with other businesses in the same sector, and how far for idiosyncratic reasons.
Philip Brown and Ray Ball, in ‘Some preliminary findings on the association between the earnings
of a firm, its industry, and the economy’ (1967), examine these questions for a sample of 316 US
firms (451 firms for the purpose of ‘the economy’) between 1947 and 1965. They find that ‘on
average, approximately 35%-40% of the variability of a firm’s annual earnings numbers can be
associated with the variability of earnings numbers averaged over all firms’ and that ‘on average,
a further 10%-15% can be associated with the industry average’. They point out, though, that
industry classifications can be arbitrary and suggest that one possibility would be to define an
industry in terms of covariability of earnings.
Studies of other economies or at other times would presumably yield different results; as
individual firms, sectors and economies change, so would the relevant covariances.

A3.8 Accounting and the variability of returns
There was interesting research published in the late 1960s and the 1970s on financial reporting’s
informativeness on risk in the sense of variability of returns (in terms of movements in share
prices). Indeed, if risk is defined as variability of returns, then arguably this is the key information
about risk that users need to know.
Among the pioneering works are Ray Ball and Philip Brown, ‘Portfolio theory and accounting’
(1969); William Beaver, Paul Kettler and Myron Scholes, ‘The association between market
determined and accounting determined risk measures’ (1970); and William Beaver and James
Manegold, ‘The association between market-determined and accounting-determined measures of
systematic risk: some further evidence’ (1975).
Stephen G. Ryan, ‘A survey of research relating accounting numbers to systematic equity risk, with
implications for risk disclosure policy and future research’ (1997), reviews the literature extant at
that time and makes recommendations for accounting practice.
Peter Pope, ‘Bridging the gap between accounting and finance’ (2010) notes that the early work
referred to above is now ‘apparently largely forgotten’ and that ‘The time is right for theoretical
and empirical academic research to revisit the ability of accounting information to reveal risk.’
As Pope notes, there is some more recent empirical work. This includes Stephen P. Baginski and
James M. Wahlen, ‘Residual income risk, intrinsic values, and share prices’ (2003); Begoña Giner
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and Carmelo Reverte, ‘The risk-relevance of accounting data: evidence from the Spanish stock
market’ (2006); and Leslie D. Hodder, Patrick E. Hopkins and James M. Wahlen, ‘Risk-relevance of
fair-value income measures for commercial banks’ (2006).
All this research – both in the 1960s/70s and more recently – indicates that financial reporting is
informative on risk in the sense of variability of stock market returns.

A3.9 Accounting and the probability of default
There is also a significant research literature on the usefulness of accounting ratios in predicting
default. In ‘Have financial statements become less informative? Evidence from the ability of
financial ratios to predict bankruptcy’ William H. Beaver, Maureen F. McNichols and Jung-Wu Rhie
(2005) note that ‘It is well established that financial ratios do have predictive power up to at least
five years prior to bankruptcy.’ Examining US public companies from 1962 to 2002 they find
‘a slight decline in the predictive ability of financial ratios’ in forecasting bankruptcy. A broader
and more recent survey of the subject is William H. Beaver, Maria Correia and Maureen F.
McNichols, ‘Financial statement analysis and the prediction of financial distress’ (2010).
A well-established UK-based bankruptcy prediction model that uses accounting data is the
Taffler z-score model. On this, see Vineet Agarwal and Richard J. Taffler, ‘Twenty-five years of
the Taffler z-score model: does it really have predictive ability?’ (2007).
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Appendix 4: Risk reporting
and the financial crisis

This appendix expands on the information on risk reporting and the financial crisis in Chapter 2.
For the sake of completeness, some of the material given in that chapter is repeated here.

A4.1 The response to the crisis
We noted in Chapter 1 that demands for improved risk reporting have intensified since the
financial crisis. Those who have made calls of this sort include the Financial Stability Forum (FSF),
the European Commission, and, in the UK, the House of Commons Treasury Committee, Sir David
Walker in his review of corporate governance in financial institutions and the Financial Reporting
Council.66 Such calls reflect a widely shared view that managers, investors and regulators all
underestimated the risks that key financial services businesses were taking on. Better risk reporting,
it is thought, should allow interested parties in future to understand risks better, help to prevent
excessive risk-taking, and so make both future crises and individual business failures less likely.
The call for better risk reporting following the crisis reflects an understandable view that risk
reporting before the crisis was inadequate. To some extent this may reflect a common perception,
which we discussed in Chapters 2 and 3, that risk reporting in general is inadequate. But it must
also reflect a view that, in financial institutions specifically, risk reporting failed to give adequate
warnings that problems were imminent or even conceivable.
Some steps to improve quantitative disclosures by financial institutions have already been taken.
Risk reporting requirements for financial instruments have been strengthened, internationally
through the revised version of IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, issued in March 2009, and
in the US through amendments to US GAAP. And banks’ risk disclosures in many jurisdictions have
also improved since the onset of the crisis through implementation and expansion of the Basel
II Pillar 3 requirements, which specify disclosures to facilitate the exercise of market discipline on
banks.

A4.2 Possible explanations
If risk reporting ahead of the crisis was indeed inadequate, there are very broadly three possible
explanations for this. They are not mutually exclusive and it may be found that each of them
helps to explain some part of the complex pattern of events in the many and diverse institutions
around the world that were affected by the crisis. The three broad possibilities are:
•

Risk reporting requirements were inadequate.

•	Risk reporting requirements were adequate, but managers, although aware of the risks, did
not report them.
•	Managers were generally unaware of the risks or significantly underestimated them. In which
case, to some extent, it would have been irrelevant what the risk reporting requirements were.
As we have indicated, the general view at present seems to be that there was a widespread
underestimation of risk, which would point to the third possibility as a likely explanation of the
inadequacy of risk reporting. But it also seems likely that requirements for quantitative, analytical
risk disclosures were inadequate. These are matters that require further empirical investigation,
looking at both risk reporting and risk assessment ahead of the crisis, and at how they changed
during the crisis.
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Panel A4.1: Crashes, booms and risk
In a letter to the Financial Times published on 10 December 2010, Professor Avinash D. Persaud
wrote:
‘[C]rashes are not random; they always follow booms. And booms are not
caused by people doing things they know are risky, but people doing things
they perceive as safe; so safe as to justify doubling up and betting the house.’

A4.3 Research findings
There seems to date, however, to have been little research on risk reporting and the financial
crisis. The one major study of which we are aware is UK Bank Risk Disclosures in the Period Through
to the Onset of the Global Financial Crisis by Philip Linsley of the University of York.67 This looks at
the risk disclosures of eight UK banks in their annual reports for the period 2002-2008. Five of the
eight were subsequently rescued, directly or indirectly, by the British government. A sixth, though
not in financial distress, thought it prudent at the peak of the crisis to sell itself to a larger bank.
Key findings of the study include:
‘[A] risk narrative is identifiable for each of the sample banks, but … it is hidden.
Consequently, substantial effort is required to piece together the overall
narrative. There is no evidence that there is deliberate intent on the part of the
banks to make the risk narrative inaccessible…’68
‘In all cases prior to the crisis the narratives portray the banks as having a
sound awareness of the risk environment and a propensity to adapt their risk
management approaches as the risk environment changes. They display a
confidence in their ability to manage the risks they are confronted with and
there is no forewarning that a crisis may be imminent within these narratives.
‘The analysis of the tone of the risk narratives indicates that there is an increasing
optimism present in the risk narratives as the pre-crisis period progresses… The
mood of optimism noted in respect of the pre-crisis risk disclosures dissipates
post-crisis…
‘[T]he risk- and risk management-related information that formed the basis of
the risk narratives identified in the study is widely dispersed throughout the
annual report. Therefore, the identification of a risk narrative for each bank is
only possible if a reader is prepared to spend considerable time searching for
relevant risk disclosures and then analysing key risk themes. Further, it would be
difficult to identify the risk narrative if an annual report is read in isolation as the
risk narratives only become discernible when a sequence of annual reports are
examined covering a period of some years. The presentation of key risk factors
that is present in many annual reports tends to be a rehearsal of generalised
risks that face the overall banking sector and this does not aid in understanding
the risk narrative of the individual bank.’

A4.4 Other investigations
There is a large and growing literature on the crisis. Although relatively little seems to have been
done to investigate the quality of risk reporting, there has been significantly more work on the
quality of risk assessment ahead of the crisis. This is not primarily academic research, but the
findings of banking regulators and other authorities, which are at least to some extent based on
their access to information that is not publicly available.
Two important reports from the Senior Supervisors Group (SSG) of international banking
regulators are:
•	Observations on Risk Management Practices during the Recent Market Turbulence (6 March
2008). As the date of the report indicates, it was prepared before the crisis had reached its
peak. It is based on an analysis of 11 of the world’s largest banking and securities firms,
with contributions from five more firms at a roundtable held in February 2008.
67
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 study supported by ICAEW’s charitable trusts for research.
A
The idea of a risk narrative is an interesting one and fits with the proposition, discussed earlier (Section 4.4.1),
that risk disclosures need to be brought together so that they give a self-sufficient and coherent view.
The case for such an approach is perhaps particularly strong for banks.
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•	Risk Management Lessons from the Global Banking Crisis (21 October 2009). This is a more
general review, looking back on the crisis.
In the first of these reports, the SSG concludes that:
‘The predominant source of losses for firms in the survey through year-end
was the firms’ concentrated exposure to securitizations of US subprime
mortgage-related credit. In particular, some firms made strategic decisions
to retain large exposures to super-senior tranches of collateralized debt
obligations that far exceeded the firms’ understanding of the risks inherent
in such instruments…
‘Another risk management challenge concerned firms’ understanding and
control over their potential balance sheet growth and liquidity needs.
For example, some firms failed to price properly the risk that exposures to
certain off-balance-sheet vehicles might need to be funded on the balance
sheet precisely when it became difficult or expensive to raise such funds
externally.’
The SSG’s second report, while consistent with its earlier one, goes more widely in identifying
risk management failures:
‘The events of 2008 clearly exposed the vulnerabilities of financial firms whose
business models depended too heavily on uninterrupted access to secured
financing markets, often at excessively high leverage levels. This dependence
reflected an unrealistic assessment of liquidity risks of concentrated positions …
‘Our report highlights a number of areas of weakness that require further work
by … firms to address, including the following (in addition to the liquidity risk
management issues described above):
•	the failure of some boards of directors and senior managers to establish,
measure and adhere to a level of risk acceptable to the firm; …
•	inadequate and often fragmented technological infrastructures that hindered
effective risk identification and measurement; and
•	institutional arrangements that conferred status and influence on risk takers
at the expense of independent risk managers and control personnel.’
A report from the FSF (now the Financial Stability Board – FSB) in April 2008 identifies a number
of major failures of risk assessment as contributing to the crisis.69 The problems identified in the
report include:
•	Before the crisis, there was a ‘global trend of low risk premia and low expectations of future
volatility’.
•	Banks ‘misjudged the liquidity and concentration risks that a deterioration in general
economic conditions would pose’.
•	Banks ‘misjudged the risks that were created by their explicit and implicit commitments to
[off-balance sheet funding and investment vehicles], including the reputational risks arising
from the sponsorship of the vehicles’.
•	Banks ‘misjudged the level of risks [on loans to households and businesses, including loans
for buy-outs by private equity firms], particularly these instruments’ common exposure to
broad factors such as a weakening housing market or a fall in the market liquidity of high-yield
corporate debt’.
Other investigations by governments and regulators around the world have arrived at similar
findings. We discuss below what conclusions we might draw from this in relation to risk reporting.

A4.5 Discussion
A4.5.1 Philip Linsley’s study
Does Philip Linsley’s UK Bank Risk Disclosures report show that there was a failure of risk reporting
ahead of the crisis? It seems clear that, before the crisis, the banks in the sample disclosed no
69

 eport of the Financial Stability Forum on Enhancing Market and Institutional Resilience. Although this report was
R
issued before the crisis reached its peak, subsequent statements by the Forum/Board do not indicate that its
analysis of the causes of the crisis has subsequently changed.
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indication of the problems to come.70 But whether this means that there was a failure in risk
reporting is another matter. The study is based primarily on an examination of annual reports,
though the firms’ press releases were also covered. It is impossible on the basis of such purely
external evidence to know how well firms’ external disclosures accurately reflected their internal
views on risk, though we have no reason to doubt the integrity of the disclosures examined.
But this limitation does mean that studies of this sort cannot tell us whether the absence of
any warning of potential problems ahead was because managers were aware of the risks but
failed to report them or because they were just unaware of the risks. It would only be possible
for researchers to investigate this question if they had access to banks’ internal records and it is
probably unrealistic to expect that, in the ordinary course of events, they ever would be given
access in this way, especially on such a sensitive issue, unless they have the support of bank
regulators.
While banking regulators and other authorities will often have positions to defend, their access
to evidence means that their investigations may offer a better chance of understanding how well
banks understood their risks ahead of the crisis. As we have noted, the consensus among relevant
authorities is that banks did not understand their risks properly.

A4.5.2 Were risk reporting requirements adequate?
It seems likely that in important respects, risk reporting requirements ahead of the crisis were
inadequate. This is a judgement made with the benefit of hindsight and is not intended to be a
criticism of those responsible for setting the requirements.
In firms’ financial reporting, there appears to have been significant understatement of risk,
particularly in the US, because of the extensive use of off balance sheet vehicles.71 Indeed, the
chairman of the IASB has argued that:
‘The current credit crisis has to a large extent been caused by a lack of
transparency in the financial markets. Huge risks were allowed to build up on
and off balance sheet without being noticed.’72
US GAAP requirements in this respect were looser than those of IFRS. The relevant US GAAP
requirements have subsequently been tightened up, as have those of IFRS. The fact that a liability
is off balance sheet does not necessarily mean that users are unaware of it. Indeed, there is
research suggesting that the stock market views securitised assets and liabilities held off balance
sheet as though they were on the firm’s balance sheet. But users may not always know enough
about off balance sheet items to arrive at such a view.73
Before the crisis, insufficient analysis of financial reporting items was given to allow users of
the accounts to make a proper assessment of risks. The US Financial Crisis Inquiry Report (FCIR)
indicates that when in the spring of 2007 banks first disclosed the reliability of the measurements
of their financial instruments reported at fair value, analysed by three levels of measurement input
(and liquidity), the information came as a surprise to the market:
‘The sum of more illiquid Level 2 and 3 assets at [financial companies] was “eyepopping in terms of the amount of leverage the banks and investment banks
had,” according to Jim Chanos, a New York hedge fund manager. Chanos said
that the new disclosures also revealed for the first time that many firms retained
large exposures from securitizations. “You clearly didn’t get the magnitude, and
the market didn’t grasp the magnitude until the spring of ’07, when the figures
began to be published, and then it was as if someone rang a bell, because
almost immediately upon the publication of these numbers, journalists began
writing about it, and hedge funds began talking about it, and people began
speaking about it in the marketplace.”’74
Indicators of market dislocation were disclosed in accounts for the calendar year 2007. See, eg, the supplementary
memorandum by John P. Connolly, Deloitte, in the report of the House of Lords Select Committee on
Economic Affairs, Auditors: Market Concentration and Their Role, vol 2, at p232: comments on audits for the
year ended 31 December 2007. By this point the crisis was already under way. But it became worse during
2008 and so reports on 2007 may well have provided useful indicators of further difficulties to come.
71
S. P. Kothari, Karthik Ramanna and Douglas J. Skinner, ‘Implications for GAAP from an analysis of positive
research in accounting’, argue that there was ‘a failure of the balance sheet to achieve one of its fundamental
economic objectives – to provide outsiders with a clear view of the entity’s obligations’.
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Hans Hoogervorst, 9 February 2011, speech at a conference organised by the European Commission,
‘Financial reporting and auditing – a time for change?’
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See Wayne R. Landsman, Kenneth V. Peasnell and Catherine Shakespeare, ‘Are asset securitizations sales or
loans?’ The authors note the limitations of the information actually disclosed by firms undertaking securitisations.
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National Commission on the Causes of the Financial and Economic Crisis in the United States, The Financial
Crisis Inquiry Report, p234.
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As the quotation indicates, at least some gaps in risk reporting were repaired in the US as the crisis
was about to emerge. Similar requirements were subsequently imposed under IFRS after the crisis
had struck. But it seems likely that additional analysis would have been useful in allowing users
to make a proper assessment of risk.75 We mention elsewhere (Appendix 2 and A4.5.4 below)
specific proposals from the SSG designed to improve risk disclosures, which have subsequently
been largely adopted.

A4.5.3 Failure to report known risks?
Did banks fail to meet reporting requirements for risks of which they were aware?
Judging from the information available to date, firms’ financial reporting of risk seems generally to
have been in accordance with most of the relevant requirements,76 though it is possible that future
inquiries, litigation and disciplinary proceedings will identify exceptions to this generalisation. It has
been suggested, though, that US banks’ disclosures may not have been fully compliant with two
relevant provisions of US GAAP77:
•	SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies, requires firms to disclose as contingencies losses that are
reasonably possible – that is, the chance of the loss is more than remote but less than likely.
As the crisis emerged, one would have expected increasingly extensive disclosures by banks
under this requirement, but they do not appear to have been made.
•	SFAS 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires firms to disclose
‘all significant concentrations of credit risk arising from all financial instruments’. Banks’
disclosures under this requirement appear to have been poor.
For risk reporting outside the financial statements, it also seems to be likely, on the information
available to date, that firms’ disclosures generally complied with requirements. However, again
there were exceptions. In the UK, in July 2010, the finance director of Northern Rock during the
period from February 2007 to February 2008 was disciplined by the Financial Services Authority
for reporting (outside the financial statements) misleading information on impaired loans. In
the US, FCIR notes that in September 2004 the Chief Executive Officer of Countrywide Financial
believed that the firm’s lending policies could have ‘catastrophic consequences’. He expressed
similar concerns in August 2005.78 These concerns were not reflected in Countrywide’s public risk
reporting. The US Senate report, Wall Street and the Financial Crisis: Anatomy of a Financial Crisis
(WSFC) examines the collapse of Washington Mutual. This is another instance where public risk
reporting may have been inadequate (see Panel A4.2).
Panel A4.2: Washington Mutual
WSFC notes that Washington Mutual, though it held itself out to be a prudent lender, adopted
what its own managers called a ‘High Risk Lending Strategy’ in January 2005.79 Shortly
afterwards, the company’s CEO commented in an internal email, ‘I have never seen such a
high risk housing market’.80
WSFC does not refer to the company’s risk disclosures, but the phrase ‘high risk’ does not
appear in its 2005 annual report. However, the annual report does state:
‘If unemployment were to rise and either a slowdown in housing price
appreciation or outright declines in housing prices were to occur, borrowers
might have difficulty repaying their loans. As a result, the Company could
experience higher credit losses in its mortgage and home equity portfolios,
which could adversely affect its earnings.

 his is also the conclusion of Mary E. Barth and Wayne R. Landsman, ‘How did financial reporting contribute to the
T
financial crisis?’, which provides a useful summary of relevant research.
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Lehman Brothers is one possible exception. See the examiner’s report of Anton R. Valukas.
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The comments here are based on remarks by Stephen Ryan in a panel session on ‘Financial market regulation
and opportunities for accounting research’ at the American Accounting Association annual meeting in Denver in
August 2011.
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FCIR, pp xxii and 108.
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Panel A4.2: Washington Mutual (continued)
It also states, ‘Certain residential loans have features that may result in increased credit risk
when compared to residential loans without those features.’ It then discloses, if the reader adds
up the numbers, that 45% of its loans are of this sort. The report further indicates that the risks
associated with these loans are mitigated by, among other things, rising house prices and early
repayment. The report does not spell this out, but early repayment would presumably result
from either sale of the property or remortgaging.
While Washington Mutual’s disclosures hardly amount to a full and frank avowal that it is
pursuing a high risk lending strategy, and they do not share with readers the CEO’s personal
assessment of the housing market, a skilled advocate could perhaps make a case that its
disclosures were not actively misleading.
Its risk management disclosures seem more clearly deficient. WSFC claims that Washington
Mutual was ‘lacking in effective risk management’,81 and the evidence in the report appears
to support the allegation. The company’s public reporting conveys the opposite impression.
WSFC and FCIR do not mention other instances quite like these, so it is difficult to know whether
they are isolated cases or examples of a widespread problem.
FCIR also makes the general statement that ‘Lenders made loans that they knew borrowers could
not afford and that could cause massive losses to investors in mortgage securities’.82 It would be
reasonable to expect that, where the loans remained on the originator’s balance sheet, such risks
would have been reported. The fact that the lenders would expect to – and did – retain significant
stakes in the loans could be seen as evidence that they thought the risks were in fact significantly
lower than the FCIR, looking back on the crisis, judges them to have been.83
There are separate but related questions as to whether the buyers of mortgage securities
understood the risks (clearly, in some cases, they did not) and whether the originators of the
securities disclosed the risks in the supporting issuance documentation (again, at least in some
cases, they did not – see Panel A4.3). While these are not financial reporting questions, they have
important implications for financial reporting, as the investors’ understanding (or ignorance) of
the risks involved will have affected their own financial reporting as well as their risk disclosures
outside the accounts. It also needs to be borne in mind that:
•	the risks involved in making loans to subprime borrowers may be compensated for by higher
interest rates or higher collateral;
•	investors may have placed reliance on rating agencies’ assessments of the securities and on
insurance against losses on them.
So for various reasons the assets may not have been regarded as particularly risky.
In the event, all the safeguards failed. But at the time most people thought such an outcome
highly improbable, so even in cases that appear in retrospect to be obviously high risk, it is quite
plausible that the banks’ public reporting of risk accurately reflected their perceptions.
Panel A4.3: Inadequate disclosure to investors
In some cases, the securitisation process seems to have been dependent on investors’ not
knowing that the securities were risky, while their originators did. See WSFC, Chapters 3, 5
and 6. ‘[Washington Mutual] securitized loans that it had identified as likely to go delinquent,
without disclosing its analysis to investors to whom it sold the securities, and also securitized
loans tainted by fraudulent information, without notifying purchasers of the fraud that was
discovered and known to the bank’: WSFC, p116.
In 2008 Countrywide Financial was acquired by Bank of America. In 2011 Bank of America
provided $14bn in its accounts to meet claims by investors alleging that the documentation
for mortgage-backed securities issued by Countrywide Financial ‘contained materially false and
misleading statements and omitted material information’.

 SFC, p75.
W
At pxxii.
83
The securities were sliced into different tranches with different degrees of risk. The originator would usually
retain the riskiest slice to give some reassurance to investors in the other tranches. Lenders assumed that
borrowers could afford the loans because they would be able to repay them either from the properties’ future
sale proceeds (which required that the properties’ values not fall) or by remortgaging (‘pass the parcel’).
81
82
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We have not seen in the investigations of other authorities any examples in addition to those of
Countrywide and Washington Mutual of chief executives or those in similar positions expressing
concerns at significant known risks, which are not then reflected in the firm’s public reporting.
Also, a momentary expression of view by a CEO is not necessarily the same thing as an institution’s
considered view.
So far, therefore, there is only limited evidence of managers possibly misreporting risks, as they saw
them, outside the financial statements, although those that have been identified are important in
their own right because of the size of the institutions involved and their subsequent failures. There
is also evidence suggesting that, in terms of protecting their own interests, managers behaved as
though they were genuinely unaware of the risks of impending disaster. This comes from research
finding that:
‘[US] Bank CEOs did not reduce their holdings of shares in anticipation of the
crisis or during the crisis; there is also no evidence that they hedged their equity
exposure. Consequently, they suffered extremely large wealth losses as a result
of the crisis.’84
As there have now been a number of investigations, it seems reasonable to suppose that in the
period leading up to the crisis most banks accurately reported the qualitative risks that they faced
as they saw them. But it would be useful to investigate this matter further if it is possible – perhaps
with the support of regulators – to gain access to the relevant internal records.
Panel A4.4: Publicising internal risk dialogues
In UK Bank Risk Disclosures Philip Linsley suggests that banks should disclose their internal ‘risk
dialogues’. The information in FCIR and WSFC on dissenting views on risk within both Countrywide
Financial and Washington Mutual indicates that such dialogues, if made public, would probably
be of great interest. The SSG’s October 2009 report (see above) refers to risk managers’ lack
of status and influence, and this hints at differences of view within banks ahead of the crisis.
Such differences of view must be a constant feature of life in banks. It is a risk officer’s job to
prevent unduly risky courses of action, to ensure that risks are mitigated where this is possible,
and to warn colleagues of potential downsides to their current positions and proposed actions.
This creates an almost inevitable tension within the institution between those who have
differing views on which risks it is appropriate to take. There is no simple formula that
can determine how these tensions should be resolved in any particular case. The skill of
management collectively is to arrive at the right balance between taking risks and avoiding
(or controlling) them.
Firms work hard to present a consistent message to the world. Publicising internal dialogues
would be a major departure from current practice, and it would be necessary to consider what
the consequences of such publicity might be. For example, in practice would it encourage or
discourage the expression of dissenting views within firms?

A4.5.4 Underestimation of risks?
Risk reporting before the crisis was almost certainly misleading in the sense that it reflected the
banks’ own assessments of risks and these assessments were themselves significantly mistaken.
We do not make this point as a criticism of the banks concerned. On the contrary, as the reports
by banking regulators and other authorities point out, there was a common underestimation of
risk among financial services firms, investors, rating agencies, regulators and governments. Banks
shared in the common delusion and their risk reporting reflected it.
As FCIR comments, ‘It appeared to financial institutions, investors, and regulators alike that risk
had been conquered’.85
This applied to subprime exposures as much as to any other risk. In September 2007, Chuck Prince,
Chief Executive Officer of Citigroup, learnt that the bank had $40 billion of assets based on
subprime mortgages. He told the Financial Crisis Inquiry Commission that it was of no significance
that he had not known of this any earlier:
‘It wouldn’t have been useful for someone to come to me and say, “Now,
we have got $2 trillion on the balance sheet of assets. I want to point out to
you there is a one in a billion chance that this $40 billion could go south.”
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That would not have been useful information. There is nothing I can do with
that, because there is that level of chance on everything.’86
Two points of interest in these remarks are that subprime assets were regarded as no riskier than
anything else and that the level of inescapable risk for any asset was estimated to be no more than
one in a billion.
But there is a good deal of information that financial services firms already disclose that is relevant
to risk, yet does not depend on management’s perception of risk. Many of the disclosures
required by IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which are reproduced in Appendix 1,
provide examples of this sort of information. Some of the disclosures required by the standard
are what might be regarded as conventional descriptive risk reporting (eg, the entity’s objectives,
policies and processes for managing risks). But some of them are relatively objective, quantitative
information87 that allows users to form their own views on the entity’s risks. Disclosures of this sort
include analyses of assets that are overdue (‘past due’), maturity analyses, and sensitivity analyses.
Another example is the recommendations for banks in the SSG’s 2008 report, LeadingPractice Disclosures for Selected Exposures, which are reproduced in Appendix 2. Almost all the
recommended disclosures in this report are hard, quantified information. There is very little that
depends on subjective views of risk. The SSG’s recommendations were endorsed by the FSF and
have now mostly been incorporated into the Basel II, Pillar 3 disclosure requirements.88
The need for specific disclosures of the type required by IFRS 7 and recommended by the SSG is
likely to change from time to time. The requirements of IFRS 7 were extended in the light of the
financial crisis, and the SSG report is an attempt to learn from how some banks responded to it
by improving their disclosures on certain items. But the items for which the recent crisis revealed
a need for more information may become less important, while other items – unimportant in
this crisis – may emerge as important in the future. It is therefore desirable that requirements for
specific disclosures should be kept under constant review and that reporting institutions should
communicate information that they recognise to be important, even when there is no specific
requirement to do so. This implies a principles-based approach as well as specific requirements.
The FSF made important recommendations in this respect in its 2008 report referred to earlier:
‘[I]nvestors, financial industry representatives and auditors should work together
to provide risk disclosures that are most relevant to the market conditions at the
time of the disclosure. To this end:
•	Investors, industry representatives and auditors should develop principles
that should form the basis for useful risk disclosures.
•	Investors, industry representatives and auditors should meet together, on a
semi-annual basis, to discuss the key risks faced by the financial sector and to
identify the types of risk disclosures that would be most relevant and useful
to investors at that time.’
In a 2011 report the FSB (successor to the FSF) notes that these proposals have not been acted on
and it accordingly makes a fresh proposal:
‘The FSB should facilitate work by investors, industry representatives and
auditors to take the 2008 FSF recommendations forward by encouraging them
to develop principles for useful risk disclosures as market conditions and risk
profiles change.89
The FSB adds that if this new approach does not succeed, ‘a more prescriptive approach by
securities market regulators, prudential authorities or accounting standard-setters may prove
necessary’. The 2011 report also makes the point that ‘Transparency is often better served by
clearer explanations than by more detailed numerical analysis.’

F CIR, p260. On 15 October 2007 Citigroup reported $1.8bn in subprime write-downs for the quarter to
30 September. On 4 November it reported a further fall in value of subprime assets of between $8bn and
$11bn, and the retirement with immediate effect of Mr Prince.
87
They may not be completely objective even when quantified. The analysis of fair value measurements into
Levels 1, 2 and 3, for example, contains a subjective element. IFRS 7 requires that measurements are classified
as Level 1, 2 or 3 depending on ‘the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its
entirety’. The judgement of significance is subjective. And many Level 3 measurements are highly subjective.
88
As noted in the FSB’s Thematic Review on Risk Disclosure Practices at p20, n32.
89
Thematic Review on Risk Disclosure Practices.
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As a consequence of the financial crisis, banking supervisors have required selected banks to
conduct stress tests to check the adequacy of their capital in the event of various specified
negative developments. Some of the information from these stress tests has been published.90
This provides useful information on risk, though the EU’s tests have been criticised for not being
tough enough in their assumptions (eg, on sovereign debt risk) and the market may therefore
not take the results of the tests at face value. None the less, although their usefulness will depend
on the assumptions that underlie the tests, the information provided by such exercises seems to
be precisely the sort of thing that those who want better risk reporting by banks (and insurers)
are after. The discussion in Panel A4.5 of Lehman Brothers’ risk reporting also suggests the sort
of stress-test information that might well provide useful risk disclosures. How would a bank’s
balance sheet look, for example, in the event of a 5% fall in property prices?
It would therefore be useful to explore stress testing information as an additional form of risk
reporting and to investigate precisely what data would be relevant and how much could be
disclosed. However, the costs of preparing the information would also have to be taken into
account in deciding how best to proceed. This idea has already been implemented to some
extent in the US, where the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of
2010 mandates stress tests for banks and requires summary results of the tests to be published;
the market would no doubt find detailed results more useful.
Panel A4.5: Lehman Brothers’ risk reporting
Robert S. Kaplan’s paper ‘Accounting scholarship that advances knowledge and practice’
is based on his plenary address to the 2010 annual meeting of the American Accounting
Association. In the paper he briefly discusses Lehman Brothers’ risk disclosures made in 2008.
These included the statement that:
‘In the event of changes in market conditions, such as interest or foreign
exchange rates, equity, fixed income, commodity or real estate valuations,
liquidity, availability of credit or volatility, our business could be adversely
affected in many ways … Further declines in real estate values in the US
and continuing credit and liquidity concerns could further reduce our level
of mortgage loan originations and increase our mortgage inventory while
adversely affecting its value’ [emphasis added by Kaplan].
Kaplan comments:
‘Does this sound like the risk exposure of a huge financial institution that
would file for bankruptcy less than two months after this 10-K submission?
Yet this was the “risk disclosure” in the 2008 second quarter filing of Lehman
Brothers, a financial institution born in the South in the 1850s. Lehman
survived the US Civil War, World War I, the Great Depression of the 1930s,
and World War II. It built its capital during the great post-World War II global
expansion, and somehow failed after a 5 percent decline in US real estate
prices. After 40+ years of academic research on capital markets and financial
economics, is Lehman’s 10-K disclosure the best we can offer to quantify and
disclose a company’s risk exposure? I hope not.’
In his address, Kaplan added the pertinent comment:
‘If Lehman Brothers had said that “We are holding this large asset of
mortgage-based securities and our ability to have our assets higher than our
liabilities is contingent on housing prices, which in the last six years have
increased from three times median income to four times median income in
the United States, not starting a mean reversion back to three times median
income. Should that occur, our assets will soon be worth less than our
liabilities” – that would be an interesting risk disclosure.’

90

 ee Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, The Supervisory Capital Assessment Program: Overview
S
of Results; Committee of European Banking Supervisors [now the European Banking Authority], Aggregate
Outcome of the 2010 EU Wide Stress Test Exercise Coordinated by CEBS in Cooperation with the ECB; and
European Banking Authority, European Banking Authority 2011 EU-Wide Stress Test Aggregate Report.
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June 15, 2017

Letter from Michael R. Bloomberg
Mr. Mark Carney
Chairman
Financial Stability Board
Bank for International Settlements
Centralbahnplatz 2
CH-4002 Basel
Switzerland
Dear Chairman Carney,
On behalf of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, I am pleased to present this final report
setting out our recommendations for helping businesses disclose climate-related financial information.
As you know, warming of the planet caused by greenhouse gas emissions poses serious risks to the global
economy and will have an impact across many economic sectors. It is difficult for investors to know which
companies are most at risk from climate change, which are best prepared, and which are taking action.
The Task Force’s report establishes recommendations for disclosing clear, comparable and consistent
information about the risks and opportunities presented by climate change. Their widespread adoption will
ensure that the effects of climate change become routinely considered in business and investment decisions.
Adoption of these recommendations will also help companies better demonstrate responsibility and foresight
in their consideration of climate issues. That will lead to smarter, more efficient allocation of capital, and help
smooth the transition to a more sustainable, low-carbon economy.
The industry Task Force spent 18 months consulting with a wide range of business and financial leaders to
hone its recommendations and consider how to help companies better communicate key climate-related
information. The feedback we received in response to the Task Force’s draft report confirmed broad support
from industry and others, and involved productive dialogue among companies and banks, insurers, and
investors. This was and remains a collaborative process, and as these recommendations are implemented, we
hope that this dialogue and feedback continues.
Since the Task Force began its work, we have also seen a significant increase in demand from investors for
improved climate-related financial disclosures. This comes amid unprecedented support among companies for
action to tackle climate change.
I want to thank the Financial Stability Board for its leadership in promoting better disclosure of climate-related
financial risks, and for its support of the Task Force’s work. I am also grateful to the Task Force members and
Secretariat for their extensive contributions and dedication to this effort.
The risk climate change poses to businesses and financial markets is real and already present. It is more
important than ever that businesses lead in understanding and responding to these risks—and seizing the
opportunities—to build a stronger, more resilient, and sustainable global economy.
Sincerely,

Michael R. Bloombergr from Michael R. Bloomberg
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Executive Summary
Financial Markets and Transparency
One of the essential functions of financial markets is to price risk to support informed, efficient
capital-allocation decisions. Accurate and timely disclosure of current and past operating and
financial results is fundamental to this function, but it is increasingly important to understand the
governance and risk management context in which financial results are achieved. The financial
crisis of 2007-2008 was an important reminder of the repercussions that weak corporate
governance and risk management practices can have on asset values. This has resulted in
increased demand for transparency from organizations on their governance structures,
strategies, and risk management practices. Without the right information, investors and others
may incorrectly price or value assets, leading to a misallocation of capital.

Increasing transparency makes markets more efficient and
economies more stable and resilient.
—Michael R. Bloomberg
Financial Implications of Climate Change
One of the most significant, and perhaps most misunderstood, risks that organizations face today
relates to climate change. While it is widely recognized that continued emission of greenhouse
gases will cause further warming of the planet and this warming could lead to damaging
economic and social consequences, the exact timing and severity of physical effects are difficult to
estimate. The large-scale and long-term nature of the problem makes it uniquely challenging,
especially in the context of economic decision making. Accordingly, many organizations
incorrectly perceive the implications of climate change to be long term and, therefore, not
necessarily relevant to decisions made today.
The potential impacts of climate change on organizations, however, are not only physical and do
not manifest only in the long term. To stem the disastrous effects of climate change within this
century, nearly 200 countries agreed in December 2015 to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and
accelerate the transition to a lower-carbon economy. The reduction in greenhouse gas emissions
implies movement away from fossil fuel energy and related physical assets. This coupled with
rapidly declining costs and increased deployment of clean and energy-efficient technologies could
have significant, near-term financial implications for organizations dependent on extracting,
producing, and using coal, oil, and natural gas. While such organizations may face significant
climate-related risks, they are not alone. In fact, climate-related risks and the expected transition
to a lower-carbon economy affect most economic sectors and industries. While changes
associated with a transition to a lower-carbon economy present significant risk, they also create
significant opportunities for organizations focused on climate change mitigation and adaptation
solutions.
For many investors, climate change poses significant financial challenges and opportunities, now
and in the future. The expected transition to a lower-carbon economy is estimated to require
around $1 trillion of investments a year for the foreseeable future, generating new investment
opportunities.1 At the same time, the risk-return profile of organizations exposed to climaterelated risks may change significantly as such organizations may be more affected by physical
impacts of climate change, climate policy, and new technologies. In fact, a 2015 study estimated
the value at risk, as a result of climate change, to the total global stock of manageable assets as
1

International Energy Agency, World Energy Outlook Special Briefing for COP21, 2015.
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ranging from $4.2 trillion to $43 trillion between now and the end of the century.2 The study
highlights that “much of the impact on future assets will come through weaker growth and lower
asset returns across the board.” This suggests investors may not be able to avoid climate-related
risks by moving out of certain asset classes as a wide range of asset types could be affected. Both
investors and the organizations in which they invest, therefore, should consider their longer-term
strategies and most efficient allocation of capital. Organizations that invest in activities that may
not be viable in the longer term may be less resilient to the transition to a lower-carbon economy;
and their investors will likely experience lower returns. Compounding the effect on longer-term
returns is the risk that present valuations do not adequately factor in climate-related risks
because of insufficient information. As such, long-term investors need adequate information on
how organizations are preparing for a lower-carbon economy.
Furthermore, because the transition to a lower-carbon economy requires significant and, in some
cases, disruptive changes across economic sectors and industries in the near term, financial
policymakers are interested in the implications for the global financial system, especially in terms
of avoiding financial dislocations and sudden losses in asset values. Given such concerns and the
potential impact on financial intermediaries and investors, the G20 Finance Ministers and Central
Bank Governors asked the Financial Stability Board to review how the financial sector can take
account of climate-related issues. As part of its review, the Financial Stability Board identified the
need for better information to support informed investment, lending, and insurance underwriting
decisions and improve understanding and analysis of climate-related risks and opportunities.
Better information will also help investors engage with companies on the resilience of their
strategies and capital spending, which should help promote a smooth rather than an abrupt
transition to a lower-carbon economy.

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
To help identify the information needed by investors, lenders, and insurance underwriters to
appropriately assess and price climate-related risks and opportunities, the Financial Stability
Board established an industry-led task force: the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (Task Force). The Task Force was asked to develop voluntary, consistent climaterelated financial disclosures that would be useful to investors, lenders, and insurance
underwriters in understanding material risks. The 32-member Task Force is global; its members
were selected by the Financial Stability Board and come from various organizations, including
large banks, insurance companies, asset managers, pension funds, large non-financial companies,
accounting and consulting firms, and credit rating agencies. In its work, the Task Force drew on
member expertise, stakeholder engagement, and existing climate-related disclosure regimes to
develop a singular, accessible framework for climate-related financial disclosure.
The Task Force developed four widely
adoptable recommendations on climaterelated financial disclosures that are
applicable to organizations across sectors
and jurisdictions (Figure 1). Importantly, the
Task Force’s recommendations apply to
financial-sector organizations, including
banks, insurance companies, asset managers,
and asset owners. Large asset owners and
asset managers sit at the top of the
investment chain and, therefore, have an

2

Figure 1

Key Features of Recommendations
 Adoptable by all organizations
 Included in financial filings
 Designed to solicit decision-useful, forwardlooking information on financial impacts
 Strong focus on risks and opportunities
related to transition to lower-carbon economy



The Economist Intelligence Unit, “The Cost of Inaction: Recognising the Value at Risk from Climate Change,” 2015. Value at risk measures the
loss a portfolio may experience, within a given time horizon, at a particular probability, and the stock of manageable assets is defined as the
total stock of assets held by non-bank financial institutions. Bank assets were excluded as they are largely managed by banks themselves.
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important role to play in influencing the organizations in which they invest to provide better
climate-related financial disclosures.
In developing and finalizing its recommendations, the Task Force solicited input throughout the
process.3 First, in April 2016, the Task Force sought public comment on the scope and high-level
objectives of its work. As the Task Force developed its disclosure recommendations, it continued
to solicit feedback through hundreds of industry interviews, meetings, and other touchpoints.
Then, in December 2016, the Task Force issued its draft recommendations and sought public
comment on the recommendations as well as certain key issues, receiving over 300 responses.
This final report reflects the Task Force’s consideration of industry and other public feedback
received throughout 2016 and 2017. Section E contains a summary of key issues raised by the
industry as well as substantive changes to the report since December.
Disclosure in Mainstream Financial Filings
The Task Force recommends that preparers of climate-related financial disclosures provide such
disclosures in their mainstream (i.e., public) annual financial filings. In most G20 jurisdictions,
companies with public debt or equity have a legal obligation to disclose material information in
their financial filings—including material climate-related information. The Task Force believes
climate-related issues are or could be material for many organizations, and its recommendations
should be useful to organizations in complying more effectively with existing disclosure
obligations.4 In addition, disclosure in mainstream financial filings should foster shareholder
engagement and broader use of climate-related financial disclosures, thus promoting a more
informed understanding of climate-related risks and opportunities by investors and others. The
Task Force also believes that publication of climate-related financial information in mainstream
annual financial filings will help ensure that appropriate controls govern the production and
disclosure of the required information. More specifically, the Task Force expects the governance
processes for these disclosures would be similar to those used for existing public financial
disclosures and would likely involve review by the chief financial officer and audit committee, as
appropriate.
Importantly, organizations should make financial disclosures in accordance with their national
disclosure requirements. If certain elements of the recommendations are incompatible with
national disclosure requirements for financial filings, the Task Force encourages organizations to
disclose those elements in other official company reports that are issued at least annually, widely
distributed and available to investors and others, and subject to internal governance processes
that are the same or substantially similar to those used for financial reporting.
Core Elements of Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
The Task Force structured its recommendations around four thematic areas that represent core
elements of how organizations operate: governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and
targets (Figure 2, p. v). The four overarching recommendations are supported by recommended
disclosures that build out the framework with information that will help investors and others
understand how reporting organizations assess climate-related risks and opportunities.5 In
addition, there is guidance to support all organizations in developing climate-related financial
disclosures consistent with the recommendations and recommended disclosures. The guidance
assists preparers by providing context and suggestions for implementing the recommended
disclosures. For the financial sector and certain non-financial sectors, supplemental guidance was
developed to highlight important sector-specific considerations and provide a fuller picture of
potential climate-related financial impacts in those sectors.
3

See Appendix 2: Task Force Objectives and Approach for more information.

4

The Task Force encourages organizations where climate-related issues could be material in the future to begin disclosing climate-related
financial information outside financial filings to facilitate the incorporation of such information into financial filings once climate-related
issues are determined to be material.
See Figure 4 on p. 14 for the Task Force's recommendations and recommended disclosures.
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Figure 2

Core Elements of Recommended Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
Governance

Governance
Strategy
Risk
Management
Metrics
and Targets

The organization’s governance around climate-related risks
and opportunities
Strategy
The actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and
opportunities on the organization’s businesses, strategy,
and financial planning
Risk Management
The processes used by the organization to identify, assess,
and manage climate-related risks
Metrics and Targets
The metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant
climate-related risks and opportunities

Climate-Related Scenarios
One of the Task Force’s key recommended disclosures focuses on the resilience of an
organization’s strategy, taking into consideration different climate-related scenarios, including a
2° Celsius or lower scenario.6 An organization’s disclosure of how its strategies might change to
address potential climate-related risks and opportunities is a key step to better understanding the
potential implications of climate change on the organization. The Task Force recognizes the use of
scenarios in assessing climate-related issues and their potential financial implications is relatively
recent and practices will evolve over time, but believes such analysis is important for improving
the disclosure of decision-useful, climate-related financial information.

Conclusion
Recognizing that climate-related financial reporting is still evolving, the Task Force’s
recommendations provide a foundation to improve investors’ and others’ ability to appropriately
assess and price climate-related risk and opportunities. The Task Force’s recommendations aim to
be ambitious, but also practical for near-term adoption. The Task Force expects to advance the
quality of mainstream financial disclosures related to the potential effects of climate change on
organizations today and in the future and to increase investor engagement with boards and
senior management on climate-related issues.
Improving the quality of climate-related financial disclosures begins with organizations’
willingness to adopt the Task Force’s recommendations. Organizations already reporting climaterelated information under other frameworks may be able to disclose under this framework
immediately and are strongly encouraged to do so. Those organizations in early stages of
evaluating the impact of climate change on their businesses and strategies can begin by
disclosing climate-related issues as they relate to governance, strategy, and risk management
practices. The Task Force recognizes the challenges associated with measuring the impact of
climate change, but believes that by moving climate-related issues into mainstream annual
financial filings, practices and techniques will evolve more rapidly. Improved practices and
techniques, including data analytics, should further improve the quality of climate-related
financial disclosures and, ultimately, support more appropriate pricing of risks and allocation of
capital in the global economy.
6

A 2° Celsius (2°C) scenario lays out an energy system deployment pathway and an emissions trajectory consistent with limiting the global
average temperature increase to 2°C above the pre-industrial average. The Task Force is not recommending organizations use a specific 2°C
scenario.
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A Introduction
1. Background
It is widely recognized that continued emission of greenhouse gases will cause further warming of
the Earth and that warming above 2° Celsius (2°C), relative to the pre-industrial period, could lead
to catastrophic economic and social consequences.7 As evidence of the growing recognition of the
risks posed by climate change, in December 2015, nearly 200 governments agreed to strengthen
the global response to the threat of climate change by “holding the increase in the global average
temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the
temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels,” referred to as the Paris Agreement.8
The large-scale and long-term nature of the problem makes it uniquely challenging, especially in
the context of economic decision making. Moreover, the current understanding of the potential
financial risks posed by climate change—to companies, investors, and the financial system as a
whole—is still at an early stage.

A
Introduction
B
Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
Financial Impacts
C
Recommendations and
Guidance
D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues
E
Key Issues Considered and
Areas for Further Work
F
Conclusion
Appendices

There is a growing demand for decision-useful, climate-related information by a range of
participants in the financial markets.9 Creditors and investors are increasingly demanding access
to risk information that is consistent, comparable, reliable, and clear. There has also been
increased focus, especially since the financial crisis of 2007-2008, on the negative impact that
weak corporate governance can have on shareholder value, resulting in increased demand for
transparency from organizations on their risks and risk management practices, including those
related to climate change.
The growing demand for decision-useful, climate-related information has resulted in the
development of several climate-related disclosure standards. Many of the existing standards,
however, focus on disclosure of climate-related information, such as greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions and other sustainability metrics. Users of such climate-related disclosures commonly
cite the lack of information on the financial implications around the climate-related aspects of an
organization's business as a key gap. Users also cite inconsistencies in disclosure practices, a lack
of context for information, use of boilerplate, and non-comparable reporting as major obstacles
to incorporating climate-related risks and opportunities (collectively referred to as climate-related
issues) as considerations in their investment, lending, and insurance underwriting decisions over
the medium and long term.10 In addition, evidence suggests that the lack of consistent
information hinders investors and others from considering climate-related issues in their asset
valuation and allocation processes.11
In general, inadequate information about risks can lead to a mispricing of assets and
misallocation of capital and can potentially give rise to concerns about financial stability since
markets can be vulnerable to abrupt corrections.12 Recognizing these concerns, the G20 (Group of
20) Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors requested that the Financial Stability Board
(FSB) “convene public- and private-sector participants to review how the financial sector can take
account of climate-related issues.”13 In response to the G20’s request, the FSB held a meeting of
public- and private-sector representatives in September 2015 to consider the implications of
climate-related issues for the financial sector. “Participants exchanged views on the existing work
of the financial sector, authorities, and standard setters in this area and the challenges they face,

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Fifth Assessment Report, Cambridge University Press, 2014.
United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, ”The Paris Agreement,” December 2015.
9
Avery Fellow, “Investors Demand Climate Risk Disclosure,” Bloomberg, February 2013.
10
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB), SASB Climate Risk Technical Bulletin#: TB001-10182016, October 2016.
11
Mercer LLC, Investing in a Time of Climate Change, 2015.
12
Mark Carney, “Breaking the tragedy of the horizon—climate change and financial stability,” September 29, 2015.
13
“Communiqué from the G20 Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors Meeting in Washington, D.C. April 16-17, 2015,” April 2015.
7
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areas for possible further work, and the possible roles the FSB and others could play in taking
that work forward. The discussions continually returned to a common theme: the need for better
information.”14
In most G20 jurisdictions, companies with public debt or equity have a legal obligation to disclose
material risks in their financial reports—including material climate-related risks. However, the
absence of a standardized framework for disclosing climate-related financial risks makes it
difficult for organizations to determine what information should be included in their filings and
how it should be presented. Even when reporting similar climate-related information, disclosures
are often difficult to compare due to variances in mandatory and voluntary frameworks. The
resulting fragmentation in reporting practices and lack of focus on financial impacts have
prevented investors, lenders, insurance underwriters, and other users of disclosures from
accessing complete information that can inform their economic decisions. Furthermore, because
financial-sector organizations’ disclosures depend, in part, on those from the companies in which
they invest or lend, regulators face challenges in using financial-sector organizations’ existing
disclosures to determine system-wide exposures to climate-related risks.
In response, the FSB established the industry-led Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD or Task Force) in December 2015 to design a set of recommendations for
consistent “disclosures that will help financial market participants understand their climaterelated risks.”15 See Box 1 (p. 3) for more information on the Task Force.
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2. The Task Force’s Remit
The FSB called on the Task Force to develop climate-related disclosures that “could promote more
informed investment, credit [or lending], and insurance underwriting decisions” and, in turn,
“would enable stakeholders to understand better the concentrations of carbon-related assets in
the financial sector and the financial system’s exposures to climate-related risks.”16,17 The FSB
noted that disclosures by the financial sector in particular would “foster an early assessment of
these risks” and “facilitate market discipline.” Such disclosures would also “provide a source of
data that can be analyzed at a systemic level, to facilitate authorities’ assessments of the
materiality of any risks posed by climate change to the financial sector, and the channels through
which this is most likely to be transmitted.”18
The FSB also emphasized that “any disclosure recommendations by the Task Force would be
voluntary, would need to incorporate the principle of materiality and would need to weigh the
balance of costs and benefits.”19 As a result, in devising a principle-based framework for voluntary
disclosure, the Task Force sought to balance the needs of the users of disclosures with the
challenges faced by the preparers. The FSB further stated that the Task Force’s climate-related
financial disclosure recommendations should not “add to the already well developed body of
existing disclosure schemes.”20 In response, the Task Force drew from existing disclosure
frameworks where possible and appropriate.

Conclusion
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The FSB also noted the Task Force should determine whether the target audience of users of
climate-related financial disclosures should extend beyond investors, lenders, and insurance
underwriters. Investors, lenders, and insurance underwriters (“primary users”) are the
appropriate target audience. These primary users assume the financial risk and reward of the
FSB, “FSB to establish Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures,” December 4, 2015.
Ibid.
16
FSB, “Proposal for a Disclosure Task Force on Climate-Related Risks,” November 9, 2015.
17
The term carbon-related assets is not well defined, but is generally considered to refer to assets or organizations with relatively high direct or
indirect GHG emissions. The Task Force believes further work is needed on defining carbon-related assets and potential financial impacts.
18
FSB, “Proposal for a Disclosure Task Force on Climate-Related Risks,” November 9, 2015.
19
Ibid.
20
Ibid.
14
15
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decisions they make. The Task Force recognizes that many other organizations, including credit
rating agencies, equity analysts, stock exchanges, investment consultants, and proxy advisors also
use climate-related financial disclosures, allowing them to push information through the credit
and investment chain and contribute to the better pricing of risks by investors, lenders, and
insurance underwriters. These organizations, in principle, depend on the same types of
information as primary users.
This report presents the Task Force’s recommendations for climate-related financial disclosures
and includes supporting information on climate-related risks and opportunities, scenario analysis,
and industry feedback that the Task Force considered in developing and then finalizing its
recommendations. In addition, the Task Force developed a “stand-alone" document—
Implementing the Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(Annex)—for organizations to use when preparing disclosures consistent with the
recommendations. The Annex provides supplemental guidance for the financial sector as well as
for non-financial groups potentially most affected by climate change and the transition to a lowercarbon economy. The supplemental guidance assists preparers by providing additional context
and suggestions for implementing the recommended disclosures.
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The Task Force’s recommendations provide a foundation for climate-related financial disclosures
and aim to be ambitious, but also practical for near-term adoption. The Task Force expects that
reporting of climate-related risks and opportunities will evolve over time as organizations,
investors, and others contribute to the quality and consistency of the information disclosed.
Box 1

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
The Task Force membership, first announced on January 21, 2016, has international representation and
spans various types of organizations, including banks, insurance companies, asset managers, pension
funds, large non-financial companies, accounting and consulting firms, and credit rating agencies—a
unique collaborative partnership between the users and preparers of financial reports.
In its work, the Task Force drew on its members’ expertise, stakeholder engagement, and existing climaterelated disclosure regimes to develop a singular, accessible framework for climate-related financial
disclosure. See Appendix 1 for a list of the Task Force members and Appendix 2 for more information on
the Task Force’s approach.
The Task Force is comprised of 32 global members representing a broad range of economic sectors and
financial markets and a careful balance of users and preparers of climate-related financial disclosures.
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B Climate-Related Risks, Opportunities, and Financial Impacts
Through its work, the Task Force identified a growing demand by investors, lenders, insurance
underwriters, and other stakeholders for decision-useful, climate-related financial information.
Improved disclosure of climate-related risks and opportunities will provide investors, lenders,
insurance underwriters, and other stakeholders with the metrics and information needed to
undertake robust and consistent analyses of the potential financial impacts of climate change.
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The Task Force found that while several climate-related disclosure frameworks have emerged
across different jurisdictions in an effort to meet the growing demand for such information, there
is a need for a standardized framework to promote alignment across existing regimes and G20
jurisdictions and to provide a common framework for climate-related financial disclosures. An
important element of such a framework is the consistent categorization of climate-related risks
and opportunities. As a result, the Task Force defined categories for climate-related risks and
climate-related opportunities. The Task Force’s recommendations serve to encourage
organizations to evaluate and disclose, as part of their annual financial filing preparation and
reporting processes, the climate-related risks and opportunities that are most pertinent to their
business activities. The main climate-related risks and opportunities that organizations should
consider are described below and in Tables 1 and 2 (pp. 10-11).

1. Climate-Related Risks
The Task Force divided climate-related risks into two major categories: (1) risks related to the
transition to a lower-carbon economy and (2) risks related to the physical impacts of climate
change.
a. Transition Risks
Transitioning to a lower-carbon economy may entail extensive policy, legal, technology, and
market changes to address mitigation and adaptation requirements related to climate change.
Depending on the nature, speed, and focus of these changes, transition risks may pose varying
levels of financial and reputational risk to organizations.
Policy and Legal Risks
Policy actions around climate change continue to evolve. Their objectives generally fall into two
categories—policy actions that attempt to constrain actions that contribute to the adverse effects
of climate change or policy actions that seek to promote adaptation to climate change. Some
examples include implementing carbon-pricing mechanisms to reduce GHG emissions, shifting
energy use toward lower emission sources, adopting energy-efficiency solutions, encouraging
greater water efficiency measures, and promoting more sustainable land-use practices. The risk
associated with and financial impact of policy changes depend on the nature and timing of the
policy change.21
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Another important risk is litigation or legal risk. Recent years have seen an increase in climaterelated litigation claims being brought before the courts by property owners, municipalities,
states, insurers, shareholders, and public interest organizations.22 Reasons for such litigation
include the failure of organizations to mitigate impacts of climate change, failure to adapt to
climate change, and the insufficiency of disclosure around material financial risks. As the value of
loss and damage arising from climate change grows, litigation risk is also likely to increase.

Organizations should assess not only the potential direct effects of policy actions on their operations, but also the potential second and third
order effects on their supply and distribution chains.
22
Peter Seley, “Emerging Trends in Climate Change Litigation,” Law 360, March 7, 2016.
21
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Technology Risk
Technological improvements or innovations that support the transition to a lower-carbon, energyefficient economic system can have a significant impact on organizations. For example, the
development and use of emerging technologies such as renewable energy, battery storage,
energy efficiency, and carbon capture and storage will affect the competitiveness of certain
organizations, their production and distribution costs, and ultimately the demand for their
products and services from end users. To the extent that new technology displaces old systems
and disrupts some parts of the existing economic system, winners and losers will emerge from
this “creative destruction” process. The timing of technology development and deployment,
however, is a key uncertainty in assessing technology risk.
Market Risk
While the ways in which markets could be affected by climate change are varied and complex,
one of the major ways is through shifts in supply and demand for certain commodities, products,
and services as climate-related risks and opportunities are increasingly taken into account.
Reputation Risk
Climate change has been identified as a potential source of reputational risk tied to changing
customer or community perceptions of an organization’s contribution to or detraction from the
transition to a lower-carbon economy.
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b. Physical Risks
Physical risks resulting from climate change can be event driven (acute) or longer-term shifts
(chronic) in climate patterns. Physical risks may have financial implications for organizations, such
as direct damage to assets and indirect impacts from supply chain disruption. Organizations’
financial performance may also be affected by changes in water availability, sourcing, and quality;
food security; and extreme temperature changes affecting organizations’ premises, operations,
supply chain, transport needs, and employee safety.
Acute Risk
Acute physical risks refer to those that are event-driven, including increased severity of extreme
weather events, such as cyclones, hurricanes, or floods.
Chronic Risk
Chronic physical risks refer to longer-term shifts in climate patterns (e.g., sustained higher
temperatures) that may cause sea level rise or chronic heat waves.
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2. Climate-Related Opportunities
Efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change also produce opportunities for organizations, for
example, through resource efficiency and cost savings, the adoption of low-emission energy
sources, the development of new products and services, access to new markets, and building
resilience along the supply chain. Climate-related opportunities will vary depending on the region,
market, and industry in which an organization operates. The Task Force identified several areas of
opportunity as described below.
a. Resource Efficiency
There is growing evidence and examples of organizations that have successfully reduced
operating costs by improving efficiency across their production and distribution processes,
buildings, machinery/appliances, and transport/mobility—in particular in relation to energy
efficiency but also including broader materials, water, and waste management.23 Such actions can
23

UNEP and Copenhagen Centre for Energy Efficiency, Best Practices and Case Studies for Industrial Energy Efficiency Improvement, February 16,
2016.

Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

6

result in direct cost savings to organizations’ operations over the medium to long term and
contribute to the global efforts to curb emissions.24 Innovation in technology is assisting this
transition; such innovation includes developing efficient heating solutions and circular economy
solutions, making advances in LED lighting technology and industrial motor technology,
retrofitting buildings, employing geothermal power, offering water usage and treatment
solutions, and developing electric vehicles.25
b. Energy Source
According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), to meet global emission-reduction goals,
countries will need to transition a major percentage of their energy generation to low emission
alternatives such as wind, solar, wave, tidal, hydro, geothermal, nuclear, biofuels, and carbon
capture and storage.26 For the fifth year in a row, investments in renewable energy capacity have
exceeded investments in fossil fuel generation.27 The trend toward decentralized clean energy
sources, rapidly declining costs, improved storage capabilities, and subsequent global adoption of
these technologies are significant. Organizations that shift their energy usage toward low
emission energy sources could potentially save on annual energy costs.28
A
Introduction
B
Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
Financial Impacts
C
Recommendations and
Guidance
D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues
E
Key Issues Considered and
Areas for Further Work
F
Conclusion

c. Products and Services
Organizations that innovate and develop new low-emission products and services may improve
their competitive position and capitalize on shifting consumer and producer preferences. Some
examples include consumer goods and services that place greater emphasis on a product’s
carbon footprint in its marketing and labeling (e.g., travel, food, beverage and consumer staples,
mobility, printing, fashion, and recycling services) and producer goods that place emphasis on
reducing emissions (e.g., adoption of energy-efficiency measures along the supply chain).
d. Markets
Organizations that pro-actively seek opportunities in new markets or types of assets may be able
to diversify their activities and better position themselves for the transition to a lower-carbon
economy. In particular, opportunities exist for organizations to access new markets through
collaborating with governments, development banks, small-scale local entrepreneurs, and
community groups in developed and developing countries as they work to shift to a lower-carbon
economy.29 New opportunities can also be captured through underwriting or financing green
bonds and infrastructure (e.g., low-emission energy production, energy efficiency, grid
connectivity, or transport networks).
e. Resilience
The concept of climate resilience involves organizations developing adaptive capacity to respond
to climate change to better manage the associated risks and seize opportunities, including the
ability to respond to transition risks and physical risks. Opportunities include improving efficiency,
designing new production processes, and developing new products. Opportunities related to
resilience may be especially relevant for organizations with long-lived fixed assets or extensive
supply or distribution networks; those that depend critically on utility and infrastructure networks
or natural resources in their value chain; and those that may require longer-term financing and
investment.

Appendices

Environmental Protection Agency Victoria (EPA Victoria), “Resource Efficiency Case Studies: Lower your Impact.”
As described by Pearce and Turner, circular economy refers to a system in which resource input and waste, emission, and energy leakage are
minimized. This can be achieved through long-lasting design, maintenance, repair, reuse, remanufacturing, refurbishing, and recycling. This is
in contrast to a linear economy which is a “take, make, dispose” model of production.
26
IEA, “Global energy investment down 8% in 2015 with flows signaling move towards cleaner energy,” September 14, 2016.
27
Frankfurt School-United Nations Environmental Programme Centre and Bloomberg New Energy Finance, “Global Trends in Renewable Energy
Investment 2017,” 2017.
28
Ceres, “Power Forward 3.0: How the largest US companies are capturing business value while addressing climate change,” 2017.
29
G20 Green Finance Study Group. G20 Green Finance Synthesis Report. 2016. The proposal to launch the Green Finance Study Group was
adopted by the G20 Finance Ministers and Central Bank Deputies in December 2015.
24
25
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3. Financial Impacts
Better disclosure of the financial impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on an
organization is a key goal of the Task Force’s work. In order to make more informed financial
decisions, investors, lenders, and insurance underwriters need to understand how climate-related
risks and opportunities are likely to impact an organization’s future financial position as reflected
in its income statement, cash flow statement, and balance sheet as outlined in Figure 1. While
climate change affects nearly all economic sectors, the level and type of exposure and the impact
of climate-related risks differs by sector, industry, geography, and organization.30
Figure 1

Climate-Related Risks, Opportunities, and Financial Impact
Transition Risks
Policy and Legal

Opportunities
Resource Efficiency
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Energy Source

Market

Risks

Reputation
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Fundamentally, the financial impacts of climate-related issues on an organization are driven by
the specific climate-related risks and opportunities to which the organization is exposed and its
strategic and risk management decisions on managing those risks (i.e., mitigate, transfer, accept,
or control) and seizing those opportunities. The Task Force has identified four major categories,
described in Figure 2 (p. 9), through which climate-related risks and opportunities may affect an
organization’s current and future financial positions.
The financial impacts of climate-related issues on organizations are not always clear or direct,
and, for many organizations, identifying the issues, assessing potential impacts, and ensuring
material issues are reflected in financial filings may be challenging. Key reasons for this are likely
because of (1) limited knowledge of climate-related issues within organizations; (2) the tendency
to focus mainly on near-term risks without paying adequate attention to risks that may arise in
the longer term; and (3) the difficulty in quantifying the financial effects of climate-related issues.31
To assist organizations in identifying climate-related issues and their impacts, the Task Force
developed Table 1 (p. 10), which provides examples of climate-related risks and their potential
financial impacts, and Table 2 (p. 11), which provides examples of climate-related opportunities
and their potential financial impacts. In addition, Section A.4 in the Annex provides more
information on the major categories of financial impacts—revenues, expenditures, assets and
liabilities, and capital and financing—that are likely to be most relevant for specific industries.
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30

SASB research demonstrates that 72 out of 79 Sustainable Industry Classification System (SICS™) industries are significantly affected in some
way by climate-related risk.

31

World Business Council for Sustainable Development, “Sustainability and enterprise risk management: The first step towards integration.”
January 18, 2017.
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Figure 2

Major Categories of Financial Impact

A
Introduction
B
Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
Financial Impacts
C
Recommendations and
Guidance
D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues

Income Statement

Balance Sheet

Revenues. Transition and physical risks may affect
demand for products and services. Organizations
should consider the potential impact on revenues
and identify potential opportunities for enhancing or
developing new revenues. In particular, given the
emergence and likely growth of carbon pricing as a
mechanism to regulate emissions, it is important for
affected industries to consider the potential impacts
of such pricing on business revenues.

Assets and Liabilities. Supply and demand
changes from changes in policies, technology,
and market dynamics related to climate change
could affect the valuation of organizations’
assets and liabilities. Use of long-lived assets
and, where relevant, reserves may be
particularly affected by climate-related issues. It
is important for organizations to provide an
indication of the potential climate-related
impact on their assets and liabilities, particularly
long-lived assets. This should focus on existing
and committed future activities and decisions
requiring new investment, restructuring, writedowns, or impairment.

Expenditures. An organization’s response to
climate-related risks and opportunities may depend,
in part, on the organization’s cost structure. Lowercost suppliers may be more resilient to changes in
cost resulting from climate-related issues and more
flexible in their ability to address such issues. By
providing an indication of their cost structure and
flexibility to adapt, organizations can better inform
investors about their investment potential.
It is also helpful for investors to understand capital
expenditure plans and the level of debt or equity
needed to fund these plans. The resilience of such
plans should be considered bearing in mind
organizations’ flexibility to shift capital and the
willingness of capital markets to fund organizations
exposed to significant levels of climate-related
risks. Transparency of these plans may provide
greater access to capital markets or improved
financing terms.

Capital and Financing. Climate-related risks
and opportunities may change the profile of an
organization's debt and equity structure, either
by increasing debt levels to compensate for
reduced operating cash flows or for new capital
expenditures or R&D. It may also affect the
ability to raise new debt or refinance existing
debt, or reduce the tenor of borrowing available
to the organization. There could also be
changes to capital and reserves from operating
losses, asset write-downs, or the need to raise
new equity to meet investment.
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The Task Force encourages organizations to undertake both historical and forward-looking
analyses when considering the potential financial impacts of climate change, with greater focus
on forward-looking analyses as the efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change are without
historical precedent. This is one of the reasons the Task Force believes scenario analysis is
important for organizations to consider incorporating into their strategic planning or risk
management practices.
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Table 1

Examples of Climate-Related Risks and Potential Financial Impacts
Type

Climate-Related Risks32

Potential Financial Impacts

Policy and Legal

‒ Increased pricing of GHG
emissions

‒ Enhanced emissions-reporting
obligations

‒ Mandates on and regulation of
existing products and services

‒ Increased operating costs (e.g., higher compliance costs,
increased insurance premiums)

‒ Write-offs, asset impairment, and early retirement of existing
assets due to policy changes

‒ Increased costs and/or reduced demand for products and
services resulting from fines and judgments

‒ Exposure to litigation
Technology

‒ Substitution of existing products
and services with lower emissions
options

‒ Unsuccessful investment in new
technologies

Introduction
B
Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
Financial Impacts
C

Transition Risks

A

Recommendations and
Guidance

‒ Costs to transition to lower
emissions technology

‒ Write-offs and early retirement of existing assets
‒ Reduced demand for products and services
‒ Research and development (R&D) expenditures in new and
alternative technologies

‒ Capital investments in technology development
‒ Costs to adopt/deploy new practices and processes

Market

‒ Changing customer behavior
‒ Uncertainty in market signals
‒ Increased cost of raw materials

‒ Reduced demand for goods and services due to shift in
consumer preferences

‒ Increased production costs due to changing input prices (e.g.,
energy, water) and output requirements (e.g., waste treatment)

‒ Abrupt and unexpected shifts in energy costs

D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues

‒ Change in revenue mix and sources, resulting in decreased
revenues

‒ Re-pricing of assets (e.g., fossil fuel reserves, land valuations,
securities valuations)

E
Key Issues Considered and
Areas for Further Work

Reputation

F
Conclusion

‒ Shifts in consumer preferences

‒ Reduced revenue from decreased demand for goods/services

‒ Stigmatization of sector

‒ Reduced revenue from decreased production capacity (e.g.,

‒ Increased stakeholder concern or
negative stakeholder feedback

Appendices

delayed planning approvals, supply chain interruptions)

‒ Reduced revenue from negative impacts on workforce
management and planning (e.g., employee attraction and
retention)

‒ Reduction in capital availability
Acute

Physical Risks

‒ Increased severity of extreme
weather events such as cyclones
and floods
Chronic

‒ Changes in precipitation patterns
and extreme variability in weather
patterns

‒ Rising mean temperatures
‒ Rising sea levels

32

‒ Reduced revenue from decreased production capacity (e.g.,
transport difficulties, supply chain interruptions)

‒ Reduced revenue and higher costs from negative impacts on
workforce (e.g., health, safety, absenteeism)

‒ Write-offs and early retirement of existing assets (e.g., damage
to property and assets in “high-risk” locations)

‒ Increased operating costs (e.g., inadequate water supply for
hydroelectric plants or to cool nuclear and fossil fuel plants)

‒ Increased capital costs (e.g., damage to facilities)
‒ Reduced revenues from lower sales/output
‒ Increased insurance premiums and potential for reduced
availability of insurance on assets in “high-risk” locations

The sub-category risks described under each major category are not mutually exclusive, and some overlap exists.
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Table 2

Examples of Climate-Related Opportunities and Potential Financial Impacts

Resource Efficiency

Type

Climate-Related Opportunities33

Potential Financial Impacts

‒ Use of more efficient modes of

‒ Reduced operating costs (e.g., through efficiency gains and

transport

‒ Use of more efficient production
and distribution processes

‒ Use of recycling
‒ Move to more efficient buildings
‒ Reduced water usage and
consumption

‒ Use of lower-emission sources of

Introduction
B
Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
Financial Impacts
C
Recommendations and
Guidance
D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues
E

‒ Increased value of fixed assets (e.g., highly rated energyefficient buildings)

‒ Benefits to workforce management and planning (e.g.,
improved health and safety, employee satisfaction)
resulting in lower costs

‒ Reduced operational costs (e.g., through use of lowest cost
abatement)

‒ Use of supportive policy incentives

‒ Reduced exposure to future fossil fuel price increases

‒ Use of new technologies

‒ Reduced exposure to GHG emissions and therefore less

‒ Participation in carbon market
‒ Shift toward decentralized energy
generation

sensitivity to changes in cost of carbon

‒ Returns on investment in low-emission technology
‒ Increased capital availability (e.g., as more investors favor
lower-emissions producers)

Markets

‒ Development and/or expansion of
low emission goods and services

‒ Development of climate adaptation
and insurance risk solutions

‒ Development of new products or
services through R&D and
innovation

products and services

‒ Increased revenue through new solutions to adaptation
needs (e.g., insurance risk transfer products and services)

‒ Better competitive position to reflect shifting consumer
preferences, resulting in increased revenues

‒ Shift in consumer preferences
‒ Access to new markets
‒ Use of public-sector incentives
‒ Access to new assets and locations
needing insurance coverage

‒ Participation in renewable energy

Resilience

‒ Increased revenue through demand for lower emissions

‒ Ability to diversify business activities

Appendices

33

revenues

goods/services

Key Issues Considered and
Areas for Further Work
F
Conclusion

‒ Increased production capacity, resulting in increased

‒ Reputational benefits resulting in increased demand for

Products and Services

A

Energy Source

energy

cost reductions)

programs and adoption of energyefficiency measures

‒ Resource substitutes/diversification

‒ Increased revenues through access to new and emerging
markets (e.g., partnerships with governments,
development banks)

‒ Increased diversification of financial assets (e.g., green
bonds and infrastructure)

‒ Increased market valuation through resilience planning
(e.g., infrastructure, land, buildings)

‒ Increased reliability of supply chain and ability to operate
under various conditions

‒ Increased revenue through new products and services
related to ensuring resiliency

The opportunity categories are not mutually exclusive, and some overlap exists.
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C Recommendations and Guidance
1. Overview of Recommendations and Guidance
To fulfill its remit, the Task Force developed four widely adoptable recommendations on climaterelated financial disclosures applicable to organizations across sectors and jurisdictions. In
developing its recommendations, the Task Force considered the challenges for preparers of
disclosures as well as the benefits of such disclosures to investors, lenders, and insurance
underwriters. To achieve this balance, the Task Force engaged in significant outreach and
consultation with users and preparers of disclosures and drew upon existing climate-related
disclosure regimes. The insights gained from the outreach and consultations directly informed
the development of the recommendations.
The Task Force structured its recommendations around four thematic areas that represent core
elements of how organizations operate—governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics
and targets. The four overarching recommendations are supported by key climate-related
financial disclosures—referred to as recommended disclosures—that build out the framework
with information that will help investors and others understand how reporting organizations think
about and assess climate-related risks and opportunities. In addition, there is guidance to support
all organizations in developing climate-related financial disclosures consistent with the
recommendations and recommended disclosures as well as supplemental guidance for specific
sectors. The structure is depicted in Figure 3 below, and the Task Force’s recommendations and
supporting recommended disclosures are presented in Figure 4 (p. 14).
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Figure 3

Recommendations and Guidance
Recommendations

E
Key Issues Considered and
Areas for Further Work
F

Guidance for
All Sectors

Conclusion
Appendices

Recommended
Disclosures
Supplemental
Guidance for
Certain Sectors

Recommendations
Four widely adoptable recommendations tied to:
governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics
and targets
Recommended Disclosures
Specific recommended disclosures organizations should
include in their financial filings to provide decisionuseful information
Guidance for All Sectors
Guidance providing context and suggestions for
implementing the recommended disclosures for all
organizations
Supplemental Guidance for Certain Sectors
Guidance that highlights important considerations for
certain sectors and provides a fuller picture of potential
climate-related financial impacts in those sectors
Supplemental guidance is provided for the financial
sector and for non-financial sectors potentially most
affected by climate change

The Task Force’s supplemental guidance is included in the Annex and covers the financial sector
as well as non-financial industries potentially most affected by climate change and the transition
to a lower-carbon economy (referred to as non-financial groups). The supplemental guidance
provides these preparers with additional context and suggestions for implementing the
recommended disclosures and should be used in conjunction with the guidance for all sectors.
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Figure 4

Recommendations and Supporting Recommended Disclosures

Governance

Strategy

Risk Management

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the organization’s
governance around climaterelated risks and opportunities.

Disclose the actual and potential
impacts of climate-related risks
and opportunities on the
organization’s businesses,
strategy, and financial planning
where such information is
material.

Disclose how the organization
identifies, assesses, and manages
climate-related risks.

Disclose the metrics and targets
used to assess and manage
relevant climate-related risks and
opportunities where such
information is material.

Recommended Disclosures

Recommended Disclosures

Recommended Disclosures

Recommended Disclosures

a) Describe the board’s oversight
of climate-related risks and
opportunities.

a) Describe the climate-related
risks and opportunities the
organization has identified over
the short, medium, and long
term.

a) Describe the organization’s
processes for identifying and
assessing climate-related risks.

a) Disclose the metrics used by the
organization to assess climaterelated risks and opportunities
in line with its strategy and risk
management process.

b) Describe management’s role in
assessing and managing
climate-related risks and
opportunities.

b) Describe the impact of climaterelated risks and opportunities
on the organization’s
businesses, strategy, and
financial planning.

b) Describe the organization’s
processes for managing
climate-related risks.

b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and,
if appropriate, Scope 3
greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions, and the related risks.

c) Describe the resilience of the
organization’s strategy, taking
into consideration different
climate-related scenarios,
including a 2°C or lower
scenario.

c) Describe how processes for
identifying, assessing, and
managing climate-related risks
are integrated into the
organization’s overall risk
management.

c) Describe the targets used by
the organization to manage
climate-related risks and
opportunities and performance
against targets.
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Figure 5 provides a mapping of the recommendations (governance, strategy, risk management,
and metrics and targets) and recommended disclosures (a, b, c) for which supplemental guidance
was developed for the financial sector and non-financial groups.




A
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B
Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
Financial Impacts

Financial Sector. The Task Force developed supplemental guidance for the financial sector,
which it organized into four major industries largely based on activities performed. The four
industries are banks (lending), insurance companies (underwriting), asset managers (asset
management), and asset owners, which include public- and private-sector pension plans,
endowments, and foundations (investing).34 The Task Force believes that disclosures by the
financial sector could foster an early assessment of climate-related risks and opportunities,
improve pricing of climate-related risks, and lead to more informed capital allocation
decisions.
Non-Financial Groups. The Task Force developed supplemental guidance for non-financial
industries that account for the largest proportion of GHG emissions, energy usage, and water
usage. These industries were organized into four groups (i.e., non-financial groups)—Energy;
Materials and Buildings; Transportation; and Agriculture, Food, and Forest Products—based
on similarities in climate-related risks as shown in Box 2 (p. 16). While this supplemental
guidance focuses on a subset of non-financial industries, organizations in other industries
with similar business activities may wish to review and consider the issues and topics
contained in the supplemental guidance.

Figure 5
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The use of the term “insurance companies” in this report includes re-insurers.
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Box 2

Determination of Non-Financial Groups
In an effort to focus supplemental guidance on those non-financial sectors and industries with the highest
likelihood of climate-related financial impacts, the Task Force assessed three factors most likely to be affected by
both transition risk (policy and legal, technology, market, and reputation) and physical risk (acute and chronic)—
GHG emissions, energy usage, and water usage.
The underlying premise in using these three factors is that climate-related physical and transition risks will likely
manifest themselves primarily and broadly in the form of constraints on GHG emissions, effects on energy
production and usage, and effects on water availability, usage, and quality. Other factors, such as waste
management and land use, are also important, but may not be as determinative across a wide range of industries
or may be captured in one of the primary categories.
In taking this approach, the Task Force consulted a number of sources regarding the ranking of various sectors and
industries according to these three factors. The various rankings were used to determine an overall set of sectors
and industries that have significant exposure to transition or physical risks related to GHG emissions, energy, or
water. The sectors and industries were grouped into four categories of industries that have similar economic
activities and climate-related exposures.
These four groups and their associated industries are intended to be indicative of the economic activities
associated with these industries rather than definitive industry categories. Other industries with similar activities
and climate-related exposures should consider the supplemental guidance as well.
The Task Force validated its approach using a variety of sources, including:

1

The TCFD Phase I report public consultation, soliciting more than 200 responses which ranked Energy, Utilities,
Materials, Industrials and Consumer Staples/Discretionary, in that order, as the Global Industry Classification
Standard (GICS) sectors most important for disclosure guidelines to cover.

2

Numerous sector-specific disclosure guidance documents to understand various breakdowns by economic
activity, sector, and industries, including from the following sources: CDP, GHG Protocol, Global Real Estate
Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB), Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), Institutional Investors Group on Climate
Change (IIGCC), IPIECA (the global oil and gas industry association for environmental and social issues), and the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB).

3

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report “Climate Change 2014 – Mitigation of Climate
Change” that provides an analysis of global direct and indirect emissions by economic sector. The IPCC analysis
highlights the dominant emissions-producing sectors as Energy; Industry; Agriculture, Forestry, and Other Land
Use; and Transportation and Buildings (Commercial and Residential).

4

Research and documentation from non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and industry organizations that
provide information on which industries have the highest exposures to climate change, including those from
Cambridge Institute of Sustainability Leadership, China’s National Development and Reform Commission
(NDRC), Environmental Resources Management (ERM), IEA, Moody’s, S&P Global Ratings, and WRI/UNEPFI.

Based on its assessment, the Task Force identified the four groups and their associated industries, listed in the
table below, as those that would most benefit from supplemental guidance.

Energy

Transportation

Materials and
Buildings

Agriculture, Food,
and Forest Products

‒ Oil and Gas

‒ Air Freight

‒ Metals and Mining

‒ Beverages

‒ Coal

‒ Passenger Air

‒ Chemicals

‒ Agriculture

‒ Construction Materials

‒ Packaged Foods and

‒ Electric Utilities

Transportation

‒ Maritime Transportation
‒ Rail Transportation
‒ Trucking Services
‒ Automobiles and

‒ Capital Goods
‒ Real Estate
Management and
Development

Meats

‒ Paper and Forest
Products

Components
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2. Implementing the Recommendations
a. Scope of Coverage
To promote more informed investing, lending, and insurance underwriting decisions, the Task
Force recommends all organizations with public debt or equity implement its recommendations.
Because climate-related issues are relevant for other types of organizations as well, the Task
Force encourages all organizations to implement these recommendations. In particular, the Task
Force believes that asset managers and asset owners, including public- and private-sector
pension plans, endowments, and foundations, should implement its recommendations so that
their clients and beneficiaries may better understand the performance of their assets, consider
the risks of their investments, and make more informed investment choices.
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b. Location of Disclosures and Materiality
The Task Force recommends that organizations provide climate-related financial disclosures in
their mainstream (i.e., public) annual financial filings.35 In most G20 jurisdictions, public
companies have a legal obligation to disclose material information in their financial filings—
including material climate-related information; and the Task Force’s recommendations are
intended to help organizations meet existing disclosure obligations more effectively.36 The Task
Force’s recommendations were developed to apply broadly across sectors and jurisdictions and
should not be seen as superseding national disclosure requirements. Importantly, organizations
should make financial disclosures in accordance with their national disclosure requirements. If
certain elements of the recommendations are incompatible with national disclosure
requirements for financial filings, the Task Force encourages organizations to disclose those
elements in other official company reports that are issued at least annually, widely distributed
and available to investors and others, and subject to internal governance processes that are the
same or substantially similar to those used for financial reporting.
The Task Force recognizes that most information included in financial filings is subject to a
materiality assessment. However, because climate-related risk is a non-diversifiable risk that
affects nearly all industries, many investors believe it requires special attention. For example, in
assessing organizations’ financial and operating results, many investors want insight into the
governance and risk management context in which such results are achieved. The Task Force
believes disclosures related to its Governance and Risk Management recommendations directly
address this need for context and should be included in annual financial filings.
For disclosures related to the Strategy and Metrics and Targets recommendations, the Task Force
believes organizations should provide such information in annual financial filings when the
information is deemed material. Certain organizations—those in the four non-financial groups
that have more than one billion U.S. dollar equivalent (USDE) in annual revenue—should consider
disclosing such information in other reports when the information is not deemed material and
not included in financial filings.37 Because these organizations are more likely than others to be
financially impacted over time, investors are interested in monitoring how these organizations’
strategies evolve.
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Financial filings refer to the annual reporting packages in which organizations are required to deliver their audited financial results under the
corporate, compliance, or securities laws of the jurisdictions in which they operate. While reporting requirements differ internationally,
financial filings generally contain financial statements and other information such as governance statements and management commentary.

36

The Task Force encourages organizations where climate-related issues could be material in the future to begin disclosing climate-related
financial information outside financial filings to facilitate the incorporation of such information into financial filings once climate-related
issues are determined to be material.
37
The Task Force chose a one billion USDE annual revenue threshold because it captures organizations responsible for over 90 percent of
Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions in the industries represented by the four non-financial groups (about 2,250 organizations out of roughly
15,000).
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The Task Force recognizes reporting by asset managers and asset owners is intended to satisfy
the needs of clients, beneficiaries, regulators, and oversight bodies and follows a format that is
generally different from corporate financial reporting. For purposes of adopting the Task Force’s
recommendations, asset managers and asset owners should use their existing means of financial
reporting to their clients and beneficiaries where relevant and where feasible. Likewise, asset
managers and asset owners should consider materiality in the context of their respective
mandates and investment performance for clients and beneficiaries.38
The Task Force believes that climate-related financial disclosures should be subject to appropriate
internal governance processes. Since these disclosures should be included in annual financial
filings, the governance processes should be similar to those used for existing financial reporting
and would likely involve review by the chief financial officer and audit committee, as appropriate.
The Task Force recognizes that some organizations may provide some or all of their climaterelated financial disclosures in reports other than financial filings. This may occur because the
organizations are not required to issue public financial reports (e.g., some asset managers and
asset owners). In such situations, organizations should follow internal governance processes that
are the same or substantially similar to those used for financial reporting.
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c. Principles for Effective Disclosures
To underpin its recommendations and
help guide current and future
developments in climate-related financial
reporting, the Task Force developed
seven principles for effective disclosure
(Figure 6), which are described more fully
in Appendix 3. When used by
organizations in preparing their climaterelated financial disclosures, these
principles can help achieve high-quality
and decision-useful disclosures that
enable users to understand the impact of
climate change on organizations. The
Task Force encourages organizations to
consider these principles as they develop
climate-related financial disclosures.

Figure 6

Principles for Effective Disclosures

1

Disclosures should represent
relevant information

2

Disclosures should be specific
and complete

3

Disclosures should be clear,
balanced, and understandable

4

Disclosures should be consistent
over time

5

Disclosures should be comparable
among companies within a sector,
industry, or portfolio

6

Disclosures should be reliable, verifiable,
The Task Force’s disclosure principles are
and objective
largely consistent with internationally
accepted frameworks for financial
Disclosures should be provided
reporting and are generally applicable to
on a timely basis
most providers of financial disclosures.
The principles are designed to assist
organizations in making clear the linkages between climate-related issues and their governance,
strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets.
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The Task Force recommends asset managers and asset owners include carbon footprinting information in their reporting to clients and
beneficiaries, as described in Section D of the Annex, to support the assessment and management of climate-related risks.
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3. Guidance for All Sectors
The Task Force has developed guidance to support all organizations in developing climate-related
financial disclosures consistent with its recommendations and recommended disclosures. The
guidance assists preparers by providing context and suggestions for implementing the
recommended disclosures. Recognizing organizations have differing levels of capacity to disclose
under the recommendations, the guidance provides descriptions of the types of information that
should be disclosed or considered.
a. Governance
Investors, lenders, insurance underwriters, and other users of climate-related financial
disclosures (collectively referred to as “investors and other stakeholders”) are interested in
understanding the role an organization’s board plays in overseeing climate-related issues as well
as management’s role in assessing and managing those issues. Such information supports
evaluations of whether climate-related issues receive appropriate board and management
attention.

Governance
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Disclose the organization’s governance around climate-related risks and opportunities.
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Recommended
Disclosure a)
Describe the board’s
oversight of climaterelated risks and
opportunities.

Guidance for All Sectors
In describing the board’s oversight of climate-related issues, organizations
should consider including a discussion of the following:

‒ processes and frequency by which the board and/or board committees
(e.g., audit, risk, or other committees) are informed about climate-related
issues,

‒ whether the board and/or board committees consider climate-related
issues when reviewing and guiding strategy, major plans of action, risk

D

management policies, annual budgets, and business plans as well as setting

Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues

the organization’s performance objectives, monitoring implementation and
performance, and overseeing major capital expenditures, acquisitions, and

E
Key Issues Considered and
Areas for Further Work
F
Conclusion
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divestitures, and

‒ how the board monitors and oversees progress against goals and targets
for addressing climate-related issues.
Recommended
Disclosure b)
Describe management’s
role in assessing and
managing climaterelated risks and
opportunities.

Guidance for All Sectors
In describing management’s role related to the assessment and management
of climate-related issues, organizations should consider including the following
information:

‒ whether the organization has assigned climate-related responsibilities to
management-level positions or committees; and, if so, whether such
management positions or committees report to the board or a committee
of the board and whether those responsibilities include assessing and/or
managing climate-related issues,

‒ a description of the associated organizational structure(s),
‒ processes by which management is informed about climate-related issues,
and

‒ how management (through specific positions and/or management
committees) monitors climate-related issues.
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b. Strategy
Investors and other stakeholders need to understand how climate-related issues may affect an
organization’s businesses, strategy, and financial planning over the short, medium, and long term.
Such information is used to inform expectations about the future performance of an
organization.

Strategy
Disclose the actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on the
organization’s businesses, strategy, and financial planning where such information is material.
Recommended
Disclosure a)
Describe the climaterelated risks and
opportunities the
organization has
identified over the short,
medium, and long term.

organization’s assets or infrastructure and the fact that climate-related
issues often manifest themselves over the medium and longer terms,

‒ a description of the specific climate-related issues for each time horizon
on the organization, and
opportunities could have a material financial impact on the organization.

Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
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Organizations should consider providing a description of their risks and
opportunities by sector and/or geography, as appropriate. In describing
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long-term time horizons, taking into consideration the useful life of the

‒ a description of the process(es) used to determine which risks and

B
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‒ a description of what they consider to be the relevant short-, medium-, and

(short, medium, and long term) that could have a material financial impact
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F

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should provide the following information:

climate-related issues, organizations should refer to Tables 1 and 2 (pp. 10-11).
Recommended
Disclosure b)
Describe the impact of
climate-related risks and
opportunities on the
organization’s
businesses, strategy,
and financial planning.

Guidance for All Sectors
Building on recommended disclosure (a), organizations should discuss how
identified climate-related issues have affected their businesses, strategy, and
financial planning.
Organizations should consider including the impact on their businesses and
strategy in the following areas:

‒ Products and services
‒ Supply chain and/or value chain
‒ Adaptation and mitigation activities
‒ Investment in research and development
‒ Operations (including types of operations and location of facilities)
Organizations should describe how climate-related issues serve as an input to
their financial planning process, the time period(s) used, and how these risks
and opportunities are prioritized. Organizations’ disclosures should reflect a
holistic picture of the interdependencies among the factors that affect their
ability to create value over time. Organizations should also consider including
in their disclosures the impact on financial planning in the following areas:

‒ Operating costs and revenues
‒ Capital expenditures and capital allocation
‒ Acquisitions or divestments
‒ Access to capital
If climate-related scenarios were used to inform the organization’s strategy
and financial planning, such scenarios should be described.
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Strategy
Disclose the actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on the
organization’s businesses, strategy, and financial planning where such information is material.
Recommended
Disclosure c)
Describe the resilience
of the organization’s
strategy, taking into
consideration different
climate-related
scenarios, including a
2°C or lower scenario.

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should describe how resilient their strategies are to climaterelated risks and opportunities, taking into consideration a transition to a
lower-carbon economy consistent with a 2°C or lower scenario and, where
relevant to the organization, scenarios consistent with increased physical
climate-related risks.
Organizations should consider discussing:

‒ where they believe their strategies may be affected by climate-related risks
and opportunities;

‒ how their strategies might change to address such potential risks and
opportunities; and

‒ the climate-related scenarios and associated time horizon(s) considered.
Refer to Section D for information on applying scenarios to forward-looking
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c. Risk Management
Investors and other stakeholders need to understand how an organization’s climate-related risks
are identified, assessed, and managed and whether those processes are integrated into existing
risk management processes. Such information supports users of climate-related financial
disclosures in evaluating the organization’s overall risk profile and risk management activities.

Risk Management
Disclose how the organization identifies, assesses, and manages climate-related risks.
Recommended
Disclosure a)
Describe the
organization’s processes
for identifying and
assessing climaterelated risks.

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should describe their risk management processes for identifying
and assessing climate-related risks. An important aspect of this description is
how organizations determine the relative significance of climate-related risks
in relation to other risks.
Organizations should describe whether they consider existing and emerging
regulatory requirements related to climate change (e.g., limits on emissions) as
well as other relevant factors considered.

Appendices

Organizations should also consider disclosing the following:

‒ processes for assessing the potential size and scope of identified climaterelated risks and

‒ definitions of risk terminology used or references to existing risk
classification frameworks used.
Recommended
Disclosure b)
Describe the
organization’s processes
for managing climaterelated risks.

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should describe their processes for managing climate-related
risks, including how they make decisions to mitigate, transfer, accept, or
control those risks. In addition, organizations should describe their processes
for prioritizing climate-related risks, including how materiality determinations
are made within their organizations.
In describing their processes for managing climate-related risks, organizations
should address the risks included in Tables 1 and 2 (pp. 10-11), as appropriate.
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Risk Management
Disclose how the organization identifies, assesses, and manages climate-related risks.
Recommended
Disclosure c)
Describe how processes
for identifying,
assessing, and managing
climate-related risks are
integrated into the
organization’s overall
risk management.

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should describe how their processes for identifying, assessing,
and managing climate-related risks are integrated into their overall risk
management.

d. Metrics and Targets
Investors and other stakeholders need to understand how an organization measures and
monitors its climate-related risks and opportunities. Access to the metrics and targets used by an
organization allows investors and other stakeholders to better assess the organization’s potential
risk-adjusted returns, ability to meet financial obligations, general exposure to climate-related
issues, and progress in managing or adapting to those issues. They also provide a basis upon
which investors and other stakeholders can compare organizations within a sector or industry.
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Disclose the metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant climate-related risks
and opportunities where such information is material.

C
Recommendations and
Guidance
D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues
E
Key Issues Considered and
Areas for Further Work

Recommended
Disclosure a)
Disclose the metrics
used by the organization
to assess climate-related
risks and opportunities
in line with its strategy
and risk management
process.

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should provide the key metrics used to measure and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities, as described in Tables 1 and 2 (pp. 1011). Organizations should consider including metrics on climate-related risks
associated with water, energy, land use, and waste management where
relevant and applicable.
Where climate-related issues are material, organizations should consider
describing whether and how related performance metrics are incorporated
into remuneration policies.
Where relevant, organizations should provide their internal carbon prices as

F
Conclusion

well as climate-related opportunity metrics such as revenue from products and
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Metrics should be provided for historical periods to allow for trend analysis. In

services designed for a lower-carbon economy.
addition, where not apparent, organizations should provide a description of
the methodologies used to calculate or estimate climate-related metrics.
Recommended
Disclosure b)
Disclose Scope 1, Scope
2, and, if appropriate,
Scope 3 greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions, and
the related risks.

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should provide their Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions and, if
appropriate, Scope 3 GHG emissions and the related risks.39
GHG emissions should be calculated in line with the GHG Protocol
methodology to allow for aggregation and comparability across organizations
and jurisdictions.40 As appropriate, organizations should consider providing
related, generally accepted industry-specific GHG efficiency ratios.41
GHG emissions and associated metrics should be provided for historical

Emissions are a prime driver of rising global temperatures and, as such, are a key focal point of policy, regulatory, market, and technology
responses to limit climate change. As a result, organizations with significant emissions are likely to be impacted more significantly by
transition risk than other organizations. In addition, current or future constraints on emissions, either directly by emission restrictions or
indirectly through carbon budgets, may impact organizations financially.
40
While challenges remain, the GHG Protocol methodology is the most widely recognized and used international standard for calculating GHG
emissions. Organizations may use national reporting methodologies if they are consistent with the GHG Protocol methodology.
41
For industries with high energy consumption, metrics related to emission intensity are important to provide. For example, emissions per unit
of economic output (e.g., unit of production, number of employees, or value-added) is widely used. See the Annex for examples of metrics.
39
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Metrics and Targets
Disclose the metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant climate-related risks
and opportunities where such information is material.
periods to allow for trend analysis. In addition, where not apparent,
organizations should provide a description of the methodologies used to
calculate or estimate the metrics.
Recommended
Disclosure c)
Describe the targets
used by the organization
to manage climaterelated risks and
opportunities and
performance against
targets.

Guidance for All Sectors
Organizations should describe their key climate-related targets such as those
related to GHG emissions, water usage, energy usage, etc., in line with
anticipated regulatory requirements or market constraints or other goals.
Other goals may include efficiency or financial goals, financial loss tolerances,
avoided GHG emissions through the entire product life cycle, or net revenue
goals for products and services designed for a lower-carbon economy.
In describing their targets, organizations should consider including the
following:

‒ whether the target is absolute or intensity based,
A
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‒ time frames over which the target applies,

B

‒ key performance indicators used to assess progress against targets.
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Where not apparent, organizations should provide a description of the

‒ base year from which progress is measured, and

methodologies used to calculate targets and measures.
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D Scenario Analysis and Climate-Related Issues
Some organizations are affected by risks associated with climate change today. However, for
many organizations, the most significant effects of climate change are likely to emerge over the
medium to longer term and their timing and magnitude are uncertain. This uncertainty presents
challenges for individual organizations in understanding the potential effects of climate change
on their businesses, strategies, and financial performance. To appropriately incorporate the
potential effects in their planning processes, organizations need to consider how their climaterelated risks and opportunities may evolve and the potential implications under different
conditions. One way to do this is through scenario analysis.
Scenario analysis is a well-established method for developing strategic plans that are more
flexible or robust to a range of plausible future states. The use of scenario analysis for assessing
the potential business implications of climate-related risks and opportunities, however, is
relatively recent. While several organizations use scenario analysis to assess the potential impact
of climate change on their businesses, only a subset have disclosed their assessment of forwardlooking implications publicly, either in sustainability reports or financial filings.42
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The disclosure of organizations’ forward-looking assessments of climate-related issues is
important for investors and other stakeholders in understanding how vulnerable individual
organizations are to transition and physical risks and how such vulnerabilities are or would be
addressed. As a result, the Task Force believes that organizations should use scenario analysis to
assess potential business, strategic, and financial implications of climate-related risks and
opportunities and disclose those, as appropriate, in their annual financial filings.
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Scenario analysis is an important and useful tool for understanding the
strategic implications of climate-related risks and opportunities.
This section provides additional information on using scenario analysis as a tool to assess
potential implications of climate-related risks and opportunities. In addition, a technical
supplement, The Use of Scenario Analysis in Disclosure of Climate-Related Risks and
Opportunities, on the Task Force’s website provides further information on the types of climaterelated scenarios, the application of scenario analysis, and the key challenges in implementing
scenario analysis.
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1. Overview of Scenario Analysis
Scenario analysis is a process for identifying and assessing the potential implications of a range of
plausible future states under conditions of uncertainty. Scenarios are hypothetical constructs and
not designed to deliver precise outcomes or forecasts. Instead, scenarios provide a way for
organizations to consider how the future might look if certain trends continue or certain
conditions are met. In the case of climate change, for example, scenarios allow an organization to
explore and develop an understanding of how various combinations of climate-related risks, both
transition and physical risks, may affect its businesses, strategies, and financial performance over
time.
Scenario analysis can be qualitative, relying on descriptive, written narratives, or quantitative,
relying on numerical data and models, or some combination of both. Qualitative scenario analysis
42

Some organizations in the energy sector and some large investors have made public disclosures describing the results of their climate-related
scenario analysis, including discussing how the transition might affect their current portfolios. In some instances, this information was
published in financial filings.
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explores relationships and trends for which little or no numerical data is available, while
quantitative scenario analysis can be used to assess measurable trends and relationships using
models and other analytical techniques.43 Both rely on scenarios that are internally consistent,
logical, and based on explicit assumptions and constraints that result in plausible future
development paths.
As summarized in Figure 7, there are several reasons why scenario analysis is a useful tool for
organizations in assessing the potential implications of climate-related risks and opportunities.
Figure 7

Reasons to Consider Using Scenario Analysis for Climate Change

1

Scenario analysis can help organizations consider issues, like climate change, that have
the following characteristics:
‒ Possible outcomes that are highly uncertain (e.g., the physical response of the climate and
ecosystems to higher levels of GHG emissions in the atmosphere)

‒ Outcomes that will play out over the medium to longer term (e.g., timing, distribution, and
mechanisms of the transition to a lower-carbon economy)
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‒ Potential disruptive effects that, due to uncertainty and complexity, are substantial
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2

Scenario analysis can enhance organizations’ strategic conversations about the future by
considering, in a more structured manner, what may unfold that is different from
business-as-usual. Importantly, it broadens decision makers’ thinking across a range of
plausible scenarios, including scenarios where climate-related impacts can be
significant.

3

Scenario analysis can help organizations frame and assess the potential range of
plausible business, strategic, and financial impacts from climate change and the
associated management actions that may need to be considered in strategic and
financial plans. This may lead to more robust strategies under a wider range of
uncertain future conditions.

4

Scenario analysis can help organizations identify indicators to monitor the external
environment and better recognize when the environment is moving toward a different
scenario state (or to a different stage along a scenario path). This allows organizations
the opportunity to reassess and adjust their strategies and financial plans accordingly.44

5

Scenario analysis can assist investors in understanding the robustness of organizations’
strategies and financial plans and in comparing risks and opportunities across
organizations.
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2. Exposure to Climate-Related Risks
The effects of climate change on specific sectors, industries, and individual organizations are
highly variable. It is important, therefore, that all organizations consider applying a basic level of
scenario analysis in their strategic planning and risk management processes. Organizations more
significantly affected by transition risk (e.g., fossil fuel-based industries, energy-intensive
manufacturers, and transportation activities) and/or physical risk (e.g., agriculture, transportation

For example, see Mark D. A. Rounsevell, Marc J. Metzger, Developing qualitative scenario storylines for environmental change assessment, WIREs
Climate Change 2010, 1: 606-619. doi: 10.1002/wcc.63, 2010 and Oliver Fricko, et. al., Energy sector water use implications of a 2o C climate
policy, Environmental Research Letters, 11: 1-10, 2016.
44
J.N. Maack, Scenario analysis: a tool for task managers, Social Analysis: selected tools and techniques, Social Development Papers, Number 36,
the World Bank, June 2001, Washington, DC.
43
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and building infrastructure, insurance, and tourism) should consider a more in-depth application
of scenario analysis.
a. Exposure to Transition Risks
Transition risk scenarios are particularly relevant for resource-intensive organizations with high
GHG emissions within their value chains, where policy actions, technology, or market changes
aimed at emissions reductions, energy efficiency, subsidies or taxes, or other constraints or
incentives may have a particularly direct effect.
A key type of transition risk scenario is a so-called 2°C scenario, which lays out a pathway and an
emissions trajectory consistent with holding the increase in the global average temperature to
2°C above pre-industrial levels. In December 2015, nearly 200 governments agreed to strengthen
the global response to the threat of climate change by “holding the increase in the global average
temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the
temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels,” referred to as the Paris Agreement.45
As a result, a 2°C scenario provides a common reference point that is generally aligned with the
objectives of the Paris Agreement and will support investors’ evaluation of the potential
magnitude and timing of transition-related implications for individual organizations; across
different organizations within a sector; and across different sectors.
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b. Exposure to Physical Risks
A wide range of organizations are exposed to climate-related physical risks. Physical climaterelated scenarios are particularly relevant for organizations exposed to acute or chronic climate
change, such as those with:
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long-lived, fixed assets;



locations or operations in climate-sensitive regions (e.g., coastal and flood zones);



reliance on availability of water; and



value chains exposed to the above.

Physical risk scenarios generally identify extreme weather threats of moderate or higher risk
before 2030 and a larger number and range of physical threats between 2030 and 2050. Although
most climate models deliver scenario results for physical impacts beyond 2050, organizations
typically focus on the consequences of physical risk scenarios over shorter time frames that
reflect the lifetimes of their respective assets or liabilities, which vary across sectors and
organizations.

3. Recommended Approach to Scenario Analysis
The Task Force believes that all organizations exposed to climate-related risks should consider (1)
using scenario analysis to help inform their strategic and financial planning processes and (2)
disclosing how resilient their strategies are to a range of plausible climate-related scenarios. The
Task Force recognizes that, for many organizations, scenario analysis is or would be a largely
qualitative exercise. However, organizations with more significant exposure to transition risk
and/or physical risk should undertake more rigorous qualitative and, if relevant, quantitative
scenario analysis with respect to key drivers and trends that affect their operations.
A critical aspect of scenario analysis is the selection of a set of scenarios (not just one) that covers
a reasonable variety of future outcomes, both favorable and unfavorable. In this regard, the Task
Force recommends organizations use a 2°C or lower scenario in addition to two or three other
45

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. ”The Paris Agreement,” December 2015.
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scenarios most relevant to their circumstances, such as scenarios related to Nationally
Determined Contributions (NDCs), physical climate-related scenarios, or other challenging
scenarios.46 In jurisdictions where NDCs are a commonly accepted guide for an energy and/or
emissions pathway, NDCs may constitute particularly useful scenarios to include in an
organization’s suite of scenarios for conducting climate-related scenario analysis.
For an organization in the initial stages of implementing scenario analysis or with limited
exposure to climate-related issues, the Task Force recommends disclosing how resilient,
qualitatively or directionally, the organization’s strategy and financial plans may be to a range of
relevant climate change scenarios. This information helps investors, lenders, insurance
underwriters, and other stakeholders understand the robustness of an organization’s forwardlooking strategy and financial plans across a range of possible future states.
Organizations with more significant exposure to climate-related issues should consider disclosing
key assumptions and pathways related to the scenarios they use to allow users to understand the
analytical process and its limitations. In particular, it is important to understand the critical
parameters and assumptions that materially affect the conclusions drawn. As a result, the Task
Force believes that organizations with significant climate-related exposures should strive to
disclose the elements described in Figure 8.
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Figure 8

C

Organizations with more significant exposure to climate-related issues should consider
disclosing key aspects of their scenario analysis, such as the ones described below.
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Disclosure Considerations for Non-Financial Organizations

1

The scenarios used, including the 2°C or lower scenario47

2

Critical input parameters, assumptions, and analytical choices for the scenarios used,
including such factors as:
‒ Assumptions about possible technology responses and timing (e.g., evolution of

E

products/services, the technology used to produce them, and costs to implement)
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Areas for Further Work

‒ Assumptions made around potential differences in input parameters across regions, countries,

F
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‒ Approximate sensitivities to key assumptions

asset locations, and/or markets
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3

Time frames used for scenarios, including short-, medium-, and long-term milestones
(e.g., how organizations consider timing of potential future implications under the
scenarios used)

4

Information about the resiliency of the organization’s strategy, including strategic
performance implications under the various scenarios considered, potential qualitative
or directional implications for the organization’s value chain, capital allocation decisions,
research and development focus, and potential material financial implications for the
organization’s operating results and/or financial position

The Task Force’s technical supplement, The Use of Scenario Analysis in Disclosure of Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities provides more
information on scenario inputs, analytical assumptions and choices, and assessment and presentation of potential impacts.
47
The objective of the Paris Agreement is to hold the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels
and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C. The IEA is developing a 1.5°C scenario that organizations may find useful.
46
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4. Applying Scenario Analysis
While the Task Force recognizes the complexities of scenario analysis and the potential resources
needed to conduct it, organizations are encouraged to use scenario analysis to assess climaterelated risks and opportunities. For organizations just beginning to use scenario analysis, a
qualitative approach that progresses and deepens over time may be appropriate.48 Greater rigor
and sophistication in the use of data and quantitative models and analysis may be warranted for
organizations with more extensive experience in conducting scenario analysis. Organizations may
decide to use existing external scenarios and models (e.g., those provided by third-party vendors)
or develop their own, in-house modeling capabilities. The choice of approach will depend on an
organization’s needs, resources, and capabilities.
In conducting scenario analysis, organizations should strive to achieve:
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transparency around parameters, assumptions, analytical approaches, and time frames;



comparability of results across different scenarios and analytical approaches;



adequate documentation for the methodology, assumptions, data sources, and analytics;



consistency of methodology year over year;



sound governance over scenario analysis conduct, validation, approval, and application; and



C
Recommendations and
Guidance
D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues

effective disclosure of scenario analysis that will inform and promote a constructive
dialogue between investors and organizations on the range of potential impacts and
resilience of the organization’s strategy under various plausible climate-related scenarios.

In applying scenario analysis, organizations should consider general implications for their
strategies, capital allocation, and costs and revenues, both at an enterprise-wide level and at the
level of specific regions and markets where specific implications of climate change for the
organization are likely to arise. Financial-sector organizations should consider using scenario
analysis to evaluate the potential impact of climate-related scenarios on individual assets or
investments, investments or assets in a particular sector or region, or underwriting activities.
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The Task Force’s supplemental guidance recognizes that organizations will be at different levels of
experience in using scenario analysis. However, it is important for organizations to use scenario
analysis and develop the necessary organizational skills and capabilities to assess climate-related
risks and opportunities, with the expectation that organizations will evolve and deepen their use
of scenario analysis over time. The objective is to assist investors and other stakeholders in better
understanding:
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the degree of robustness of the organization’s strategy and financial plans under different
plausible future states of the world;
how the organization may be positioning itself to take advantage of opportunities and plans
to mitigate or adapt to climate-related risks; and
how the organization is challenging itself to think strategically about longer-term climaterelated risks and opportunities.

Organizations considering undertaking scenario analysis may wish to conduct various sensitivity analyses around key climate factors as a
precursor to scenario analysis, recognizing that sensitivity analysis and scenario analysis are different, but complementary, processes.
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5. Challenges and Benefits of Conducting Scenario Analysis
Scenario analysis is a well-established method for developing strategic plans that are more
flexible and robust to a range of plausible future states. As previously discussed (Figure 7, p. 26) it
is particularly useful for assessing issues with possible outcomes that are highly uncertain, that
play out over the medium to longer term, and that are potentially disruptive. Scenario analysis
can help to better frame strategic issues, assess the range of potential management actions that
may be needed, engage more productively in strategic conversations, and identify indicators to
monitor the external environment. Importantly, climate-related scenario analysis can provide the
foundation for more effective engagement with investors on an organization’s strategic and
business resiliency.
Conducting climate-related scenario analysis, however, is not without challenges. First, most
scenarios have been developed for global and macro assessments of potential climate-related
impacts that can inform policy makers. These climate-related scenarios do not always provide the
ideal level of transparency, range of data outputs, and functionality of tools that would facilitate
their use in a business or investment context.
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Second, the availability and granularity of data can be a challenge for organizations attempting to
assess various energy and technology pathways or carbon constraints in different jurisdictions
and geographic locations.
Third, the use of climate-related scenario analysis to assess potential business implications is still
at an early stage. Although a handful of the largest organizations and investors are using climaterelated scenario analysis as part of their strategic planning and risk management processes,
many organizations are just beginning to explore its use. Sharing experiences and approaches to
climate-related scenario analysis across organizations, therefore, is critical to advancing the use of
climate-related scenario analysis. Organizations may be able to play an important role in this
regard by facilitating information and experience exchanges among themselves; collectively
developing tools, data sets, and methodologies; and working to set standards. Organizations
across many different sectors will inevitably need to learn by doing. Some may seek guidance
from other industry participants and experts on how to apply climate-related scenarios to make
forward-looking analyses of climate-related risks and opportunities.
Addressing these challenges and advancing the use of climate-related scenario analysis will
require further work. These challenges, however, are not insurmountable and can be addressed.
Organizations should undertake scenario analysis in the near term to capture the important
benefits for assessing climate-related risks and opportunities and improve their capabilities as
tools and data progress over time.
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E Key Issues Considered and Areas for Further Work
The diverse perspectives of Task Force members as well as outreach efforts, including two public
consultations, resulting in over 500 responses, hundreds of industry interviews, several focus
groups, and multiple webinars, provided valuable insight into the challenges that different
organizations—both financial and non-financial—may encounter in preparing disclosures
consistent with the Task Force’s recommendations. The Task Force considered these issues and
others in developing and then finalizing its recommendations and sought to balance the burden
of disclosure on preparers with the need for consistent and decision-useful information for users
(i.e., investors, lenders, and insurance underwriters). This section describes the key issues
considered by the Task Force, significant public feedback received by the Task Force related to
those issues, the ultimate disposition of the issues, and, in some cases, areas where further work
may be warranted. Figure 9 summarizes areas the Task Force identified, through its own analysis
as well as through public feedback, as warranting further research and analysis or the
development of methodologies and standards.
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Figure 9

Key Areas for Further Work
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Relationship to
Other Reporting
Initiatives

Encourage standard setting organizations and others to actively work
toward greater alignment of frameworks and to support adoption

Scenario Analysis

Further develop applicable 2°C or lower transition scenarios and
supporting outputs, tools, and user interfaces
Develop broadly accepted methodologies, datasets, and tools for
scenario-based evaluation of physical risk by organizations
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Make datasets and tools publicly available and provide commonly
available platforms for scenario analysis
Data Availability
and Quality and
Financial Impact

Conclusion

Undertake further research and analysis to better understand and
measure how climate-related issues translate into potential financial
impacts for organizations in financial and non-financial sectors
Improve data quality and further develop standardized metrics for
the financial sector, including better defining carbon-related assets
and developing metrics that address a broader range of climaterelated risks and opportunities

Appendices

Increase organizations’ understanding of climate-related risks and
opportunities
Example
Disclosures49

49

Provide example disclosures to assist preparers in developing
disclosures consistent with the Task Force’s recommendations

In response to the second consultation, organizations asked for example disclosures to gain a better understanding of how the
recommended information may be disclosed. The Task Force acknowledges the development of these examples as an area of further work.
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1. Relationship to Other Reporting Initiatives
Through the Task Force’s outreach efforts, some organizations expressed concern that multiple
disclosure frameworks and mandatory reporting requirements increase the administrative
burden of disclosure efforts. Specifically, the additional time, cost, and effort required to analyze
and disclose new climate-related information could penalize those with less capacity to respond.
The Task Force considered existing voluntary and mandatory climate-related reporting
frameworks in developing its recommendations and provides information in the Annex on the
alignment of existing frameworks, including those developed by the CDP (formerly the Carbon
Disclosure Project), Climate Disclosure Standards Board (CDSB), the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI), the International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), and the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (SASB), with the Task Force’s recommended disclosures. The Task Force expects
preparers disclosing climate-related information under other regimes will be able to use existing
processes and content when developing disclosures based on the Task Force’s recommendations.
The Task Force’s recommendations provide a common set of principles that should help existing
disclosure regimes come into closer alignment over time. Preparers, users, and other
stakeholders share a common interest in encouraging such alignment as it relieves a burden for
reporting entities, reduces fragmented disclosure, and provides greater comparability for users.
The Task Force also encourages standard setting bodies to support adoption of the
recommendations and alignment with the recommended disclosures.
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2. Location of Disclosures and Materiality
In considering possible reporting venues, the Task Force reviewed existing regimes for climaterelated disclosures across G20 countries. While many G20 countries have rules or regulatory
guidance that require climate-related disclosure for organizations, most are not explicitly focused
on climate-related financial information.50 In addition, the locations of these disclosures vary
significantly and range from surveys sent to regulators to sustainability reports to annual financial
filings (see Appendix 4).
The Task Force also reviewed financial filing requirements applicable to public companies across
G20 countries and found that in most G20 countries, issuers have a legal obligation to disclose
material information in their financial reports—which includes material, climate-related
information. Such reporting may take the form of a general disclosure of material information,
but many jurisdictions require disclosure of material information in specific sections of the
financial filing (e.g., in a discussion on risk factors).51
Based on its review, the Task Force determined that preparers of climate-related financial
disclosures should provide such disclosures in their mainstream (i.e., public) annual financial
filings.52 The Task Force believes publication of climate-related financial information in
mainstream financial filings will foster broader utilization of such disclosures, promoting an
informed understanding of climate-related issues by investors and others, and support
shareholder engagement. Importantly, in determining whether information is material, the Task
Force believes organizations should determine materiality for climate-related issues consistent
with how they determine the materiality of other information included in their financial filings. In
addition, the Task Force cautions organizations against prematurely concluding that climate-

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and CDSB, Climate Change Disclosure in G20 Countries: Stocktaking of
Corporate Reporting Schemes, November 18, 2015.
51
N. Ganci, S. Hammer, T. Reilly, and P. Rodel, Environmental and Climate Change Disclosure under the Securities Laws: A Multijurisdictional Survey,
Debevoise & Plimpton, March 2016.
50

52

To the extent climate-related disclosures are provided outside of financial filings, organizations are encouraged to align the release of such
reports with their financial filings.
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related risks and opportunities are not material based on perceptions of the longer-term nature
of some climate-related risks.
As part of the Task Force’s second public consultation, some organizations expressed concern
about disclosing information in financial filings that is not clearly tied to an assessment of
materiality. The Task Force recognizes organizations’ concerns about disclosing information in
annual financial filings that is not clearly tied to an assessment of materiality. However, the Task
Force believes disclosures related to the Governance and Risk Management recommendations
should be provided in annual financial filings. Because climate-related risk is a non-diversifiable
risk that affects nearly all sectors, many investors believe it requires special attention. For
example, in assessing organizations’ financial and operating results, many investors want insight
into the governance and risk management context in which such results are achieved. The Task
Force believes disclosures related to its Governance and Risk Management recommendations
directly address this need for context and
should be included in annual financial filings.
Figure 10

A
Introduction
B
Climate-Related Risks,
Opportunities, and
Financial Impacts
C
Recommendations and
Guidance
D
Scenario Analysis and
Climate-Related Issues
E
Key Issues Considered
and Areas for Further
Work
F
Conclusion

For disclosures related to the Strategy and
Metrics and Targets recommendations, the Task
Force believes organizations should provide
such information in annual financial filings
when the information is deemed material.
Certain organizations—those in the four nonfinancial groups that have more than one billion
USDE in annual revenue—should consider
disclosing information related to these
recommendations in other reports when the
information is not deemed material and not
included in financial filings.53,54 Because these
organizations are more likely than others to be
affected financially over time due to their
significant GHG emissions or energy or water
dependencies, investors are interested in
monitoring how the organizations’ strategies
evolve.
In addition, the Task Force recognizes reporting
by asset managers and asset owners to their
clients and beneficiaries, respectively, generally
occurs outside mainstream financial filings
(Figure 10). For purposes of adopting the Task
Force’s recommendations, asset managers and
asset owners should use their existing channels
of financial reporting to their clients and
beneficiaries where relevant and feasible.
Likewise, asset managers and asset owners
should consider materiality in the context of
their respective mandates and investment
performance for clients and beneficiaries.
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Reporting by Asset Owners
The financial reporting requirements and practices
of asset owners vary widely and differ from what is
required of organizations with public debt or
equity. Some asset owners have no public
reporting, while others provide extensive public
reporting. For purposes of adopting the Task
Force’s recommendations, asset owners should
use their existing channels of financial reporting to
their beneficiaries and others where relevant and
feasible.

Reporting by Asset Managers
Reporting to clients by asset managers also takes
different forms, depending on the requirements of
the client and the types of investments made. For
example, an investor in a mutual fund might
receive quarterly, or download from the asset
manager’s website, a “fund fact sheet” that reports,
among other information, the top holdings by
value, the top performers by returns, and the
carbon footprint of the portfolio against a stated
benchmark. An investor in a segregated account
might receive more detailed reporting, including
items such as the aggregate carbon intensity of the
portfolio compared with a benchmark, the
portfolio’s exposure to green revenue (and how
this changes over time), or insight into portfolio
positioning under different climate scenarios. The
Task Force appreciates that climate-related risk
reporting by asset managers is in the very early
stages and encourages progress and innovation by
the industry.

53

The Task Force chose a one billion USDE annual revenue threshold because it captures organizations responsible for over 90% of Scope 1
and 2 GHG emissions in the industries represented by the four non-financial groups (about 2,250 organizations out of roughly 15,000).

54

“Other reports” should be official company reports that are issued at least annually, widely distributed and available to investors and others,
and subject to internal governance processes that are substantially similar to those used for financial reporting.
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3. Scenario Analysis
As part of the Task Force’s second public consultation, many organizations said scenario analysis
is a useful tool to help assess risks and understand potential implications of climate change;
however, they also identified areas where the Task Force’s recommendations and guidance could
be improved. In particular, organizations asked the Task Force to identify standardized climaterelated scenarios for organizations to use and clarify the information related to scenarios that
should be disclosed. They also noted expectations around disclosures and climate-related
scenario analysis should be proportionate to the size of the reporting entity and not onerous for
smaller organizations. In addition, some organizations noted that the disclosures related to
strategy could put organizations at greater risk of litigation given the high degree of uncertainty
around the future timing and magnitude of climate-related impacts.
In finalizing its recommendations and guidance, the Task Force clarified organizations should
describe how resilient their strategies are to climate-related risks and opportunities, taking into
consideration a transition to a lower-carbon economy consistent with a 2°C or lower scenario
and, where relevant, scenarios consistent with more extreme physical risks. To address concerns
about proportionality, the Task Force established a threshold for organizations in the four nonfinancial groups that should perform more robust scenario analysis and disclose additional
information on the resiliency of their strategies.
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On the issue of recommending specific standardized or reference climate-related scenarios for
organizations to use, Task Force members agreed that while such an approach is intuitively
appealing, it is not a practical solution at this time. Existing, publicly available climate-related
scenarios are not structured or defined in such a way that they can be easily applied consistently
across different industries or across organizations within an industry.
The Task Force recognizes that incorporating scenario analysis into strategic planning processes
will improve over time as organizations “learn by doing.” To facilitate progress in this area, the
Task Force encourages further work as follows:
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further developing 2°C or lower transition scenarios that can be applied to specific industries
and geographies along with supporting outputs, tools, and user interfaces;
developing broadly accepted methodologies, data sets, and tools for scenario-based
evaluation of physical risk by organizations;
making these data sets and tools publicly available to facilitate use by organizations, reduce
organizational transaction costs, minimize gaps between jurisdictions in terms of technical
expertise, enhance comparability of climate-related risk assessments by organizations, and
help ensure comparability for investors; and
creating more industry specific (financial and non-financial) guidance for preparers and users
of climate-related scenarios.

4. Data Availability and Quality and Financial Impact
The Task Force developed supplemental guidance for the four non-financial groups that account
for the largest proportion of GHG emissions, energy usage, and water usage; and, as part of that
supplemental guidance, the Task Force included several illustrative metrics around factors that
may be indicative of potential financial implications for climate-related risks and opportunities. As
part of the second public consultation, several organizations provided feedback on the illustrative
metrics, and common themes included (1) improving the comparability and consistency of the
metrics, (2) clarifying the links among the metrics, climate-related risks and opportunities, and
potential financial implications, (3) simplifying the metrics, and (4) providing additional guidance
on the metrics, including how to calculate key metrics. Organizations also raised concerns about
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the lack of standardized data and metrics in the financial sector, which complicates preparers’
ability to develop decision-useful metrics and users’ ability to compare metrics across
organizations.
The Task Force recognizes these concerns as well as broader challenges related to data
availability and quality, as described below.
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The gaps in emissions measurement methodologies, including Scope 3 emissions and
product life-cycle emissions methodologies, make reliable and accurate estimates difficult. 55,56
The lack of robust and cost-effective tools to quantify the potential impact of climate-related
risks and opportunities at the asset and project level makes aggregation across an
organization’s activities or investment portfolios problematic and costly.
The need to consider the variability of climate-related impacts across and within different
sectors and markets further complicates the process (and magnifies the cost) of assessing
potential climate-related financial impacts.
The high degree of uncertainty around the timing and magnitude of climate-related risks
makes it difficult to determine and disclose the potential impacts with precision.

In finalizing its supplemental guidance, the Task Force addressed the redundancy of the metrics;
simplified the non-financial illustrative metrics tables; ensured consistent terminology was used;
and clarified the links between the metrics, climate-related risks and opportunities, and potential
financial implications. In addition, the Task Force encourages further research and analysis by
sector and industry experts to (1) better understand and measure how climate-related issues
translate into potential financial impacts; (2) develop standardized metrics for the financial sector,
including better defining carbon-related assets; and (3) increase organizations’ understanding of
climate-related risks and opportunities. As it relates to the broader challenges with data quality
and availability, the Task Force encourages preparers to include in their disclosures a description
of gaps, limitations, and assumptions made as part of their assessment of climate-related issues.

5. GHG Emissions Associated with Investments
In its supplemental guidance for asset owners and asset managers issued on December 14, 2016,
the Task Force asked such organizations to provide GHG emissions associated with each fund,
product, or investment strategy normalized for every million of the reporting currency invested.
As part of the Task Force’s public consultation as well as in discussions with preparers, some asset
owners and asset managers expressed concern about reporting on GHG emissions related to
their own or their clients’ investments given the current data challenges and existing accounting
guidance on how to measure and report GHG emissions associated with investments. In
particular, they voiced concerns about the accuracy and completeness of the reported data and
limited application of the metric to asset classes beyond public equities. Organizations also
highlighted that GHG emissions associated with investments cannot be used as a sole indicator
for investment decisions (i.e., additional metrics are needed) and that the metric can fluctuate
with share price movements since it uses investors’ proportional share of total equity.57
In consideration of the feedback received, the Task Force has replaced the GHG emissions
associated with investments metric in the supplemental guidance for asset owners and asset
managers with a weighted average carbon intensity metric. The Task Force believes the weighted

Scope 3 emissions are all indirect emissions that occur in the value chain of the reporting company, including both upstream and
downstream emissions. See Greenhouse Gas Protocol, “Calculation Tools, FAQ.”
56
Product life cycle emissions are all the emissions associated with the production and use of a specific product, including emissions from raw
materials, manufacture, transport, storage, sale, use, and disposal. See Greenhouse Gas Protocol, “Calculation Tools, FAQ.”
57
Because the metric uses investors’ proportional share of total equity, increases in the underlying companies’ share prices, all else equal, will
result in a decrease in the carbon footprinting number even though GHG emissions are unchanged.
55
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average carbon intensity metric, which measures exposure to carbon-intensive companies,
addresses many of the concerns raised. For example, the metric can be applied across asset
classes, is fairly simple to calculate, and does not use investors’ proportional share of total equity
and, therefore, is not sensitive to share price movements.
The Task Force acknowledges the challenges and limitations of current carbon footprinting
metrics, including that such metrics should not necessarily be interpreted as risk metrics.
Nevertheless, the Task Force views the reporting of weighted average carbon intensity as a first
step and expects disclosure of this information to prompt important advancements in the
development of decision-useful, climate-related risk metrics. In this regard, the Task Force
encourages asset owners and asset managers to provide other metrics they believe are useful for
decision making along with a description of the methodology used. The Task Force recognizes
that some asset owners and asset managers may be able to report the weighted average carbon
intensity and other metrics on only a portion of their investments given data availability and
methodological issues. Nonetheless, increasing the number of organizations reporting this type of
information should help speed the development of better climate-related risk metrics.
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In the supplemental guidance for the Energy Group, the Task Force asked such organizations to
consider disclosing whether and how performance metrics, including links to remuneration
policies, take into consideration climate-related risks and opportunities. As part of its second
public consultation, the Task Force asked whether the guidance should extend to organizations
beyond those in the Energy group and, if so, to which types of organizations. The majority of
organizations that commented on this issue responded that the guidance should be extended to
other organizations; and many suggested that the guidance should apply to organizations more
likely to be affected by climate-related risks. In consideration of the feedback received, the Task
Force revised its guidance to ask organizations, where climate-related risks are material, to
consider describing whether and how related performance metrics are incorporated into
remuneration policies.

7. Accounting Considerations
As part of its work, the Task Force considered the interconnectivity of its recommendations with
existing financial statement and disclosure requirements. The Task Force determined that the two
primary accounting standard setting bodies, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), have issued standards to address risks and
uncertainties affecting companies. Both International Accounting Standard (IAS) 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 450
“Contingencies” provide guidance on how to account for and disclose contingencies. Additionally,
IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and ASC 360 “Long-lived Asset Impairment” provide guidance on
assessing the impairment of long-lived assets. The disclosures of both contingencies and
management’s assessment and evaluation of long-lived assets for potential impairment are
critically important in assisting stakeholders in understanding an organization’s ability to meet
future reported earnings and cash flow goals.
In most G20 countries, financial executives will likely recognize that the Task Force’s disclosure
recommendations should result in more quantitative financial disclosures, particularly disclosure
of metrics, about the financial impact that climate-related risks have or could have on an
organization. Specifically, asset impairments may result from assets adversely impacted by the
effects of climate change and/or additional liabilities may need to be recorded to account for
regulatory fines and penalties resulting from enhanced regulatory standards. Additionally, cash
flows from operations, net income, and access to capital could all be impacted by the effects of
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climate-related risks (and opportunities). Therefore, financial executives (e.g., chief financial
officers, chief accounting officers, and controllers) should be involved in the organization’s
evaluation of climate-related risks and opportunities and the efforts undertaken to manage the
risks and maximize the opportunities. Finally, careful consideration should be given to the linkage
between scenario analyses performed to assess the resilience of an organization’s strategy to
climate-related risks and opportunities (as suggested in the Task Force’s recommendations) and
assumptions underlying cash flow analyses used to assess asset (e.g., goodwill, intangibles, and
fixed assets) impairments.

8. Time Frames for Short, Medium, and Long Term
As part of the Task Force’s second public consultation, some organizations asked the Task Force
to define specific ranges for short, medium, and long term. Because the timing of climate-related
impacts on organizations will vary, the Task Force believes specifying time frames across sectors
for short, medium, and long term could hinder organizations’ consideration of climate-related
risks and opportunities specific to their businesses. The Task Force is, therefore, not defining time
frames and encourages preparers to decide how to define their own time frames according to the
life of their assets, the profile of the climate-related risks they face, and the sectors and
geographies in which they operate.
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In assessing climate-related issues, organizations should be sensitive to the time frames used to
conduct their assessments. While many organizations conduct operational and financial planning
over a 1-2 year time frame and strategic and capital planning over a 2-5 year time frame, climaterelated risks may have implications for an organization over a longer period. It is, therefore,
important for organizations to consider the appropriate time frames when assessing climaterelated risks.
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9. Scope of Coverage
To promote more informed investing, lending, and insurance underwriting decisions, the Task
Force recommends all financial and non-financial organizations with public debt and/or equity
adopt its recommendations.58 Because climate-related risks and opportunities are relevant for
organizations across all sectors, the Task Force encourages all organizations to adopt these
recommendations. In addition, the Task Force believes that asset managers and asset owners,
including public- and private-sector pension plans, endowments, and foundations, should
implement its recommendations. The Task Force believes climate-related financial information
should be provided to asset managers’ clients and asset owners’ beneficiaries so that they may
better understand the performance of their assets, consider the risks of their investments, and
make more informed investment choices.
Consistent with existing global stewardship frameworks, asset owners should engage with the
organizations in which they invest to encourage adoption of these recommendations. They
should also ask their asset managers to adopt these recommendations. Asset owners’
expectations in relation to climate-related risk reporting from organizations and asset managers
are likely to evolve as data availability and quality improves, understanding of climate-related risk
increases, and risk measurement methodologies are further developed.
The Task Force recognizes that several asset owners expressed concern about being identified as
the potential “policing body” charged with ensuring adoption of the Task Force’s
recommendations by asset managers and underlying organizations. The Task Force appreciates
that expectations must be reasonable and that asset owners have many competing priorities, but

58

Thresholds for climate-related financial disclosures should be aligned to the financial disclosure requirements more broadly in the
jurisdictions where a preparer is incorporated and/or operates and is required to make financial disclosures.
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encourages them to help drive adoption of the recommendations. Because asset owners and
asset managers sit at the top of the investment chain, they have an important role to play in
influencing the organizations in which they invest to provide better climate-related financial
disclosures.

10. Organizational Ownership
Some organizations have not formalized responsibility for climate-related risk assessment and
management. Even for organizations with clearly assigned responsibilities for climate-related
issues, the relationship between those responsible for climate-related risk (e.g., “environmental,
social and governance” experts, chief investment officers) and those in the finance function can
range from regularly scheduled interactions and exchanges of information to minimal or no
interaction. According to some preparers, lack of clarity around responsibility for climate-related
risk assessments and management, compounded by a lack of integration into organizations’
financial reporting processes, could adversely affect implementation of the recommendations.
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The Task Force believes that by encouraging disclosure of climate-related financial information in
public financial filings, coordination between organizations’ climate-related risk experts and the
finance function will improve. Similar to the way organizations are evolving to include cyber
security issues in their strategic and financial planning efforts, so too should they evolve for
climate-related issues.
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F Conclusion
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F Conclusion
Figure 11

The Task Force’s recommendations are a
foundation for improved reporting of
climate-related issues in mainstream
financial filings with several resulting
benefits (outlined in Figure 11). The
recommendations aim to be ambitious,
but also practical for near-term adoption.
The Task Force expects that reporting of
climate-related risks and opportunities will
evolve over time as organizations,
investors, and others contribute to the
quality and consistency of the information
disclosed.

Benefits of Recommendations
 Foundation for immediate adoption and flexible
enough to accommodate evolving practices
 Promote board and senior management
engagement on climate-related issues
 Bring the “future” nature of issues into the
present through scenario analysis
 Support understanding of financial sector’s
exposure to climate-related risks
 Designed to solicit decision-useful, forwardlooking information on financial impacts
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The Task Force recognizes that challenges exist, but all types of organizations can develop
disclosures consistent with its recommendations. The recommendations provide a foundation for
immediate adoption and are flexible enough to accommodate evolving practices. As
understanding, data analytics, and modeling of climate-related issues become more widespread,
disclosures can mature accordingly.
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Organizations already reporting climate-related financial information under other frameworks
may be well positioned to disclose under this framework immediately and are encouraged to do
so. For such organizations, significant effort has gone into developing processes and collecting
information needed for disclosing under these regimes. The Task Force expects these
organizations will be able to use existing processes when providing disclosures in annual financial
filings based on the Task Force’s recommendations.59,60 Those with less experience can begin by
considering and disclosing how climate-related issues may be relevant in their current
governance, strategy, and risk management practices. This initial level of disclosure will allow
investors to review, recognize, and understand how organizations consider climate-related issues
and their potential financial impact.
Importantly, the Task Force recognizes organizations need to make financial disclosures in
accordance with their national disclosure requirements. To the extent certain elements of the
recommendations are incompatible with national disclosure requirements for financial filings, the
Task Force encourages organizations to disclose those elements through other reports. Such
other reports should be official company reports that are issued at least annually, widely
distributed and available to investors and others, and subject to internal governance processes
that are the same or substantially similar to those used for financial reporting.
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2. Widespread Adoption Critical
In the Task Force’s view, the success of its recommendations depends on near-term, widespread
adoption by organizations in the financial and non-financial sectors. Through widespread
adoption, financial risks and opportunities related to climate change will become a natural part of
59

The Task Force recognizes the structure and content of financial filings differs across jurisdictions and, therefore, believes organizations are
in the best position to determine where and how the recommended disclosures should be incorporated in financial filings.

60

The Task Force encourages organizations where climate-related issues could be material in the future to begin disclosing climate-related
financial information outside financial filings to facilitate the incorporation of such information into financial filings once climate-related
issues are determined to be material.
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organizations’ risk management and strategic planning processes. As this occurs, organizations’
and investors’ understanding of the potential financial implications associated with transitioning
to a lower-carbon economy and physical risks will grow, information will become more decisionuseful, and risks and opportunities will be more accurately priced, allowing for the more efficient
allocation of capital. Figure 12 outlines a possible path for implementation.
Widespread adoption of the recommendations will require ongoing leadership by the G20 and its
member countries. Such leadership is essential to continue to make the link between these
recommendations and the achievements of global climate objectives. Leadership from the FSB is
also critical to underscore the importance of better climate-related financial disclosures for the
functioning of the financial system.

Figure 12

Implementation Path (Illustrative)
Broad understanding of the concentration of
carbon-related assets in the financial system and
the financial system’s exposure to climate-related
risks
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Adoption Volume

C
Recommendations and
Guidance

Greater adoption, further development of
information provided (e.g., metrics and
scenario analysis), and greater maturity in
using information

Organizations begin to
disclose in financial filings

Final TCFD
Report Released

More complete, consistent, and
comparable information for market
participants, increased transparency,
and appropriate pricing of climaterelated risks and opportunities

Climate-related issues viewed as
mainstream business and investment
considerations by both users and
preparers

Companies already reporting under other frameworks implement the Task
Force’s recommendations. Others consider climate-related issues within
their businesses

Five Year Time Frame

The Task Force is not alone in its work. A variety of stakeholders, including stock exchanges,
investment consultants, credit rating agencies, and others can provide valuable contributions
toward adoption of the recommendations. The Task Force believes that advocacy for these
standards will be necessary for widespread adoption, including educating organizations that will
disclose climate-related financial information and those that will use those disclosures to make
financial decisions. To this end, the Task Force notes that strong support by the FSB and G20
authorities would have a positive impact on implementation. With the FSB’s extension of the Task
Force through September 2018, the Task Force will work to encourage adoption of the
recommendations and support the FSB and G20 authorities in promoting the advancement of
climate-related financial disclosures.
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Appendix 2: Task Force Objectives and Approach
1. Objectives
The Task Force engaged with key stakeholders throughout the development of its
recommendations to ensure that its work would (1) promote alignment across existing disclosure
regimes, (2) consider the perspectives of users and the concerns of preparers of climate-related
financial disclosures, and (3) be efficiently implemented by organizations in their financial
reporting.

2. Approach
In addition to the expertise of its members, a broad range of external resources informed the
Task Force’s recommendations, including existing voluntary and mandatory climate-related
reporting frameworks, governance and risk management standards, government reports and
research, expert resources, and various other stakeholders such as industry participants, trade
associations, and non-governmental organizations (NGOs).
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a. Leveraging Expertise
Task Force members come from a range of companies, including large financial companies, large
non-financial companies, accounting and consulting firms, and credit rating agencies, and
brought a range of practical experience, expertise, and global perspectives on preparing and
using climate-related financial disclosures. Through eight plenary meetings, Task Force members
contributed significantly to developing a consensus-based, industry-led approach to climaterelated financial disclosure.
Due to the technically challenging and broad focus of its work, the Task Force also sought input
from experts in the field of climate change, particularly in relation to scenario analysis. The Task
Force engaged Environmental Resources Management (ERM) to inform its work by developing a
technical paper on scenario analysis—The Use of Scenario Analysis in Disclosure of ClimateRelated Risks and Opportunities. Several members of the Task Force, joined by representatives
from 2° Investing Initiative (2°ii), Bloomberg New Energy Finance (BNEF), Bloomberg Quantitative
Risk Experts, Carbon Tracker, CDP, and the London School of Economics and Political Science led
a working group to oversee ERM’s technical considerations. A workshop was also held with
experts from Oxford Martin School. Additionally, the International Energy Agency (IEA) provided
input regarding how scenario analysis can be conducted and used.
b. Research and Information Gathering
The Task Force’s work drew on publications and research conducted by governments, NGOs,
industry participants, as well as disclosure regimes with a focus on climate-related issues. The
Task Force reviewed existing mandatory and voluntary reporting regimes for climate-related
disclosure to identify commonalities and gaps across existing regimes and to determine areas
meriting further research and analysis by the Task Force. The work of organizations regarded as
standard setters, as well as several organizations active in developing reporting mechanisms for
climate-related issues, served as the primary references for the Task Force in developing its
recommendations and supporting guidance. The Task Force also considered resources related to
sector-specific climate issues in the development of the supplemental guidance.
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c. Outreach and Engagement
Engagement with users, preparers, and other stakeholders in relevant industries and sectors
across G20 countries and other countries was important in developing the Task Force’s
recommendations. The Task Force conducted five types of engagement to support this effort:
public consultation, industry interviews, focus groups, outreach events, and webinars.
Such engagement served two primary purposes: (1) to raise the level of awareness and educate
stakeholders on the Task Force’s work and (2) to solicit feedback from stakeholders on the Task
Force’s proposed recommended disclosures and supplemental guidance for specific sectors. In
total, more than 2,700 individuals in 43 countries were included in the Task Force’s outreach and
engagement (Figure A2.1).
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Public Consultations
The Task Force conducted two public consultations. The first followed the April 1, 2016 publication
of the Task Force’s Phase I Report, which set out the scope and high-level objectives for the Task
Force’s work. The Task Force solicited input to guide the development of its recommendations for
voluntary climate-related financial disclosures. In total, 203 participants from 24 countries
responded to the first public consultation. Respondents represented the financial sector, nonfinancial sectors, NGOs, and other organizations. Public consultation comments indicated support
for disclosures on scenario analysis as well as disclosures tailored for specific sectors. Key themes
from the first public consultation, which informed the Task Force’s recommendations and
guidance, are included in Table A2.1 (p. 48).
Figure A2.1
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Table A2.1

Key Themes of First Public Consultation (Scope of Work)
Key Themes

Survey Response

Components
of Disclosures

The majority of respondents were in agreement that disclosures should:

‒ be forward-looking,
‒ address the ability to achieve targets, with strategies for achievement, and
‒ align with material risks.
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Sector-Specific
Disclosures

Respondents were in favor of
disclosures for specific sectors

62%

Scenario
Analysis

Respondents see scenario analysis
as a key component of disclosure

96%

62%
A second public consultation followed the release of the Task Force’s report in December 2016.
The Task Force conducted the second consultation through an online questionnaire designed to
96%
gather feedback on the recommendations, guidance, and key issues identified by the Task Force.
The Task Force received 306 responses to its online questionnaire and 59 comment letters on the
recommendations and guidance from a variety of organizations in 30 countries.61 The majority of
responses came from Europe (57 percent), followed by North America (20 percent), Asia Pacific
(19 percent), South America (four percent), and the Middle East/Africa (less than one percent).
Fourty-five percent of respondents provided perspective as users of disclosure, 44 percent as
preparers of disclosure, and 11 percent as “other.” Respondents came from the financial sector
(43 percent), non-financial sectors (18 percent), or other types of organizations (39 percent).62
Table A2.2

Responses to Second Public Consultation Questions
Questions

Respondent

How useful are the recommendations and
guidance for all sectors in preparing
disclosures?

Preparers

75%

How useful is the supplemental guidance in
preparing disclosures?

Preparers

66%

If organizations disclose the recommended
information, how useful would it be for
decision making?

Users

77%

How useful is a description of potential
performance across a range of scenarios to
understanding climate-related impacts on an
organization’s businesses, strategy, and
financial planning?

Financial

74%
74%

Non-Financial

17%

Other

86%
62%

How useful are the illustrative examples of
metrics and targets?

Financial

74%

Non-Financial

33%
33%

Other

72%

Financial

68%
62%

Other

74%

How useful would the disclosure of GHG
emissions associated with investments be
for economic decision-making?

Percent Responding “Useful”

61

Of the 59 respondents that submitted comment letters, 45 also completed the online questionnaire, resulting in a total of 320 unique
responses.
62
The other types of organizations included research and advocacy NGOs; standard setting NGOs; data analytics, consulting, and research
organizations; academia; and accounting associations.
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Overall, respondents were generally supportive of the Task Force’s recommendations as shown in
Table A2.2 (p. 48); however, several provided specific and constructive feedback on the report.
The key themes from this feedback are included in Table A2.3. For additional information
regarding the results of the second public consultation, please view the TCFD Public Consultation
Summary 2017 on the Task Force’s website.
Table A2.3

Key Themes of Second Public Consultation (Recommendations)
Key Themes
Materiality and Location of
Disclosures

Clarifying which recommended disclosures depend on materiality
assessment and providing flexibility for organizations to provide
some or all disclosures in reports other than financial filings.

Scenario Analysis

Improving ease of implementation, and comparability of scenario
analysis by specifying standard scenario(s) and providing additional
guidance and tools.

Metrics for the Financial Sector

Encouraging further development and standardization of metrics
for the financial sector.

Metrics for Non-Financial
Sectors

Improving comparability and consistency of the illustrative metrics
for non-financial sectors, clarifying the links to financial impact and
climate-related risks and opportunities.

Implementation

Providing disclosure examples to support preparers in developing
relevant climate-related financial disclosures.
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Industry Interviews and Focus Groups
Prior to the December 2016 release of the Task Force’s report for public consultation, the Task
Force conducted 128 industry interviews with users and preparers of financial statements to
gather feedback regarding the Task Force’s draft recommendations, supplemental guidance for
certain sectors, and other considerations. Industry interview participants included chief financial
officers, investment officers, other finance and accounting officers, risk officers, sustainability
officers, and others. Forty-three percent of the participants held finance, legal, or risk positions
and 39 percent held environmental or sustainability roles.
Task Force representatives conducted two rounds of industry interviews. The initial round of
interviews focused on the recommendations and guidance; the second round emphasized
specific recommendations and sector-specific guidance. Organizations invited to participate in the
interviews met two primary criteria: (1) represented industry and sector leaders likely to be
impacted by climate-related risks and opportunities and (2) provided geographic diversity to
ensure coverage from each G20 and Financial Stability Board (FSB) represented country.
The interviews provided valuable information that informed the Task Force’s recommendations
and guidance as reflected in the report issued for public consultation in December 2016. Industry
interview themes were consistent with those identified in the second public consultation.
Preparers raised concerns about the relationship of the Task Force’s recommendations to other
reporting initiatives and the accuracy and reliability of information requested. Users commented
that establishing consistency in metrics would be beneficial, acknowledged data quality
challenges, and provided thoughts on scenario analysis (e.g., would like preparers to use of a
range of scenarios, interested in knowing how scenario analysis is used in the organization).
Subsequent to the December 2016 release of the Task Force’s report for public consultation, the
Task Force conducted five focus groups with 32 individuals from six countries representing
organizations in specific sectors and industries to solicit feedback on scenario analysis and carbon
footprinting metrics. In the two focus groups for the financial sector, participants expressed
support for the Task Force’s work, noting current challenges related to quality and consistency in
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reported climate-related information. Asset owners and asset managers also provided feedback
on the benefits and limitations of different carbon footprinting metrics. In the three focus groups
for non-financial sectors, participants in oil and gas and utilities industries provided specific
feedback on their use of scenario analysis and challenges related to disclosing certain information
in financial filings.
Outreach Events
The Task Force sponsored 18 public outreach events in 13 countries, and Task Force members
presented the recommendations at 91 other events including conferences, forums, and meetings
sponsored by industry associations, NGOs, government agencies, corporations, and other
organizations. The 18 Task Force-sponsored events informed stakeholders of the Task Force’s
work and recommendations and included panel discussions and keynote speeches by prominent
climate-risk and financial experts. Attendees included representatives of financial and nonfinancial organizations who spanned a variety of corporate functions, including strategy, risk,
accounting, portfolio and investment management, corporate sustainability, as well as
representatives from industry associations, NGOs, government agencies, research providers,
academia, accounting and consulting firms, and media.
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Webinars
Prior to the release of the report in December 2016 for public consultation, the Task Force offered
seven webinars to educate and increase awareness of the Task Force’s efforts as well as to collect
additional feedback. Of the seven webinars, the Task Force hosted four webinars and participated
in three additional webinars by partnering with the following organizations: Business for Social
Responsibility, Global Financial Markets Association, and the National Association of Corporate
Directors. These webinars served to supplement the in-person outreach events and offered
global stakeholders, regardless of location, an opportunity to engage with the Task Force. The
webinars included 538 attendees representing 365 organizations across 23 countries. After the
release of the report, the Task Force held three webinars to present its recommendations and to
solicit additional feedback. The three webinars included 255 attendees representing 209
organizations across 25 countries. In total, the Task Force offered ten webinars, reaching 793
attendees across 30 countries.
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Appendix 3: Fundamental Principles for Effective Disclosure
To underpin its recommendations and help guide current and future developments in climaterelated financial reporting, the Task Force developed a set of principles for effective
disclosure.63 As understanding of, and approaches to, climate-related issues evolve over time,
so too will climate-related financial reporting. These principles can help achieve high-quality
and decision-useful disclosures that enable users to understand the impact of climate change
on organizations. The Task Force encourages organizations adopting its recommendations to
consider these principles as they develop climate-related financial disclosures.
The Task Force’s disclosure principles are largely consistent with other mainstream,
internationally accepted frameworks for financial reporting and are generally applicable to
most providers of financial disclosures. They are informed by the qualitative and quantitative
characteristics of financial information and further the overall goals of producing disclosures
that are consistent, comparable, reliable, clear, and efficient, as highlighted by the FSB in
establishing the Task Force. The principles, taken together, are designed to assist
organizations in making clear the linkages and connections between climate-related issues
and their governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets.
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The organization should provide information specific to the potential impact of climate-related
risks and opportunities on its markets, businesses, corporate or investment strategy, financial
statements, and future cash flows.
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63

Disclosures should be eliminated if they are immaterial or redundant to avoid obscuring
relevant information. However, when a particular risk or issue attracts investor and
market interest or attention, it may be helpful for the organization to include a
statement that the risk or issue is not significant. This shows that the risk or issue has
been considered and has not been overlooked.
Disclosures should be presented in sufficient detail to enable users to assess the
organization’s exposure and approach to addressing climate-related issues, while
understanding that the type of information, the way in which it is presented, and the
accompanying notes will differ between organizations and will be subject to change over
time.
Climate-related impacts can occur over the short, medium, and long term. Organizations
can experience chronic, gradual impacts (such as impacts due to shifting temperature
patterns), as well as acute, abrupt disruptive impacts (such as impacts from flooding,
drought, or sudden regulatory actions). An organization should provide information
from the perspective of the potential impact of climate-related issues on value creation,
taking into account and addressing the different time frames and types of impacts.
Organizations should avoid generic or boilerplate disclosures that do not add value to
users’ understanding of issues. Furthermore, any proposed metrics should adequately
describe or serve as a proxy for risk or performance and reflect how an organization
manages the risk and opportunities.

These principles are adapted from those included in the Enhanced Disclosure Task Force’s “Enhancing the Risk Disclosures of Banks.”
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Principle 2: Disclosures should be specific and complete
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To be sufficiently comprehensive, disclosures should contain historical and futureoriented information in order to allow users to evaluate their previous expectations
relative to actual performance and assess possible future financial implications.
For quantitative information, the disclosure should include an explanation of the
definition and scope applied. For future-oriented data, this includes clarification of the
key assumptions used. Forward-looking quantitative disclosure should align with data
used by the organization for investment decision making and risk management.
Any scenario analyses should be based on data or other information used by the
organization for investment decision making and risk management. Where appropriate,
the organization should also demonstrate the effect on selected risk metrics or
exposures to changes in the key underlying methodologies and assumptions, both in
qualitative and quantitative terms.

Principle 3: Disclosures should be clear, balanced, and understandable
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An organization’s reporting should provide a thorough overview of its exposure to
potential climate-related impacts; the potential nature and size of such impacts; the
organization’s governance, strategy, processes for managing climate-related risks, and
performance with respect to managing climate-related risks and opportunities.



Disclosures should be written with the objective of communicating financial information
that serves the needs of a range of financial sector users (e.g., investors, lenders,
insurers, and others). This requires reporting at a level beyond compliance with
minimum requirements. The disclosures should be sufficiently granular to inform
sophisticated users, but should also provide concise information for those who are less
specialized. Clear communication will allow users to identify key information efficiently.
Disclosures should show an appropriate balance between qualitative and quantitative
information and use text, numbers, and graphical presentations as appropriate.
Fair and balanced narrative explanations should provide insight into the meaning of
quantitative disclosures, including the changes or developments they portray over time.
Furthermore, balanced narrative explanations require that risks as well as opportunities
be portrayed in a manner that is free from bias.
Disclosures should provide straightforward explanations of issues. Terms used in the
disclosures should be explained or defined for a proper understanding by the users.

Principle 4: Disclosures should be consistent over time




Disclosures should be consistent over time to enable users to understand the
development and/or evolution of the impact of climate-related issues on the
organization’s business. Disclosures should be presented using consistent formats,
language, and metrics from period to period to allow for inter-period comparisons.
Presenting comparative information is preferred; however, in some situations it may be
preferable to include a new disclosure even if comparative information cannot be
prepared or restated.
Changes in disclosures and related approaches or formats (e.g., due to shifting climaterelated issues and evolution of risk practices, governance, measurement methodologies,
or accounting practices) can be expected due to the relative immaturity of climaterelated disclosures. Any such changes should be explained.
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Principle 5: Disclosures should be comparable among organizations within a sector,
industry, or portfolio






Disclosures should allow for meaningful comparisons of strategy, business activities,
risks, and performance across organizations and within sectors and jurisdictions.
The level of detail provided in disclosures should enable comparison and benchmarking
of risks across sectors and at the portfolio level, where appropriate.
The placement of reporting would ideally be consistent across organizations—i.e., in
financial filings—in order to facilitate easy access to the relevant information.

Principle 6: Disclosures should be reliable, verifiable, and objective
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Future-oriented disclosures will inherently involve the organization’s judgment (which
should be adequately explained). To the extent possible, disclosures should be based on
objective data and use best-in-class measurement methodologies, which would include
common industry practice as it evolves.
Disclosures should be defined, collected, recorded, and analyzed in such a way that the
information reported is verifiable to ensure it is high quality. For future-oriented
information, this means assumptions used can be traced back to their sources. This
does not imply a requirement for independent external assurance; however, disclosures
should be subject to internal governance processes that are the same or substantially
similar to those used for financial reporting.

Principle 7: Disclosures should be provided on a timely basis
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Disclosures should provide high-quality reliable information. They should be accurate
and neutral—i.e., free from bias.

Information should be delivered to users or updated in a timely manner using
appropriate media on, at least, an annual basis within the mainstream financial report.
Climate-related risks can result in disruptive events. In case of such events with a
material financial impact, the organization should provide a timely update of climaterelated disclosures as appropriate.

Reporters may encounter tension in the application of the fundamental principles set out above.
For example, an organization may update a methodology to meet the comparability principle,
which could then result in a conflict with the principle of consistency. Tension can also arise within
a single principle. For example, Principle 6 states that disclosures should be verifiable, but
assumptions made about future-oriented disclosures often require significant judgment by
management that is difficult to verify. Such tensions are inevitable given the wide-ranging and
sometimes competing needs of users and preparers of disclosures. Organizations should aim to
find an appropriate balance of disclosures that reasonably satisfy the recommendations and
principles while avoiding overwhelming users with unnecessary information.
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Appendix 4: Select Disclosure Frameworks
To the extent there is corporate reporting of climate-related issues, it happens through a
multitude of mandatory and voluntary schemes. Although a complete and comprehensive survey
of existing schemes is beyond the scope of this report, the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD or Task Force) considered a broad range of existing frameworks, both voluntary
and mandatory. The tables in Appendix 4 outline select disclosure frameworks considered by the
Task Force and describe a few key characteristics of each framework, including whether
disclosures are mandatory or voluntary, what type of information is reported, who the target
reporters and target audiences are, where the disclosed information is placed, and whether there
are specified materiality standards.64 These disclosure frameworks were chosen to illustrate the
broad range of disclosure regimes around the world; the tables are broken out into disclosure
frameworks sponsored by governments, stock exchanges, and non-governmental organizations
(NGOs).
The information presented in the tables below (A4.1, A4.2, and A4.3) is based on information
released by governments, stock exchanges, and standard setters and is supplemented by the
United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), “The Financial System We Need: Aligning the
Financial System with Sustainable Development,” October 2015, and the Organization for
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), “Report to G20 Finance Ministers and Central
Bank Governors,” September 2015.
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These tables were originally included in the Task Force’s Phase I Report and have been updated where appropriate.
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Table A4.1

Select Disclosure Frameworks: Governments
Region:
Framework

Target
Reporter

Australia:

Financial and
General public
non-financial
firms that meet
emissions or
energy
production or
consumption
thresholds

National Greenhouse
and Energy Reporting
Act (2007)

European Union (EU):

Target
Audience

Mandatory
Materiality
or Voluntary Standard

Types of ClimateRelated Information

Disclosure
Location

External Assurance
Required

Mandatory if
thresholds are
met

Based on emissions
above a certain
threshold

GHG emissions,
energy consumption,
and energy production

Report to
government

Regulator may, by written
notice to corporation,
require an audit of its
disclosures

Mandatory;
applicable for
the financial
year starting
on Jan. 1, 2017
or during the
2017 calendar
year

None specified

Land use, water use, GHG Corporate financial
emissions, use of
report or separate
materials, and energy use report (published
with financial report
or on website six
months after the
balance sheet date
and referenced in
financial report)

Member States must require
that statutory auditor checks
whether the non-financial
statement has been
provided

Financial and
non-financial
EU Directive 2014/95
firms that meet
regarding disclosure of
size criteria
non-financial and
(i.e., have more
diversity information
than 500
(2014)
employees)

Investors,
consumers,
and other
stakeholders

France:

Investors,
general public

Mandatory

None specified

Risks related to climate
Annual report and
change, consequences of website
climate change on the
company's activities and
use of goods and services
it produces. Institutional
investors: GHG emissions
and contribution to goal
of limiting global warming

Mandatory review on the
consistency of the disclosure
by an independent third
party, such as a statutory
auditor

Investors,
general public

Voluntary

None specified

Significant risk, goals and
targets for improving
performance, materials,
energy consumption,
water, discharge of
effluents, GHG emissions,
and biodiversity

Guidelines include thirdparty assurance as a
"leadership indicator" of
company's progress in
implementing the principles

Article 173, Energy
Transition Law (2015)

Listed financial
and nonfinancial firms
Additional
requirements
for institutional
investors

India:
National Voluntary
Guidelines on Social,
Environmental, and
Economic
Responsibilities of
Business (2011)

Financial and
non-financial
firms
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Table A4.1

Select Disclosure Frameworks: Governments (continued)
Region:
Framework

Target
Reporter

Target
Audience

Mandatory
Materiality
or Voluntary Standard

Types of ClimateRelated Information

United Kingdom:

Financial and
non-financial
firms that are
"Quoted
Companies," as
defined by the
Companies Act
2006

Investors /
shareholders
(“members of
the company”)

Mandatory

The main trends and
Strategic Report and
factors likely to affect the Directors’ Report
future development,
performance, and
position of the company’s
business, environmental
matters (including the
impact of the company’s
business on the
environment), and GHG
emissions

Companies Act 2006
(Strategic Report and
Directors’ Report)
Regulations 2013

United States:

Insurers
Regulators
meeting certain
NAICs, 2010 Insurer
premium
Climate Risk Disclosure
thresholds Survey
$100M in 2015
United States:
Financial and
Investors
non-financial
SEC Guidance
firms subject to
Regarding Disclosure
Securities and
Related to Climate
Exchange
Change
Commission
(SEC) reporting
requirements

Mandatory if
thresholds are
met

Mandatory

Information is material
if its omission or
misrepresentation
could influence the
economic decisions
shareholders take on
the basis of the annual
report as a whole
(section 5 of the UK
FRC June 2014
Guidance on the
Strategic Report)
None specified

US securities law
definition
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General disclosures
about climate changerelated risk management
and investment
management
Climate-related material
risks and factors that can
affect or have affected
the company’s financial
condition, such as
regulations, treaties and
agreements, business
trends, and physical
impacts

Disclosure
Location

Survey sent to state
regulators

Annual and other
reports required to
be filed with SEC

External Assurance
Required
Not required, but statutory
auditor must state in report
on the company’s annual
accounts whether
in the auditor’s opinion the
information given in the
Strategic Report and the
Directors’ Report for the
financial year for which the
accounts are prepared is
consistent with those
accounts
Not specified

Depends on assurance
requirements for
information disclosed
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Table A4.2

Select Disclosure Frameworks: Exchange Listing Requirements and Indices
Region:
Framework

Target
Reporter

Target
Audience

Mandatory
Materiality
or Voluntary Standard

Australia:

Listed
financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Mandatory
(comply or
explain)

A real possibility that the General disclosure of
risk in question could
material environmental
substantively impact the risks
listed entity’s ability to
create or preserve value
for security holders over
the short, medium or
long term

Annual report must
Not specified, may depend
include either the
on assurance requirements
corporate governance
for annual report
statement or company
website link to the
corporate governance
statement on company's
website

Listed
financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors,
regulator

Voluntary
(comply or
explain)

Criteria explained in
Reference Form (Annex
24) of the Instruction
CVM nº 480/09

Discretion of company

Not specified

Listed
financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Voluntary:
social
responsibilities
Mandatory:
pollutant
discharge

None specified

Social and environmental
information including
methodology used, if
audited/reviewed by an
independent entity, and
link to information (i.e.,
webpage)
Waste generation,
resource consumption,
and pollutants

Not specified

Listed
financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Mandatory
(comply or
explain)

Guidance provided in
the Guide, paragraphs
4.7-4.11

Material environmental,
social, and governance
factors, performance,
targets, and related
information specified in
the Guide

Annual report or
standalone report,
disclosed through
SGXNet reporting
platform and company
website

Not specified; companies
shall allocate dedicated
human resources for regular
inspection of
implementation of
environmental protection
policies
Not required

Australia Securities
Exchange
Listing Requirement
4.10.3; Corporate
Governance Principles
and Recommendations
(2014)

Brazil:
Stock Exchange
(BM&FBovespa)
Recommendation of
report or explain
(2012)
China:
Shenzhen Stock
Exchange
Social Responsibility
Instructions to Listed
Companies (2006)
Singapore:
Singapore Exchange
Listing Rules 711A &
711B and Sustainability
Reporting Guide (2016)
(“Guide”)
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Table A4.2

Select Disclosure Frameworks: Exchange Listing Requirements and Indices (continued)
Region:
Framework

Target
Reporter

Target
Audience

Mandatory
Materiality
or Voluntary Standard

Types of ClimateRelated Information

Disclosure Location

External Assurance
Required

South Africa:

Listed
financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Mandatory;
(comply or
explain)

None specified

General disclosure
regarding sustainability
performance

Annual report

Required

Financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Voluntary

None specified

GHG emissions, SOx
emissions, energy
consumption, water,
waste generation,
environmental violations,
electricity purchased,
biodiversity, and mineral
waste management

Nonpublic

Disclose whether external
assurance was provided and
whether it was pursuant to a
recognized standard

Johannesburg Stock
Exchange
Listing Requirement
Paragraph 8.63;
King Code of
Governance Principles
(2009)
World, regional, and
country-specific
indices:
S&P Dow Jones Indices
Sustainability Index,
Sample Questionnaires
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Table A4.3

Select Disclosure Frameworks: Non-Governmental Organizations
Framework

Target
Reporter

Target
Audience

Mandatory
Materiality
or Voluntary Standard

Global:

Pension funds,
insurers,
sovereign
wealth funds
>$2bn AUM

Asset
managers,
investment
industry,
government

Voluntary

Financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Voluntary

Financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Voluntary

Asset Owners
Disclosure Project
2017 Global Climate
Risk Survey

Global:
CDP
Annual Questionnaire
(2016)
Global:
CDSB
CDSB Framework for
Reporting
Environmental
Information & Natural
Capital

None specified

Types of ClimateRelated Information

Information on whether
climate change issues are
integrated in investment
policies, engagement
efforts, portfolio
emissions intensity for
scope 1 emissions,
climate change-related
portfolio risk mitigation
actions
None specified
Information on risk
management procedures
related to climate change
risks and opportunities,
energy use, and GHG
emissions (Scope 1-3)
Environmental
Environmental policies,
information is material if strategy, and targets,
(1) the environmental
including the indicators,
impacts or results it
plans, and timelines used
describes are, due to
to assess performance;
their size and nature,
material environmental
expected to have
risks and opportunities
a significant positive or
affecting the organization;
negative effect on the
governance of
organization’s current,
environmental policies,
past or future financial
strategy, and information;
condition and
and quantitative and
operational results and
qualitative results on
its ability to execute its
material sources of
strategy or (2) omitting, environmental impact
misstating, or misinterpreting it could
influence decisions that
users of mainstream
reports make about the
organization
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External Assurance
Required

Survey responses;
respondents are asked
whether responses may
be made public

Disclose whether external
assurance was provided

CDP database

Encouraged; information
requested about verification
and third party certification

Annual reporting
packages in which
organizations are
required to deliver their
audited financial results
under the corporate,
compliance or securities
laws of the country in
which they operate

Not required, but disclose if
assurance has been
provided over whether
reported environmental
information is in
conformance with the CDSB
Framework
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Table A4.3

Select Disclosure Frameworks: Non-Governmental Organizations (continued)
Framework

Target
Reporter

Target
Audience

Mandatory
Materiality
or Voluntary Standard

Types of ClimateRelated Information

Disclosure Location

External Assurance
Required

Global:

Financial and
non-financial
firms

Investors

Voluntary

Allow “investors to see
major trends and
significant events
related to climate
change that affect or
have the potential to
affect the company’s
financial condition
and/or its ability to
achieve its strategy"

The extent to which
performance is affected
by climate-related risks
and opportunities;
governance processes for
addressing those effects;
exposure to significant
climate-related issues;
strategy or plan to
address the issues; and
GHG emissions

Annual reporting
packages in which
organizations are
required to deliver their
audited financial results
under the corporate,
compliance or securities
laws of the territory or
territories in which they
operate

Not required unless
International Standards on
Auditing 720 requires the
auditor of financial
statements to read
information accompanying
them to identify material
inconsistencies between the
audited financial statements
and accompanying
information

Real estate
asset/portfolio
owners

Investors and
industry
stakeholders

Voluntary

None specified

Real estate sector-specific
requirements related to
fuel, energy, and water
consumption and
efficiencies as well as lowcarbon products

Data collected through
Not required, but disclose
the GRESB Real Estate
whether external assurance
Assessment disclosed to was provided
participants themselves
and:

CDSB
Climate Change
Reporting Framework,
Ed. 1.1 (2012)

Global:
GRESB
Infrastructure Asset
Assessment & Real
Estate Assessment

• for non-listed property
funds and companies, to
those of that company
or fund’s investors that
are GRESB Investor
Members;
• for listed real estate
companies, to all GRESB
Investor Members that
invest in listed real
estate securities.

Global:
GRI
Sustainability
Reporting Standards
(2016)

Organizations
of any size,
type, sector, or
geographic
location

All
stakeholders

Voluntary

Topics that reflect the
reporting organization’s
significant economic,
environmental, and
social impacts or
substantively influence
the decisions of
stakeholders
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Materials, energy, water,
biodiversity, emissions,
effluents and waste,
environmental
compliance, and supplier
environmental
assessment

Stand-alone
Not required, but advised
sustainability reports or
annual reports or other
published materials that
include sustainability
information
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Table A4.3

Select Disclosure Frameworks: Non-Governmental Organizations (continued)
Framework

Target
Reporter

Target
Audience

Mandatory
Materiality
or Voluntary Standard

Types of ClimateRelated Information

Disclosure Location

External Assurance
Required

Global:

Oil and gas
industries

Investors

Voluntary

None specified

GHG emissions and clean
technologies data

Not specified

Not specified

Automotive
industry

Investors

Voluntary

None specified

GHG emissions and clean
technologies data

Company’s discretion

Not specified

Electrical
utilities

Investors

Voluntary

None specified

GHG emissions and
electricity production

Company’s discretion

Disclose how GHG emissions
information was verified

Public
companies
traded on
international
exchanges

Investors

Voluntary

Substantively affect the
company’s ability to
create value over the
short, medium, and long
term

General challenges
Standalone
related to climate change, sustainability or
loss of ecosystems, and
integrated report
resource shortages

Oil and gas
industries

All
stakeholders

Voluntary

Material sustainability
Energy consumption
issues are those that, in
the view of company
management and its
external stakeholders,
affect the company’s
performance or strategy
and/or assessments or
decisions about the
company

Sustainability reporting

Not required, but
encouraged

Investors

Investors

Voluntary

None specified

Investor practices

Transparency report

Not specified

Investors

Voluntary

A substantial likelihood
that the disclosure of
the omitted fact would
have been viewed by the
reasonable investor as
having significantly
altered the “total mix” of
the information made
available

Information on
sustainability topics that
are deemed material,
standardized metrics
tailored by industry

SEC filings

Depends on assurance
requirements for
information disclosed

IIGCC
Oil & Gas (2010)
Automotive (2009)
Electric Utilities (2008)
Global:
IIRC
International
Integrated Reporting
Framework (2013)
Global:
IPIECA
Oil and gas industry
guidance on voluntary
sustainability reporting

Global:

Not specified; discussion
paper released on issues
relating to assurance

PRI
Reporting Framework
(2016)
United States:

Public
companies
traded on US
Conceptual Framework exchanges
(2013) and SASB
Standards (Various)
SASB
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Appendix 5: Glossary and Abbreviations
Glossary
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (or BOARD) refers to a body of elected or appointed members who
jointly oversee the activities of a company or organization. Some countries use a two-tiered
system where “board” refers to the “supervisory board” while “key executives” refers to the
“management board.”65
CLIMATE-RELATED OPPORTUNITY refers to the potential positive impacts related to climate
change on an organization. Efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change can produce
opportunities for organizations, such as through resource efficiency and cost savings, the
adoption and utilization of low-emission energy sources, the development of new products and
services, and building resilience along the supply chain. Climate-related opportunities will vary
depending on the region, market, and industry in which an organization operates.
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CLIMATE-RELATED RISK refers to the potential negative impacts of climate change on an
organization. Physical risks emanating from climate change can be event-driven (acute) such as
increased severity of extreme weather events (e.g., cyclones, droughts, floods, and fires). They can
also relate to longer-term shifts (chronic) in precipitation and temperature and increased
variability in weather patterns (e.g., sea level rise). Climate-related risks can also be associated
with the transition to a lower-carbon global economy, the most common of which relate to policy
and legal actions, technology changes, market responses, and reputational considerations.
FINANCIAL FILINGS refer to the annual reporting packages in which organizations are required
to deliver their audited financial results under the corporate, compliance, or securities laws of the
jurisdictions in which they operate. While reporting requirements differ internationally, financial
filings generally contain financial statements and other information such as governance
statements and management commentary.66
FINANCIAL PLANNING refers to an organization’s consideration of how it will achieve and fund
its objectives and strategic goals. The process of financial planning allows organizations to assess
future financial positions and determine how resources can be utilized in pursuit of short- and
long-term objectives. As part of financial planning, organizations often create “financial plans” that
outline the specific actions, assets, and resources (including capital) necessary to achieve these
objectives over a 1-5 year period. However, financial planning is broader than the development of
a financial plan as it includes long-term capital allocation and other considerations that may
extend beyond the typical 3-5 year financial plan (e.g., investment, research and development,
manufacturing, and markets).
GOVERNANCE refers to “the system by which an organization is directed and controlled in the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders.”67 “Governance involves a set of relationships
between an organization’s management, its board, its shareholders, and other stakeholders.
Governance provides the structure and processes through which the objectives of the
organization are set, progress against performance is monitored, and results are evaluated.”68

OECD, G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD Publishing, Paris, 2015.
Based on Climate Disclosure Standards Board, “CDSB Framework for Reporting Environmental Information and Natural Capital,” June 2015.
67
A. Cadbury, Report of the Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance, London, 1992.
68
OECD, G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD Publishing, Paris, 2015.
65
66
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GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) EMISSIONS SCOPE LEVELS69





Scope 1 refers to all direct GHG emissions.
Scope 2 refers to indirect GHG emissions from consumption of purchased electricity, heat, or
steam.
Scope 3 refers to other indirect emissions not covered in Scope 2 that occur in the value
chain of the reporting company, including both upstream and downstream emissions. Scope
3 emissions could include: the extraction and production of purchased materials and fuels,
transport-related activities in vehicles not owned or controlled by the reporting entity,
electricity-related activities (e.g., transmission and distribution losses), outsourced activities,
and waste disposal. 70

INTERNAL CARBON PRICE is an internally developed estimated cost of carbon emissions.
Internal carbon pricing can be used as a planning tool to help identify revenue opportunities and
risks, as an incentive to drive energy efficiencies to reduce costs, and to guide capital investment
decisions.
MANAGEMENT refers to those positions an organization views as executive or senior
management positions and that are generally separate from the board.
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NATIONALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION (NDC) refers to the post-2020 actions that a
country intends to take under the international climate agreement adopted in Paris.
ORGANIZATION refers to the group, company, or companies, and other entities for which
consolidated financial statements are prepared, including subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities.
PUBLICLY AVAILABLE 2°C SCENARIO refers to a 2°C scenario that is (1) used/referenced and
issued by an independent body; (2) wherever possible, supported by publicly available datasets;
(3) updated on a regular basis; and (4) linked to functional tools (e.g., visualizers, calculators, and
mapping tools) that can be applied by organizations. 2°C scenarios that presently meet these
criteria include: IEA 2DS, IEA 450, Deep Decarbonization Pathways Project, and International
Renewable Energy Agency.
RISK MANAGEMENT refers to a set of processes that are carried out by an organization’s board
and management to support the achievement of the organization’s objectives by addressing its
risks and managing the combined potential impact of those risks.
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SCENARIO ANALYSIS is a process for identifying and assessing a potential range of outcomes of
future events under conditions of uncertainty. In the case of climate change, for example,
scenarios allow an organization to explore and develop an understanding of how the physical and
transition risks of climate change may impact its businesses, strategies, and financial
performance over time.
SECTOR refers to a segment of organizations performing similar business activities in an
economy. A sector generally refers to a large segment of the economy or grouping of business
types, while “industry” is used to describe more specific groupings of organizations within a
sector.
STRATEGY refers to an organization’s desired future state. An organization’s strategy establishes
a foundation against which it can monitor and measure its progress in reaching that desired
state. Strategy formulation generally involves establishing the purpose and scope of the
World Resources Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable Development, The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard (Revised Edition), March 2004.
70
IPCC, Climate Change 2014 Mitigation of Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, 2014.
69
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organization’s activities and the nature of its businesses, taking into account the risks and
opportunities it faces and the environment in which it operates.
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT is an organizational report that gives information about economic,
environmental, social, and governance performance and impacts. For companies and
organizations, sustainability —the ability to be long-lasting or permanent—is based on
performance and impacts in these four key areas.
VALUE CHAIN refers to the upstream and downstream life cycle of a product, process, or service,
including material sourcing, production, consumption, and disposal/recycling. Upstream activities
include operations that relate to the initial stages of producing a good or service (e.g., material
sourcing, material processing, supplier activities). Downstream activities include operations that
relate to processing the materials into a finished product and delivering it to the end user (e.g.,
transportation, distribution, and consumption).
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2°C —2° Celsius

IEA—International Energy Agency

ASC—Accounting Standards Codification

IIGCC—Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change

BNEF—Bloomberg New Energy Finance

IIRC—International Integrated Reporting Council

CDSB—Climate Disclosure Standards Board

IPCC—Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

ERM—Environmental Resources Management

NGO—Non-governmental organization

EU—European Union

OECD—Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development

FASB—Financial Accounting Standards Board

R&D—Research and development

FSB—Financial Stability Board

SASB—Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

G20—Group of 20

TCFD—Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

GHG—Greenhouse gas

UN—United Nations

GICS—Global Industry Classification Standard

UNEP—United Nations Environment Programme

GRI—Global Reporting Initiative

USDE—U.S. Dollar Equivalent

IAS—International Accounting Standard

WRI—World Resources Institute

IASB—International Accounting Standards Board
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